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No undertakings were filed during this hearing

Monday, June 25, 2007


--- Upon commencing at 9:32 a.m.


MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.


Good morning, everyone.  The Board is sitting this morning in the application of EB-2007-0051, pursuant to section 98 of the Ontario Energy Board Act, submitted by Hydro One Networks.


The application is for an interim order granting access to land in connection with the applicant's request for a leave-to-construct a new transmission line between the Bruce Power facility and the Milton Switching Station.


The Board sits today to consider motions filed by Borden Ladner Gervais on behalf of Powerline Connections and Fallis, Fallis and McMillan, on behalf of a number of landowners.  These parties each filed a notice of motion on June 11th 2007. 


My name is Pamela Nowina.  I will be the Presiding Member in this hearing.  Joining me on the panel are Board Members Ms. Cynthia Chaplin and Mr. Bill Rupert.  For those of you who haven't been before us before, just to give you a couple of administrative matters, we normally take a morning break at 10:45 or 11 o’clock, we'll break for a late lunch for an hour or an hour and 15 minutes.


May I have appearances, please.


APPEARANCES:


MR. MILLAR:  Good morning, Madam Chair.  Michael Millar, counsel for Board Staff.  With me are Ms. Zora Crnojacki and Mr. David Richmond.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.


MR. FALLIS:  My name is Peter Fallis, I appear for the [inaudible] landowners.


MS. NOWINA:  Sorry, Mr. Fallis, that's okay.  I’ll give the instructions. Sorry, I should have done this first.  Of course, you don't need -- you may sit during your presentations.  Secondly, we need you to turn on your mike when you are speaking.  There should be a button in front of you, and you'll see a little green light comes on.  When the light is on, your mike is on.  You found it?  I would advise that you turn it off when you're not speaking because otherwise all the voices will picked up during the hearing.


So maybe you could go ahead again.


MR. FALLIS:  Peter D. -- try again how's that?


MS. NOWINA:  That's it.  Thank you.


MR. FALLIS:  It was on.  Bruce, Grey and Wellington Counties.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Fallis.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Good morning, Madam Chair, members of the panel.  Murray Klippenstein for Pollution Probe.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Klippenstein, are you only presenting a motion for the section 92?


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Yes.  In case we’re reached today, I wanted to be here, but also, I may have short submissions on the landowners' motions.


MS. NOWINA:  You will have -- you may have short submissions on the section 98?


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Yeah, in support.


MS. NOWINA:  You're not an intervenor in the section 98, Mr. Klippenstein.  We're trying to keep the procedural matters straight. Would you like to become an intervenor in the section 98 now?


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Yes, for very short submissions, Madam Chair.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Are there any comments regarding --


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Consider this my application.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Klippenstein becoming an intervenor for the section 98?  There are a number of parties this morning that I think we might have that situation with and we'll make you an intervenor in the section 98, then.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Thank you, Madam Chair, I apologize.  I can file all sorts of paper in support, if you would like.


MR. KAISER:  That's all right, Mr. Klippenstein.  It's been an unusual case.


MR. SPERDUTI:  Good morning, Madam Chair.  I'm Frank Sperduti.  I'm here on behalf of Stephen Waque from Borden Ladner Gervais.


MR. LADHA:  On behalf of the Powerline Group.


MR. KAISER:  Can you spell your last name for us?


MR. SPERDUTI:  Yes, it's S like Sam, P like Peter E, R-D-U-T-I.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Sperduti.


MR. SPERDUTI:  I do have, Madam Chair, when we get to it, an updated list of Powerline members for the Board's next order.  There’s been some movement in terms of the previously named intervenors who are now with the Powerline Group, and there were a number of members of the Powerline Group who were not named in the last Procedural Order.  So I just wanted to bring that to your attention.  I have a list here, if it suits you I can hand it up.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Shall we file that as an exhibit, Mr. Millar?


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, thank you, Madam Chair.  I'll grab the copies from Mr. Sperduti.  It will be Exhibit KM, for Motions Day, 1.1.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.


MR. MILLAR:  Do you need a copy of that, Madam Chair, right now, or should we...


MS. NOWINA:  No, I don't think so.


MR. SPERDUTI:  Thank you.


EXHIBIT NO. KM1.1:  UPDATED LIST OF POWERLINE MEMBERS


MS. NOWINA:  Other appearances?  


MR. COWAN:  Ted Cowan for the Ontario Federation of Agriculture.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Cowan.  Is the Ontario Federation of Agriculture an intervenor in this case?


MR. COWAN:  I understood that we were.


MS. NOWINA:  Is your mike on, Mr. Cowan?


MR. COWAN:  I believe it is now.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.


Mr. Millar, is the Ontario Federation of Agriculture an intervenor in this case?


MR. MILLAR:  I certainly believe they are on section 92, Madam Chair, and yes, I think they're also on the list for the section 98, Madam Chair.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.


MR. ZACHER:  Madam Chair, Glenn Zacher appearing on behalf of the Ontario Power Authority, and with me are Mike Lyle and Bob Chow.


MS. NOWINA:  Well, Mr. Zacher, again the OPA is not an intervenor in the section 98.  Would you like to become an intervenor in the section 98?


MR. ZACHER:  Madam Chair, we filed a brief motion and what we indicate in our materials is that we have observer status.  Our preference is simply to be granted leave of the Board to make submissions on a couple of discrete grounds set out in the Powerline Connections motion which directly impact the OPA.  Alternatively, we don't feel strongly if the Board believes it’s necessary for us to become an intervenor to make submissions; that is acceptable.


MS. NOWINA:  We'd like to do that, Mr. Zacher, just to keep you consistent with everyone else.  So we will make you an intervenor as well.  That's the OPA.


MR. NETTLETON:  Good morning, Madam Chair.  Gordon Nettleton appearing on behalf of Hydro One Networks.


MS. NOWINA:  Good morning, Mr. Nettleton.


MR. NETTLETON:  Good morning.  I believe we are parties to both the proceedings.


MS. NOWINA:  No problem, Mr. Nettleton.  You’re a party, you can't avoid that.


MR. MORAN:  Good morning, Madam Chair, Pat Moran for the Association of Power Producers of Ontario or APPrO.


MS. NOWINA:  All right, Mr. Moran, again, I don't believe you are an intervenor in the section 98. Are you going to be making submissions on the section 98?


MR. MORAN:  I am indeed; our submissions are aimed at both motions.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  You would like to become an intervenor in the section 98?


MR. MORAN:  Yes please, Madam Chair.


MS. NOWINA:  All right. So granted.


MR. RATTRAY:  Good morning, Madam Chair.  John Rattray with the --


MS. NOWINA:  Is your mike on, Mr. Rattray?


MR. RATTRAY:  It was. There. 


MS. NOWINA:  There you go.


MR. RATTRAY:  John Rattray with the IESO and with me is Mr. Carl Burrell.  We have intervened on the section 92, and with respect to the section 98, we submitted a letter of public comment.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Are you going to be making submissions on the section 98, Mr. Rattray?


MR. RATTRAY:  No.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Thank you, then we'll hear from you when we get to section 92. Mr. Stephenson?


MR. STEPHENSON:  Good morning, Richard Stephenson on [inaudible].


MS. NOWINA:  I'm sorry, Mr. Stephenson, I didn't hear you, and I think the court reporter didn't either. Court reporter, ready?


MR. STEPHENSON:  Try that again.


MS. NOWINA: Mr. Stephenson?


MR. STEPHENSON:  My name is Richard Stephenson.  I'm counsel for the Power Workers’ Union, with me today is my consultant --


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Stevenson, again I don't believe you are an intervenor in the section 98.  Do you wish to make a submission to the 98 or are you going hold your submissions until the 92, where you are an intervenor?


MR. STEPHENSON:  I believe we are an intervenor in both matters.  If we’re not, we intended to be.


MS. NOWINA:  You asked me. You will be now.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.


MR. MACINTOSH: Madam Chair, David MacIntosh for Energy Probe Research Foundation, and I'd like to put an appearance in for Tom Adams as well.  We're an intervenor in section 92, and we were of the opinion that in for one, in for both, but if that isn't so, would you please put us into this one as well?


MS. NOWINA:  Yes, Mr. MacIntosh.  You're there.


Have we missed anyone?  All right.  Thank you very much.


Are there any preliminary matters before we get to submissions?


MR. FALLIS:  Madam Chair, the --


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Fallis.


MR. FALLIS:  On Thursday of last week your Board circulated a notice which is extremely abrupt in terms of time to bring the leave-to-construct application number 50 from Tuesday back to today.  Which I thought in -- since it was brought back today, that we would have indicated that that was also on today as well, and I understood from what it was that they were going to be combined because of the issues.  Can you state for the benefit of everybody here that they are going to be combined?  That's my understanding and counsel for your Board indicated on Friday in a conversation that I had with him that that was going to happen.


MS. NOWINA:  Not quite, Mr. Fallis.  But I'm glad you raise the question because I can clarify parties.


The way we intend to proceed is we will hear the submissions on the section 98.  We are trying to keep these two applications separate, they are separate.  We'll hear the submissions on the section 98 and hopefully will conclude that this morning or some time during the day.  We will then move to the section 92, which is the leave-to-construct.


For those of you who your submissions are representative, in the section 92, you may simply say I adopt my submissions from the section 98.  They will be on the record and we can use them so you won't have to repeat yourself.


But we will have -- there are, I believe, some matters that are different for the section 92.  So we will have a short proceeding on the section 92, hopefully today.  We thought that we would probably be able to complete them both today, and that's the way we are going to handled it.


There is one motion on section 92 that is not for section 98.


MR. FALLIS:  Well, there are two issues that I wish to address at the outset.  One will be that, and I'll make that my second.


The first is on -- approximately a week ago we received a document entitled:  "Board responses" to the motions that had been filed by my firm on behalf of the clients I represent, Pollution Probe, Powerline; and I wanted to know at the outset, are there any, are there any of the Board Members that haven't received and haven't read the Board responses to the motions?


MS. NOWINA:  We have received them and we have read them, Mr. Fallis.


MR. FALLIS:  Okay.  My concern is this, and it's not that I -- I have not appeared before the Board before, but I have, you know, a gut feeling that the Board is -- if it has read them, the motions were written adverse to -- or the responses were written adverse to the motions and that the Board has put itself in a position where its own staff are recommending against the motions.


You know, it's not a question of apprehension of bias; it's a question of the Board -- it's predisposed to dispense with the motions before we've had a chance to argue them.  And it's just an observation I wish to make, it seems to me that it's completely out of step with statutory powers procedures, if the Board wants to use its staff for research purposes or whatever, but for the Board -– the Board Staff are not an intervenor, they're not a party, and they've been allowed to make a motion in advance of the hearing today.


And it seems out of step with my understandings of administrative law that that should not have happened.


MS. NOWINA:  We'll let Mr. Millar comment on that.


MR. LESLIE:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  If I may respond briefly.


Mr. Fallis was kind enough to call me on Friday and let me -- make me aware of his concerns.


I maintain now, as I did with him on the phone on Friday, that there is nothing improper with what Board Staff has done.  It's fairly routine for Board Staff to make submissions on certain issues before panels.


I would observe that Mr. Fallis, and to a lesser extent -- well, I'll focus on Mr. Fallis.  His client is, in fact, seeking 13 orders -- 12 or 13 orders from the board for these motions.  Board Staff in fact made submissions on only one of these orders, and the one we did make a submission on was a stay application.


A stay is largely -- the test for a stay is largely a legal question, and it's one that's rarely before the Board, and it was the intention of Board Staff to provide its opinion on this matter to the Board.


Of course, the only way we can actually provide you with this type of information is in a transparent and open manner and to put that on the record.  That's the only way we can make submissions to you.


So if Mr. Fallis or any other party wishes to disagree with what we have to say, they're certainly free to do so.  We pre-filed everything in writing.  We will not be having any discussions with you about these -- about our position on these motions except here in this room where everyone can hear, and anyone who takes issue with our submissions is certainly free to let you know.


I would also state Mr. Fallis mentioned bias.  Board Staff and the Panel are separate.  You're the decision-maker.  We review materials and whatnot.  I don't think our submission to you will carry any more weight than that of any other party.  And bias technically resides -- if there is bias, it should reside with the -- there shouldn't be bias, but an accusation of bias should be bias from the Panel, the decision-maker, not the bias of staff, people making submissions to the panel.


So, in my view, there's no apprehension of bias here.  This is a submission that you have received, like any other.  It's open, it's transparent, it's on the record, and if any party wishes to disagree with it, they are free to do so.


Thank you, Madam Chair.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.  Does anyone else want to comment on this topic?  Mr. Sperduti?


MR. SPERDUTI:  Madam Chair.  I've got a submission to make to you concerning the issue of procedural fairness generally, and suffice it to say that we're not raising at this time any direct accusation of apprehension of bias, though we share Mr. Fallis' concern about the Board Staff issuing its document prior to this hearing.


But with your permission, Madam Chair, I'll reserve my submissions further on the issue of procedural fairness for the appropriate time.


MS. NOWINA:  That's fine, Mr. Sperduti.


Anyone else?


MR. FALLIS:  Well, I had a two-point submission.


The second was basically out of the issue of -- the combination of the two proceedings.  And maybe this is --Mr. Sperduti's point will be probably the same, but the timelines that have been set by the Board have been obscenely short.  Ten days for intervenor status.  Now, that has been corrected where, you know, the Board has indicated subsequently that it would receive intervenors at any point of time and have, in fact, received some this morning.


As I say, Thursday you changed a date for a major hearing, one business day intervening.  Friday was the only day that I was there.  I received a call this morning from a person very concerned –- he’s a helicopter pilot in northern Manitoba -- indicating he was -- he contacted me, because of -- we had spoken once before, but I didn't know how to get a hold of him, and he was read the Procedural Order that came to change the hearing to this week.  He hadn't even seen it, because he was in the north.  And, you know, this Board is not recognizing that there are individuals on the ground here that have to be notified, and there are people that are meeting with me -- even I was amazed to see that -- the shortness of response time for Hydro One to respond to the motions.  I think the 18th was the deadline set by the Board.  I received my response from Hydro One, and I would appreciate the fact that they were under tremendous time pressures.  I got mine the following day, and I would consent to receiving it no problem, but I -- maybe they filed it with the Board on the 18th, only sent it on the 19th, but you've got such tight time structures that you're not being fair to the people --


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Fallis, let me interrupt you.  You can certainly make those submissions as part of your submissions on your motions.  I think that we’re part of the grounds of your motions.  We're dealing with preliminary matters now.


It seems to me you have two preliminary matters.  One was your concern about the hearing, both the section 92 and the section 98 application today.  I think we've spoken to that.  I can certainly assure you that our reason for trying to accomplish them both today was we assumed that that would be to the benefit of the parties who had to appear before us in both sections, rather than you come back for two days.


One is assuming that especially the moving parties, who had a motion for both the section 98 and section 92, would have planned to have been here for the section 98 hearing and for the section 92 hearing.  So what we've done is collapse into one day what would have had to be two days of appearance for you.  And we may not -- we may still hear the section 92 today, depending on how the 98 goes.


So that matter -- apologies for not letting you know, I guess, that -- in advance so you understood what our rationale was there, but our hope was to help you.


The other preliminary matter, I think, is an important one, and that is the issue of Board Staff making submissions.  What I can say from the Board's point of view, which is different than Board Staff's point of view, is, first it is our normal practice for Board Staff to make submissions.  It's not unusual for us, and it's very helpful for us.


However, you should know that the Board decision-makers, the adjudicators, put no more weight on the submissions of Board Staff than they do of anyone else making submissions in the proceedings.


Board Staff's submissions may be different than other parties because they are not a party to the proceeding and don't have an issue with any particular outcome and they're perhaps taking a broader view, but we don't put any more weight to it.


And as Mr. Millar said, the intention is for Board Staff's submissions to be very transparent so you know the case they're making and can respond to it.


So we will proceed with this panel, and we don't believe that there's any bias for any party as we move forward doing that.


So with that, if there are no other -- further preliminary matters, let me give you my assessment of the schedule, how we shall move through this, and you can tell me if you have any concerns with that.


We'll hear from the moving parties first.  And let me suggest Mr. Fallis, then Mr. Sperduti first.


Then we will move on to the supporting parties for their position, if there are any.  Then Hydro One will make its submissions.  

And then any parties supporting the Hydro One point of view or opposing the motions.


Then staff will make its submissions.  We will have moving party reply, and panel questions, although I warn you we may jump in and ask some questions as we go through, if we need those for clarification.


Are there any questions or concerns regarding that order of submissions?


When we've completed that for the section 98, as I said, we will adjourn the section 98 and move quickly to the section 92, for whatever remaining submissions need to be made for that application.  Is that clear?  

Are there any questions?


All right.  

Mr. Fallis.  Would you like to make your submissions?

MR. FALLIS:  Mr. Sperduti asked -- discussed this morning and liked to -- and I think he wanted to go first, and I have no problem with that.


MS. NOWINA:  Oh.  That's fine.  Mr. Sperduti, you want to go first?


MR. SPERDUTI:  I'm happy to go first, Madam Chair.  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.


Submissions by Mr. Sperduti:


MR. SPERDUTI:  I just wanted to start, Madam Chair, by perhaps taking up the issue of procedural fairness, and I don't want to labour the point, but I think that it’s important for everybody in this room to remind ourselves about how these proceedings may be viewed subsequently by third parties.  And I wanted to bring to the Board's attention a number of matters that -- of concern to our clients.


Mr. Waque is the lawyer responsible for the Powerline group.  He couldn't be here today, and of course he sends his apologies.  He's sitting as an arbitrator today in a dispute between the City of Toronto and OMERS.  But I raise it because it brings to light a very important problem with the process that's been followed to this point.


This hearing date and the Procedural Order generally was not done in consultation with any of the parties.  Specifically, had an inquiry been made of Mr. Waque about his availability, he would have been able to say that he couldn't be here today.  Now, of course, an element of procedural fairness is the right to be represented by a lawyer of your choice.  Now, not to take anything away from me.  I haven't met any of the owners, and so Mr. Waque has participated in landowner meetings and he's been to various municipalities throughout the affected area to speak to these people, and he has their confidence.


So we’re having a difficult time explaining the Board's process to at least 75 people who have put their faith and confidence in Mr. Waque.


So it’s a concern to our clients, and a challenge to explain to them why these dates have been set without any consultation with the affected parties.


The other aspect of procedural fairness that I think is important to remind ourselves about is the right to a fair hearing, and not to have the issues before the Board predetermined.  One concern which Mr. Fallis has raised has been the Board Staff issuing its position on the matter prior to the hearing.  But in addition to that, there are other issues that we’re having a challenging time also explaining to our 75 or so affected owners.


And that – and those issues include why the Board has issued a Procedural Order specifically in the leave-to-construct matter, but I know we're dealing with the section 98 application.


Madam Chair, many of my submissions will overlap, and I apologize for that.


MS. NOWINA:  That's fine, Mr. Sperduti.


MR. SPERDUTI:  But with respect to the leave-to-construct matter, the Board has gone ahead and scheduled a date for the hearing of that.  And the concern, of course, that that raises is that it suggests to the owners that the application before you today has been predetermined.


Now, we are confident that we’ll have a fair hearing today, but it's created, certainly, the appearance of unfairness to many of the group who we represent.  And also, as Mr. Fallis brought forward, the timetable which the Board has issued has provided very little opportunity for us to consult with our 75-strong group.  The group itself is growing, and although sometimes it would be nice to be able to act without getting instructions from your clients, oftentimes we're forced to seek instructions, and with such short time frames there is limited if any opportunity to do that, particularly given time of year, being summer.


So that is also a concern and one that we’re having a challenging time explaining to our clients.


The timetable was established; not only does it provide for very short time frames, but it was also established in its entirety without any consultation, again, with the landowners.


The Procedural Order that the Board issued makes no reference to any requirement for compliance with Environmental Assessment approvals.  And that is a matter that is squarely before you today, and by virtue of the terms and the conclusions in the Board's Procedural Order, it raises an apprehension, if you will, on the part of many of our clients about the Board's intention to have a fair hearing today.


So, while we understand that the Board is sensitive to landowner concerns, the timetable and the procedure leading up to today has certainly not, in our respectful submission, demonstrated that sensitivity.


So we want to leave those matters with the Board and I'll move on to, with your permission, Madam Chair, my substantive submissions on the issue of stay, again recognizing there is some overlap between the leave-to-construct and the access.


MS. NOWINA:  Fine.  Go ahead.


MR. SPERDUTI:  Thank you.


Now, Madam Chair, in terms of the application before you concerning whether or not the section 92 and -- hearings ought to -- or, sorry, concerning whether leave-to-construct ought to be granted and whether leave to access the properties ought to be granted.  We start with section 92 of the Environmental -- or, sorry, 12.2 of the Environmental Assessment Act.


And that section specifically provides a prohibition in terms of the Board issuing authorizations required by law to proceed with undertakings.  And, Madam Chair, for the record, I have an updated environmental legislation book, Madam Chair, that doesn't have section 12.2 in it.  But I do happily have another copy of it.


If I may, Madam Chair, I'd like to just hand up this section, with your permission, or --


MS. NOWINA:  Let's mark it as an exhibit, just for clarity's sake.


MR. MILLAR:  It's Exhibit KM1.1.  And what is -- could you please identify that?


MR. SPERDUTI:  It's an extract from the Environmental Assessment Act, specifically section 12.2.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  And it's actually KM1.2.  My mistake.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.


MR. SPERDUTI:  With your permission, Madam Chair?


MS. NOWINA:  Yes.


EXHIBIT NO. KM1.2:  Extract from the environmental 


Assessment Act (section 12.2)

MS. NOWINA:  This is a current --  


MR. SPERDUTI:  Yes, it is.


MS. NOWINA:  Version of the Act?


MR. SPERDUTI: I apologize, Madam Chair.  It's a computer printout of this section of the Environmental Assessment Act.  If you wish, I can have a section photocopied out of a textbook or an official version of it, but I don't think anybody in the room disputes that this is what it is.


MS. NOWINA:  It's fine, Mr. Sperduti.


MR. SPERDUTI:  So the position that we start with, in our respectful submission is section 12.2(2), restriction on issuing certain documents.


The prohibition in the Environmental Assessment Act says:

"No person shall issue a document evidencing that an authorization required at law to proceed with the undertaking has been given until the proponent receives approval under this act to proceed with the undertaking."


At the very core of our submission, Madam Chair, is that if this Board were to grant the leave sought by the proponent, it would in effect be issuing an authorization required at law to proceed with an undertaking prior to the environmental assessment approval being obtained.


Not only, Madam Chair, prior to the environmental assessment approval being obtained, prior to the establishment of terms of reference, prior to any public consultation with affected landowners.


Now, the reason why the PowerLine Group submits, Madam Chair, that granting the leave sought by the proponent in this matter amounts to a violation of this particular section of the Environmental Assessment Act is because the leave that has been sought deals with a specific defined route for the transmission lines.  That route is set out in detail in the last part of the applicant's material, which includes the mapping.


Now, I'm not proposing to take the Board through the mapping, but suffice it to say that not only has the proponent identified a route, it's identified affected property owners, it's affected -– it’s addressed new properties that are required to put its scheme into effect.  And all of this has taken place without any public consultation.


So our submission is that, despite the requirements in the Environmental Assessment Act to identify alternatives, compare those alternatives, and come up with an alternative that is acceptable from an environmental perspective, a socio-economic perspective and a technical perspective, the proponent has predetermined its route based on its technical requirements.
So granting the leave which is being sought amounts, in our respectful submission, to a predetermination or a permission to proceed with a defined project in the absence of the EA approval.


Also, Madam Chair, consider the process that's been followed by the proponent to establish this route.  There is a Partially Completed Integrated Power System Plan.  There was an internal comparison of potential routes.  The two main routes appear to be the Bruce-to-Milton and the Bruce-to-Essa alternatives.  But again, this focussed on the power requirements, the technical merits of each alternative, and these were not subjected to public scrutiny.


There has been identification of property impacts without a consideration of things like: Should the lines go on the east side of the existing corridor or on the west side of the existing corridor?  What other public input should be considered in terms of establishing the preferred route?


If this Board issues the leave which is being sought –- specifically, the leave-to-construct but also the leave for access - then is the Board not approving a predetermined result?


Now, my friends say the requirement for access and the requirement for leave-to-construct are necessary because that will facilitate the EA process.  Well, Madam Chair, frankly, that's not an acceptable position, because the proponent hasn't sought leave to access any other properties along any other route.  They haven't sought permission to construct for any of the other alternative routes that they say that they've considered.  They're seeking leave to access and construct on this route.


So if the mandate in the Environmental Assessment Act is to compare alternatives and the proponent's submission is true that leave-to-construct and access are necessary to facilitate that process, then why haven't they sought the same leave with respect to other potential routes?


Madam Chair, the EA process is being given little more than lip service.  It's there for a reason, and it's there to consider broad social, economic and environmental impacts.  There is a public consultation process.  This is part of the fabric of what we understand as a requirement for public infrastructure in the Province of Ontario.


The mandate is to study impacts and consider alternatives.  None of that has happened, yet the proponent is before you asking for leave-to-construct.


Madam Chair, my friends also say that, 

"Well, the Board can grant leave-to-construct now and if there is any modification that arises from the EA process, it can be incorporated into the Board's order, that the Board's leave can be modified to accommodate that."


Well, what if the Minister doesn't approve the EA?  Or what if a different route altogether is selected out of that process?  Is it possible to simply modify the Board's order or is it necessary, then, to have a whole new hearing?  The part of the Powerline submission, Madam Chair, is that it's premature to have a hearing on the issue of leave-to-construct and also access, when the fact of the matter is that the entire process could be wasted.  The evidence will be stale-dated and the Board will have to come and consider a whole new project.


Our position is that whether you call it a stay or whether you call it an adjournment, Madam Chair, that it ought to await the completion of the EA or, alternatively, at least completion of the terms of reference, so that we know what line is being considered as part of the EA.  The proponent hasn't yet convinced the Minister of the Environment to limit the terms of reference to this particular route.  So it’s certainly premature at this point to be having a hearing about leave-to-construct, we submit.


I just wanted to deal very quickly with the Board Staff's position.  Board Staff says a stay is an extraordinary remedy that ought to be granted only in limited circumstances.  Madam Chair, as I say, whether you consider our request to be one of a stay or for an adjournment, our submission is that this is a circumstance that falls within the category that Board Staff say a stay ought to be granted in.  This is an extraordinary circumstance.  This is a circumstance where leave-to-construct is being sought a year or so before the EA process is completed.


Just for the record, Madam Chair, I extracted from Hydro One's material filed with the Board a table showing the project schedule.  And although, surely, you have it as part of the larger document, I propose to hand this document up and make it the next exhibit, with your permission, Madam Chair.


MS. NOWINA:  That's fine.


MR. MILLAR:  Exhibit KM1.3.  And, Mr. Sperduti, that is a timeline proposed by the applicant?


MR. SPERDUTI:  Yes.  It is titled "Table showing project schedule."


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.


EXHIBIT NO. KM1.3:  TABLE SHOWING PROJECT SCHEDULE


MR. SPERDUTI:  And it was Exhibit B, tab 5, schedule 2, of the material filed by the proponent.


Madam Chair, you can see by this schedule that section 92, "approval," indeed, section 99, "expropriation permission," is proposed to be sought prior to EA approval. 
If there was ever a case where the cart was before the horse, this is it.


Madam Chair, I have a few submissions to make concerning the application for access that I want to specifically address.  The Board in its Procedural Order did not establish an oral hearing for the access matter.  This is a preliminary motion.  Our submission is that the issue of access is intimately tied to the issue of leave-to-construct, and the permission being sought for that.  And I just wanted to take the Board to part of the submissions, the written submissions, which were filed on behalf of the Powerline Connection group.  We filed two written submissions, one on the access matter and one on the leave-to-construct.  And I presume that you have that material before you?


MS. NOWINA:  We do, Mr. Sperduti.


MR. SPERDUTI:  And specifically, Madam Chair, looking at the leave-to-construct application or, sorry, leave-to-construct motion, paragraphs 12 to 17, Madam Chair, set out a shopping list of the owners' concerns, which we submit can only be dealt with in a full hearing.  So our first submission with respect to this, Madam Chair, is that, like leave-to-construct, there ought to be an oral hearing concerning the access matter.


And in paragraph 12, Madam Chair, you’ll see that we’ve identified a number of property impacts and owner impacts that we say are not addressed by the proponent in the draft access agreements and other permissions it’s prepared and put before you.


Consider first, Madam Chair, that there’s been no consultation with the owners.  None.  This is admitted by Hydro One in its materials, that at the time of the filing of this material, that there’s been no landowner contact.


Consider, Madam Chair, the disruption to the lives and the livelihood of those owners affected by the permission to access which is being sought; although it may be interim, as stated by the proponent, the impacts are far-reaching.


For example, there will be impacts on livestock, yet the materials put before the Board in terms of an access agreement don't have a start date or a finish date.  In fact, they don't provide for even written notice 24, 48 hours in advance of the access.  So how are our clients to deal with livestock, and other, you know, issues that would have to be addressed prior to the big trucks rolling in?


The agreements that are put before the Board for approval by the proponent as to say, we've taken care of everything.  Let us have our permission to access.  They don't identify an area for the testing.  Nor do they identify the route which the big trucks are going to take to get to the testing site.  They say:  We can construct the route, but they don't say where it's going to be.


Surely this is something that the proponent could have discussed or should discuss.  This Board should tell the proponent:  You should discuss this before you get your permission to access.


There's no right to have information arising from the testing, the results of the testing.  This puts the owners at an informational disadvantage when issues like compensation come to be addressed.  It allows the proponent to have access to the lands for the purposes of testing -- undefined, unspecified testing -- without allowing the owners to have access to the results.


While there is some provision in the material before the Board filed by the proponent about compensation for damage arising as a result of the access, for example, the agreement says that compaction will be remedied.  There are longer term impacts that would arise from the granting of access that are not covered off in the agreements proposed by the proponent, specifically, damage to tile drainage systems.


Now, I'm not an expert in tile drainage systems but I'm told by our clients that you can sometimes find out about impacts three, four, five years later.


So there’s no reservation of rights in the access agreements that are being proposed by the proponent that would allow the owners to have proper redress for these longer-term impacts.  There’s no provision for lost wages.  Madam Chair, the set of agreements is contained within the large volume of material filed by Hydro One at appendix 3.    Actually, there are a number of appendices that set out the agreements and perhaps during a break what I'll do, Madam Chair, is just identify the page numbers for you.  The pages aren't clearly marked.


But I think that it would be useful for the Board to, prior to granting permission to access, to review the documents that the proponent says ought to form the basis for that permission in the light of these submissions.


So, returning to the issue of what's missing, while the agreement provides for some unspecified amount for compensation for crop damage, for example, we’re told by our clients that you can prepare a schedule showing what crops are affected, if you know where the access is going to be and where the testing is going to be carried out, and you can break the compensation for crop damage down to a value per acre.  Now, none of this detail is set out in any of the agreements that the proponent has put before the Board as the basis for its request.  These are all, Madam Chair, matters of the utmost importance to the landowners.  

This process and the proponent's proposal for access in the absence of any consultation is an affront to their property rights and interests, and it represents a significant intrusion, and they ought to be consulted.  So our friends say:  Well, it would be very cumbersome to force us to negotiate with over 400 owners.  While we don't think that that's a good enough excuse not to consult with anybody before you apply for permission to access, our submission to you is this.  We are 75 owners in our group. 


Consult with us.  We're here. We're at the table.  We're represented by counsel.  Consult with us.


And that should be a condition of any permission that this Board grants concerning access, that the landowner group be consulted and that an agreement in a form approved by the landowners and approved by this Board form the basis for the permission to access, not the pre-approved form, one-sided agreement that the proponent puts before you.


At paragraph 26 of our written submissions, Madam Chair, we recite something from the Ministry of the Environment's Guide to Environmental Assessment Requirements for Electricity Projects, and what we say is that it says:

"It is recommended that a proponent commence the screening process before project planning, site layout, and facility design have progressed too far and before irreversible decisions and commitments are made."


Our respectful submission, Madam Chair, is that if this Board grants leave to access and puts it on the owners to suffer damages to their crops, to the soil, to their livelihoods, and to their lives, that you are making an irreversible decision in the absence of a full and fair hearing.


So our position, Madam Chair, is that there ought to be a full hearing of the issue of access if this Board isn't prepared to adjourn the matter, which is obviously our primary request.  If you are not prepared to grant the adjournment or the stay as requested, then there should be a full hearing of the matter.


The proponent says the owners will suffer no prejudice -- well, one of the proponents, anyway.  I'm not even sure which of the many, many written submissions that have been filed in support of the applications says it.  But the proponents say: Well, there is no prejudice to the owners.


This is a matter of the utmost public concern.  We must protect our ability to deliver a source of energy, and we must do it now.


Well, we're here to say, Madam Chair, that there is prejudice.  We have rights too, and we demand that they be respected.


So in a circumstance, Madam Chair, where a property owners -- where the property owners' rights are affected, and looking back at the schedule, EA approval isn't proposed until June of 2008.  We always know nothing can happen until EA approval is granted.  How can there be prejudice to adjourning these proceedings?  We say we suffer prejudice, the proponents don't.


Madam Chair, just to deal for a moment with the oral   hearings that the Board proposes to have.  We submit, Madam Chair that these hearings should be held in Orangeville or Georgetown.  Having a hearing in downtown Toronto with none of the affected owners or very, very few of them present to hear the Board's process, understand how their rights are being dealt with, is fundamentally unfair.  It may be an inconvenience to drive all these lawyers up to Orangeville or Georgetown, but it's an inconvenience that our group of landowners thinks is insignificant compared to what they're being asked to sacrifice.


So if this Board is not prepared to grant a stay or an adjournment of both leave-to-construct and the permission-to-access matters, if this Board determines to proceed with the hearings, then it should proceed with an oral hearing of both matters and those hearings should be ordered to take place in the communities where the people are, so that they can have some say or, at least, understanding of what the Board is doing.  Madam Chair, I just wanted to briefly summarize my submissions.  I also have some submissions concerning the issue of funding, and --


MS. NOWINA:  Maybe we'll hold that for the section 92 proceeding.


MR. SPERDUTI:  And I will address that in the 92, but suffice it to say, Madam Chair, that we think it's premature to apply for funding when we don't know whether the Board is going to grant the stay or the adjournment that we're requesting.  But we'll come back to that and deal with it in a moment.


So, Madam Chair, to summarize our submissions, leave-to-construct and access are being sought in circumstances where the proponent has unilaterally determined a specific, identified route for its transmission lines without any public consultation.  There is no approved EA.  There are no approved terms of reference.


The proponent asks this Board to issue or hear the matter of leave-to-construct and access in the face of a prohibition in the Environmental Assessment Act at section 12.2(2), which prohibits the issuance of an authorization required to proceed with an undertaking prior to EA approval.


Our respectful submission is that the granting of leave prior to the approval of the EA is premature.  It violates that section of the Environmental Assessment Act.  It approves a predetermined route that is yet to be subjected to public scrutiny.  It demonstrates a complete lack of regard for the public process that we understand to be part of the fabric of approving infrastructure projects in Ontario.  It sends the wrong message to owners, who are affected directly by these works.


If this Board proceeds with the hearing of the leave-to-construct and access, it could all be for naught, depending on the outcome of the EA process, and this Board ought not to pre-judge the outcome of that EA process by issuing leave, or even, Madam Chair, hearing it.


Since the project can't proceed until the EA is completed, we submit that adjourning these proceedings results in no prejudice to the proponents.
So, Madam Chair, our submission is that the hearings ought to be adjourned or stayed, at least until the EA process is approved, but, in the alternative, at least until the terms of reference have been approved, and that there should be full and fair hearing of all of these issues, both access and leave-to-construct, in the alternative, in the communities that are affected.


And with that, Madam Chair, I will turn the floor over to, I suppose, Mr. Fallis, unless there are any questions.


MS. NOWINA:  Let's take a moment.


[Board Panel confers]


MS. NOWINA:  Fine.  Mr. Fallis.


Submissions by Mr. Fallis:


MR. FALLIS:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Am I on?  Can you hear me?


MS. NOWINA:  Yes.


MR. FALLIS:  I adopt what Mr. Sperduti has indicated, and I support his submissions in that regard.


I would -- part by way of statement, part by way of question, I am observing that the three steps that have been sort of laid out in the application for the approvals are, first of all, the environmental Energy Board application, which seems to be followed by the application for the Environmental Assessment Act, and, thirdly, the expropriation.  The Expropriation Act is one that I observe that -– we observe that the Ontario Energy Board is the approving authority under the Expropriation Act.  That step involves locational issues.


In the Board Act -- or the Expropriation Act -- well, I should say, let's go back to the Ontario Energy Board Act.  The Board is given power to receive an application for expropriation by the applicant, which would be Hydro One, and it would then, I suggest, defer; that application must defer to the Expropriation Act.  The Expropriations Act indicates that in section 2.1 of the Act that:

"Despite any general or special act where land is expropriated or injurious effect is caused by a statutory authority, this act applies."


And it says also in (2) of that section that:



"The provisions of any general or special act..." 

-- which the Ontario Energy Board act is -- 

"... providing procedures with respect to the expropriation of land or the compensation payable for land, expropriated or for injurious effects that refer to another act, shall be deemed to refer to this act and not to the other act." [as read]


I would say that the Expropriation Act will trump anything that would be to the contrary if there is any apparent conflict between the two acts, so the Board is, I suggest, mandated by the powers of the Expropriations Act.


One of the things that the Expropriations Act sets out is that the -- first of all, that the -- it goes on and says in section (4) of the act:

"Where there is a conflict between the provision of this act and the provision of any other general or special act, that the provision of this act prevails."


And then section 4 says that:

"The expropriating authority shall not expropriate land without the approval of the approving authority."


Which is the Ontario Energy Board under these circumstances.


Under the section 7 of the act, of the Expropriations Act, there is to be an inquiry established and that inquiry requires the Attorney General to appoint a chief inquiry officer, and such inquiry officer as he or she considers necessary who will have regard to these certain aspects of the inquiry.  But it says in (5):

"The hearing shall be by means of an inquiry conducted by the inquiry officer, who shall inquire into whether the taking to have lands or part of the lands of any owner or of more than one owner of the same land is fair, sound and reasonably necessary in the achievement of the objectives of the expropriating authority."


And at the end of it:

"He shall give the report to the approving authority."

Which would be to the Ontario Energy Board.


Location is the key of expropriation; where it is fair, sound and reasonably necessary for the achievement of the objectives of the expropriating authority.


Having said that, this Board has to, I would submit, in its application now under the leave and under the access applications, have regard to the location of where the land that's going to be taken is.  I don't think it can deal with either application on the matters before us today without considering location.


It seems -- if it were to do that it would be put in a position where it would grant access, interim access, to allow Hydro to do testing.  It would then grant leave-to-construct.  Then it would have an application to the Environmental Assessment Act.  And then it would turn around and by this act have to order a hearing, an inquiry under the Expropriations Act, to determine what it should have determined in this hearing:  Is this the proper location?


There is a vehicle, a statutory vehicle that is set up, the Consolidated Hearings Act, where environmental assessments can be done with other functions.  It isn't one that that's done with the function of expropriation, but I suggest it's that type of vehicle -- is what should happen.


So I think the Board should allow the participants here today to know how it is going to proceed to deal with location in this hearing, under the two applications before the Board today as far as location; is that going to be a permitted discussion so we can settle locational issues inside these hearings?  Because if we're not, we're -- I don't know where it goes.  It's something we need, I think all of us in this room, need help on from the Board as to how it's going to deal with the -- moving forward -- of the applications.


And I might indicate that there has been case authority on the expropriations.  One particular case, and I have copies for the Board if you could hand those across to the Board.  One was a case in the Court of Appeal of Ontario --


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Fallis, let's stop and mark those as exhibits, after we make sure that we have copies.


MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, there is a case called KARN, K-A-R-N, and Ontario Hydro.  And we'll mark that as -- I think we're at KM1.4. 

EXHIBIT NO. KM1.4:  ONTARIO COURT OF APPEAL, KARN v. ONTARIO HYDRO


MR. MILLAR:  Is there just the one case, Mr. Fallis?


MR. FALLIS:  There is a second case, and if you would like to --


MR. MILLAR:  Well, it's up to you.  If you would like to deal with it shortly, that would be fine.


MR. FALLIS:  Well, I can hand it up to you.  There's three cases.  Here is the second case.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  Madam Chair, the second case is called Rae County Hydro corridor committee and Ontario Hydro.  And that will be KM1.5. 

EXHIBIT NO. KM1.5:  GREY COUNTY HYDRO CORRIDOR COMMITTEE AND ONTARIO HYDRO


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Fallis, while we're getting the cases, I might give you some information that may or may not be helpful, and you may already know it.


That is that, as you know, the application for access to land, this is first that the Board has ever done under this act, so this is new ground for everyone, and we're working through that.


The leave-to-constructs, sir, are very common, and we've done a number, and it is not without precedent to grant a leave-to-construct before an EA is complete; and normally, then, the actual construction or the enacting of that order, would follow the EA.  So it's conditional on approval of the EA.


So we have precedent for that.  I wasn't -- I don't know if you're aware of that but that might help you somewhat.


MR. FALLIS:  But this is a challenge further by the fact that in those circumstances the land would have been 

-- location would not be an issue.  Usually there is a piece of land and which is already owned and you're working with –- the moving target in this is, you don't know where it's going to go.  And the process is all about where it's going to go.  It's all about location.  So if you're asked to, at a moving at that time, grant leave-to-construct somewhere but we don't know where it is, and the last process, in the Expropriation Act, is one that targets and nails down the location.


And that's why I think that all of us are troubled from the point of view of location.  If you haven't got location, how can you grant leave to build something where you don't know where you're going build it?  And if you don't know where you are going to build it, how can you study where it's going to be located from an environmental assessment point of view?  So you have to go back and nail down the location before you start the process.


That's what we feel it's all about.  And I want to concerns the KARN case because that's exactly what that was about.


I might indicate, just for a little bit of a history lesson, the Bruce-to-Milton line was first constructed in the late 1980s -- or late 1970s, excuse me -- through Bruce and Grey and Wellington Counties.  There was a 230 kV line that came out of the Bruce in 1961 and that line came out and then it deviated and part of it turned at -- went towards Kitchener, another part went towards Barrie at T-intersection, just west of Orangeville.


The second line came, the 500 kV line came, in the late 1970s and it was built parallel to the  -- along the 230 line, and then it turned and it crossed -- it was on the north side of the line, crossed over west -- or east of Hanover, west of Durham, crossed over the line and then proceeded on the south side and then turned and went in a single line to Milton, to the Milton transformer station.


So for the people in the area that I represent, predominantly, they are working with, this is now their third line, understanding that the process is every 30 years there's going to be another line because that's the history.  This is the third of the three.  So every 25 to 30 years.  There's an expectation that probably there will be another, unless transmission technology changes.


So the uniqueness of KARN in this particular case that came before the Court of Appeal, I might indicate that the original decision of Justice Reed was -- and the first two pages and the very short section at the end, the last two pages is a Court of Appeal decision.  This is taken from the land compensation board reports.


And I might just indicate that -- just highlight some of the last pages there.  At the bottom of page 7, the -- it says:

"The respondent Ontario Hydro took the position both here and below that the evidence is not admissible with respect to alternative routes for two reasons."


And they talked about a previous route with Dr. Sillan, who had done a report back in the early 1970s:

"Second, it was argued that, in any event, alternative routes fall outside the proper ambit of inquiry officer in this case."


Going down to the very bottom of that page, the last paragraphs, Justice Zuber of the Supreme Court of Appeal said:

"It appears to us whatever the objectives of the respondent Ontario Hydro" –-


MS. NOWINA:  I'm sorry, when we read -– when you read, it's faster than when you speak, and the court reporter is having a hard time keeping up.


MR. FALLIS:  Okay.


MS. NOWINA:  So if you could slow down a little bit.


MR. FALLIS:  "It appears to us whatever the objectives 

of the respondent Ontario Hydro may be in this case, they are not simply the acquisition of lands in question.  The acquisition of land is the means by which some further objective is accomplished.  To ascribe any meaning whatever to the section and particularly the words ‘fair’, ‘sound’, and ‘reasonably necessary,’ it must follow that the inquiry includes the issue of alternative routes.  To eliminate this question from the inquiry would almost negate the inquiry." 


We are not here concerned with the logic of the statutory pattern but, rather, the essential meaning of the statute.  If submissions of Ontario Hydro were accepted, the expropriating authority – Hydro, the expropriating authority - by presenting as a schedule to the authorized – the authorizing order the description of a precise land, here 250 feet in width - which parallels almost what we're talking about here today – required from one end of the transmission line to the other, could preclude any discussion taken before the inquiry officer.  In such an instance, if the person expropriated could not make submissions as to the route to be followed in connection from point A to point B, then it's difficult to measure what submissions he would be free to make.  It is recognized at once that such an expropriating pattern leaves much to be desired.  

"For example, if the take-up proposed in the authorizing order, the precise lands required for a long, thin transmission strip, the expropriated  in the middle of that line” - and presuming hearings have already been heard on either side of them – “would have very little to say which could at that stage move the inquiry officer in all probability."

As a practical matter, the statutory pattern does not seem to sit well with linear taking, as in the case of this transmission line, but such consideration forms no part of the judicial process of discerning and applying the plain meaning of the interpretation of the statute.  

“In my view, the positions taken by Ontario Hydro are untenable and the appeal should be allowed."


And then the -- an order went forward to --

"An order will go -- therefore issued declaring every party to the inquiry is permitted to present evidence and argument and to examine and cross-examine witnesses as to alternate routes as part of the inquiry in question, whether the proposed taking of land is fair, sound, and reasonably necessary in the achievement of the objectives of the expropriating authority." [as read]


So you will come to that case in the expropriating section of the responsibilities that will be upon the Board under the Expropriation Act and have to -- and an inquiry will be called for that purpose, and I fail to see how this Board can deal with this section of the hearing without nailing down the location, because its location -- that's what you've got to do as a starting point before you go forward with the other processes, because you -- and to give you a practical example.  If, for example, there is a determination made by the Board that the line should move to lands off the -- that may be owned by other owners -- it may be moved a mile or two to the other side of the line -- that make those decisions, all those people will then have all the rights that we now have, because we have been given notice of owner -– we’ve been given notice, and you'll have to start the process over again.


So our submission is that you should therefore make a swath that you're going to -- and if it's a couple of kilometres wide, say, give us some latitude to where the lines might be on each side of the line.  In our area, it's sort of an east/west line alignment; in the area that predominates in Mr. Waque's clients are from -- they're in the north/south pattern predominantly, although there are some from our area that have joined his group as well.  The thing is that it’s -- you need a wide area to look at where, in that wide area, you are going to put the line with specifics.


The second case that I handed up to you was one that dealt with another issue, and it was referenced this morning, about the Bruce-to-Essa line.  Essa is near Barrie.  It was a proposal that Hydro had studied in the –- in the area of the 1970s about taking a line which will be an entirely different route altogether.


The Court in that -- the Divisional Court in that case found that the -- it wasn't -- that was more of a policy decision that could be made, but there was no mandate that the Board or the inquiry officer could look at such –- such global changes from one entire location to another entire location. 


And in that case, the Board found -- and there were actually two cases that were done back to back, the White case, which is immediately following the first case.  It's right after that.  They basically found that they can only look at the narrow confines of -- within reason of the existing corridor. 


In other words, if that corridor was going to be taken, it would be planned in the vicinity of the corridor that we're looking at, but it doesn't have to be the exact strip that we're looking at.


So I would say with the authorities of those two cases -- they are there and I have given to the Board -- that this Board should be mindful of the fact that the strip should have -- the lands that should be identified for candidate lands for the potential of a line should be broadened to a wider envelope, in which the lands can be finalized as to where the line should go.


For example, if you have a farm that's a century farmhouse -- the call I had this morning was a farmhouse that's 150 years old, a stone farmhouse, from the gentleman who's a helicopter pilot and only -- was in northern Manitoba, out of cell range, and only heard over the weekend about the hearing -- not just the change, but the hearings that are set for today and tomorrow.  He would like to save his house.  And if that means that you have to move the line somewhat two or three kilometres to the west and two or three kilometres to the east so that the line bends a bit, without any structural alterations so we don't have corner towers, which are much more extensive than straight line towers, that might be very reasonable to do and may not cost a lot and could save a man his home, which has been there for years. 


Is that possible?  We don't know until we have a hearing about it.  But that's what locational issues are about, to -- let's identify the locations where we need some adjustments, need some change, and settle on those things, then come and do the EA, then do the expropriation.


But to commit to going over somebody's property without looking at location is inherently wrong, and that's what the Court of Appeal has basically said.  You know, you've got to be able to look at these things, and the tests going forward must give the rights of -- the owners the right to look at alternatives, and I would suggest to this Board that the Board should invite the -- Hydro to -- where there are areas like that, to be able to suggest alternatives that might be a practical solution to go around that, to walk around the problem and solve the problem with an ease that would allow it to be done.  What's the cost factor?  Is it more costly?  Is it just -- you know, keeping it in an arbitrary straight line, it may look nice from Hydro, but those towers are ugly, ugly, ugly, and they're not there to be beautiful.  So if it bends out a little bit, maybe to the artful eye of a person that's put them in, they might be out of sync in a straight line.  But believe me, if you've saved a few farmhouses or saved a few homes or other significant things in the path of the line that do –- that the straight line would have eliminated, I think it's worth taking a look at it and this Board should consider.


So based on that, I would like to just sort of run through my submissions in my motion, and if you have the motion before you.


The stay is what we sought.  The adjournment, call it what you want, is to allow this Board to figure out what it's going to do about locational issues.


Number 2, is -- in the order that I sought was basically to allow an envelope to be created of a width of two kilometres on either side of the proposed line so that we can look where in the envelope the transmission line could go.  It's just to widen the envelope so it gives some latitude to looking at alternatives.  And that's in keeping with the Court of Appeal order in KARN, which says that you can look at alternative routes, and in the Grey County case, which said you can't look at other ones like Essa.


The second -- the third one simply is this, is that -- and if you go back and look at the application from Hydro, this is what everybody got this in the mail, is the application from Hydro.  And you go in a few pages in here and you'll see this document here, which is an 8.5 by 11.  That's an illustration; it's not a map, it's an illustration, and it's been drawn by an artist.  


And first of all, it doesn't show, it doesn't show anything about the 230 line on here at all.  It's there.  It's a major line.  It's a major transmission -- it doesn't show anything about the 230.  Just says the existing 500 and the proposed 500.


And sections of this, the 500 will be the line -- or the 230 is the line that's beside this, because for about 20 miles it is on the north side, because the other line's on the south side.


If you plotted that dotted line out, which is the proposed line from the other line, it would go 2 kilometres, on a rough scale.  So their sketch is pretty -- you know, it's an artist that we're dealing with, an illustrator who's drawn it on a sketch.  That's what everybody got.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Fallis, for the record, can you identify the exhibit number, so when we're looking at the transcript we can find it?


MR. FALLIS:  Right.  It's the notice of application, which itself is undated.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  So it's attached to the notice of application?


MR. FALLIS:  Yes, and it's issued by your Board on Board stationery.  So you've issued that document and attached to it the application, again on your Board stationery, the application of Hydro One Networks.


MS. NOWINA:  That's probably sufficient.


MR. FALLIS:  And that's what everybody got initially.


Now, if you look at the binder, the binder that I got, I don't bring it because it doesn't work, so I didn't bother bringing it.  Every time you open it up the pages fall out.  Anyway, the two things don't go together so it's more of a nuisance.


Anyway, I was going to say that it's got property identifications in it.  If you wanted to take a look, if you have got one in front of you, it's a big orange field out there from Bruce on down, and you've got some grey lines over it.  There's no location of buildings, no locations of houses.  No locations of fields.  Some sort of markings of where another line is in it, maybe you'd be able to figure out your lot and concession.  But it has no ground information there.


They did have -- they being Hydro One -- did have public meetings.  And at those meetings they did have -- at the meetings, photo-based mapping that was there that you could walk in and look at, and walk out.  And that's it.  I mean, you could look at it but what do you do with it?  You're not left with anything.


In the last taking, that's 30 years ago, they put in the registry offices, they had photo-based maps which had the lines marked so you could scale it and measure your buildings from the line.  You could get a sense of where it was, where it is, and you could look up and down the line.


And what we are asking for is that each of the owners be provided with a map that will allow them to, if you're going to make, if they're going to make a determination of alternate routes, looking at it, a length of map that's -- we say for two-and-a-half kilometres from either extremity of the property down and up the line, and would have a width of two kilometres in width, so that they would have a significant area that they could look at.  And that also that they would be put in the -- put in the municipal offices.  The full photo-based mapping in it with every municipality, so at least you could go somewhere and take a look at it for the entirety of the line.  


People would receive sections so they could see if they wanted to make an argument about moving it, they could understand what it is that Hydro is doing, they could show the buildings and so forth.  So it's just more information which isn't there.  


The best they have right now, the book that shows the land in orange, or this 8.5 by 11 illustrator's sketch is what they have to go by, is what we're taking.  And again, it doesn't even show the 230 line.


And because -- it's to enable everybody to know what's there, we suggest that there be identification as to who the landowners are in the vicinity of the taking so that number 4 that we sought, 4 was just information as to names and addresses or PIN numbers in the electronic registry for the lands in the vicinity of the taking.


Number 5 was to put the mapping -- those maps in the municipal offices.


The one that was there, and I would indicate that I did have -- I filed an application on behalf of clients by the name of Magwood, and they have indicated that they're going to do their own matter.  


But regardless, the issues with respect to the Town of Hanover are ones which by example show what should be of concern to the Board.  And that was not in their application, it just happens to be near their property.  Their letter of intervention did not mention Hanover.


But in the Hanover case the 230 line came along, then deviated from the corridor line, dropped into Hanover, dropped power down and then went back out to the main line again, because there was a transformer station in Hanover.  


The second line that came, was parallel to the first line, dropped into Hanover, but didn't drop any power off, it just came down, and there was admittedly at the time of those negotiations -- there was no electrical reason for coming into Hanover.  


And this third line is now proposing, by illustration of the sketch and in the orange thing, is now proposing to do the same thing and it is coming into an urban environment when it need not come in at all.  Have to construct three turn towers.  They are very expensive in comparison to the regular towers.  I understand they're in the order of double the price.  Those are expensive things to build when there's no electrical reason to do it.  They could go straight.


And so those are examples of things that would be raised in the oral hearing that you could ask about.  And for those type of situation, I think Hydro should -- Hydro One Networks, the applicant, should be put in a position to show why would you have to take a line into an urban environment and back out again when you can impact on its growth potential by, in this case, three line widths rather than the two that are there, when one should probably only have been built in the first place.


So I think that the -- we suggested that if you -- that the Board, if it does make an order with respect to location in its leave-to-construct, that it should be a very interim order saying this is what we believe that the location should be, and that you then leave the -- allow the environmental assessment to go ahead so you're at least dealing with that order, and then it wouldn't issue until such time as that approval has taken place.  


So I understand the argument of my friend, and perhaps that may not be even able to take place under the logic of his interpretation of the Environmental Assessment Act.


I would also ask that the Board for the oral hearings allow the candidate landowners to know within 30 days of the hearing the list of expert witnesses that the applicant intends to call, with a summary of their evidence so that we'd have a knowledge of that ahead of time.  That's important, because we may wish to respond to evidence knowing what evidence is inbound, to be able to deal with that.  I think that is a fair request.  


The timetable that has been set by appendix C to your Procedural Order of June the 5th, I think it has to be very radically adjusted if not put in -- suspended until this Board determines what should now go forward, hearing the submissions that have been made by the Powerline Group counsel and ourselves.


I see the Board -- the Powerline counsel has indicated that it be held in either Milton or Orangeville.  We had asked that it be held in either Dufferin or Grey Counties, being midway.  Milton is at the end of one line, and Kincardine or Bruce is at the other end.  I don't think that having a hearing in Milton or Georgetown, which is very nearby, accommodates people who live nearly a hundred miles away.  I would suggest that it be in the centre.  


And I would indicate, I was involved in the hearings of necessity in 1978.  There was a school auditorium that was used and it was, I said, reasonably full most days during those hearings.  So I mean, in a public setting, I think the Board should make sure that it carries on its oral hearings in a setting where it is accessible to the majority of people and can still allow them to get home.  Ease of access, even if they're not there for a full day, for parts of days, whatever.  And I think it should be in the centre, as opposed to one or other ends of the line.


I'd asked about the cost.  I'm willing to reserve on costs until the 92 application.


But as far as access is concerned, I think access can only follow a locational decision.  I would submit that you can't grant interim access if you don't know where you're going to go to –- you don’t know what you're going to access.  It seems to me that you have to decide location first, then your other orders follow on that -- the heels of that.  And I would submit that if you were to rationalize the order of things, that that would be logical.


So that I think, from my clients' point of view, they want to know that location will be a topic that will be heard on the application under the leave-to-construct application, and also on the leave for early access, that location will be a topic that can be discussed.


And if not, why not?


Those are my submissions.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Fallis.  We'll take our morning break now until 11:25.  For your planning, that means that we'll probably have lunch at 1 o'clock.


--- Recess taken at 11:04 a.m.

--- On resuming at 11:31 a.m. 


PROCEDURAL MATTERS:


MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.  So parties supporting the motions of the two parties we've heard from?  Mr. Cowan?


MR. COWAN:  The Federation of Agriculture [inaudible]


MS. NOWINA:  And anyone else?


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Madam Chair, Pollution Probe in partial support, yes.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  We're looking for submissions on it, Mr. Klippenstein.  Did you plan on making a submission?


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Yes.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Mr. Cowan, did you want to go first?


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. COWAN: 


MR. COWAN:  If I may.  Thank you kindly.  The Federation of Agriculture is concerned for landowners, largely farmers in this area, of course.  Our view is that whatever route is taken, there will be farmers adversely affected. 


Our secondary view, and perhaps our dominant view in this instance, is that people, including farmers, have worked for years to have the laws of Ontario establish fair and open planning processes.


The Federation of Agriculture and many others have tried to participate in these processes over the years, with mixed success and mixed satisfaction, but it's been there at least to work in.


Much of this work may now seem for naught, as Ontario shifts to planning by expropriation.  We've heard that there are alternative routes that can be considered.  There are also alternatives of other kinds.  There are other routes, north or south.  There's underwater from Niagara to Toronto, in GTA.  There is, in fact, conservation.  There is load-shifting.  There's night storage, and there's generation within the GTA.  None of these options are considered anywhere in the process, and, in fact, the process for considering them seems to be further delayed.


The proposal is clearly the easiest for Hydro, but it is not clear that it is fair or reasonable or necessary.  We doubt that it can be fair if it is as rushed as it appears to be and gives no consideration to any of the alternatives I've mentioned, or the alternative routes and short shrift to the environmental assessment process.


With respect to reasonable or necessary, we can never know if it's reasonable or necessary if we do not first examine these other alternatives.  Reasonable and necessary are beyond our ken without first addressing these other things and, with respect, then, to the rights and interests of the 300-plus farmers on this route and possibly 500 others on some other route that hasn't been considered, if this need for power in Toronto, in the GTA, can be met by some of the other methods, and possibly by turning down the air conditioning, then all of this is unnecessary.  But we can only determine this if we revert back to the intended planning process and cease to plan by expropriation.  And that is really all we have to say at this time.  Thank you, kindly.  We do support both Mr. Fallis and Mr. Sperduti in their positions and in their efforts on behalf of their clients.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Cowan.  Mr. Klippenstein.


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


Pollution Probe supports the motion of my friends phrased as an adjournment request, although I wouldn't go so far as to support a full stay, but I don't understand that to be the key issue anymore.  And Pollution Probe would like to take a few minutes to make a few comments from a couple of broader policy points of view which I submit are, nevertheless, quite relevant to the specific landowner requests before you.


The broader public policy/public interest economic factors that Pollution Probe sees on a preliminary basis before you, I think, are quite important.  We don't know what the final numbers would be, but there is some specific numbers in the evidence so far which cause us great concern as to whether the project, despite being extremely expensive, is worth doing at all on an economic basis.  And I get that question -- and it's just a question right now, from Pollution Probe's point of view -- from the evidence as it already stands.


That question affects the overarching urgency, which seems to be partly driving things and which affects the landowners.  They feel, as I see it, a little bit under attack due to the alleged urgency.  And I want to suggest that there apparently is not a lot of urgency, either in terms of the need for the transmission line, or to phrase it another way, that there's a serious question that really needs to be examined, and therefore it is equally urgent that things slow down and have a closer look.


Basically, I want to take you, Madam Chair and members of the Panel, to the evidence which seems to suggest that this transmission line is not actually needed to carry any power.  Before I get to the specifics of that, the context is that this is a very, very expensive transmission line.  The capital cost is huge.  It's expected to be $635 million; in other words, another two-thirds of a billion dollars.  That number I get from Exhibit B, tab 4, schedule 2, page 1.


At the same time that it is very expensive, it's a money-loser on a big-time scale.  The net present value of this project is a negative $623 million, which is a number I get from Exhibit B, tab 4, schedule 3, page 1.  So not only is it hugely expensive; it is a huge money-loser.  That, in my submission, should cause pause and great concern.


Which brings me to the main point of my first submission, and for that I would ask if you would turn to a page or two pages of the evidence.  I've made copies for convenience, which may have been handed up, and this is the chart entitled "Summary of Discounted Cash Flow Calculations," from the evidence, and it's Exhibit B, tab 4, schedule 4, page 1 and 2 of 7.


MS. NOWINA:  Of which application, Mr. Klippenstein?


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  This is of EB-2007-0050, so...


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  As I say, I've --


MS. NOWINA:  The panel doesn't have copies yet.


MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, would it be helpful to have an independent exhibit number attached to that?


MS. NOWINA:  Especially since it's from the other proceeding, Mr. Millar, I think.


MR. MILLAR:  Exhibit KM1.6, Madam Chair.


EXHIBIT NO. KM1.6:  Chart entitled "Summary of 


DISCOUNTED CASH FLOW CALCULATIONS"

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  So this, Madam Chair, is a summary of the discounted cash flow calculations.  And I'll only be referring to one line, and that's near the top, under the heading at the left called “Revenue and Expense Forecast.”  And the next line down says "Load Forecast."


That line -- and you will see it starts out with a zero and continues as a zero -- starts approximately in the year 2012 and continues year by year to the end of the page.  And if you flip over the page, it continues, likewise, year by year all the way to the year 2036.


Now, that is, as I understand it, the anticipated additional revenue to be expected from this $635 million transmission line.  As you can see, it's zero.  Not only is it a total of zero, it is a zero in every single year.  So the expected additional revenue from this transmission line is nothing.  As I understand the logic and the math and the economics, it necessarily follows that the additional electricity to be expected to be transmitted over this line over what otherwise would occur is nothing.  In other words, this transmission line doesn't increase the actual carrying capacity of the overall system.  That's what that line of zeros means.


Now, as I said, that is Pollution Probe's concern right now, and it may be my friends can illuminate me as to some error in our logic, and we may be wrong -- I hope we're wrong in a way, but Pollution Probe wants to find out more.


But as the saying goes, I didn't make this up.  This is in the sworn testimony.


When I turn to the text accompanying this table, which is in -- and I'll just read you a few words -- from the evidence filed in EB-2007-0050, at Exhibit B, tab 4, schedule 3, page 3 of 4, the evidence says that:

"The transmission line results in zero incremental network load."


Which I understand to mean, as I said, no additional carrying of electricity over this situation without the line.


There’s an interesting sentence in the next sentence, that says:

"As noted above, the primary purpose and benefit of the project is to provide generation diversity and supports the government off-coal program, rather than to provide an overall capacity increase to the provincial transmission network."


Now, I don't want to be overly critical right off the mark, but I'm wondering if that's being a little disingenuous, because it says:  "The primary purpose and benefit is to provide generation diversity rather than an overall increase."  Well, when I look at zero, I see no net increase, and it appears to me that the only purpose of this line is diversity and security.


Now, if that is true, and it appears to be true, the purpose of this $635 million expenditure, which is losing $623 million, is not to increase the capacity of the system, it's simply to provide more security and reliability.


Now, if that's true, I have concerns -- Pollution Probe has concerns -- on a preliminary basis, that this line is going forward not with full, real understanding of what's going on here, either in the public or perhaps in this hearing room.  If this line is going on under those circumstances, it may well be -- one might ask whether this is one of the largest infrastructure boondoggles in recent Ontario history.


That, I think, is relevant to the specifics of this application because of the general context of urgency.  And of –- and we've heard eloquently from my friends about the landowner concerns, and what I'm saying here, based on the line of zeros, where is the urgency?  I say there's a different type of urgency.  It’s let's look at those zeros, which means we need to slow down and understand why there's that line of zeros.


So that would be my first submission about the economics.


Turning to the other half, then, of what this issue raises, in my respectful submission, arises from the other position, or supposed advantage, of the line.  In the sentence I just read to you, again:

"As noted above the primary purpose and benefit of the project is to provide generation diversity and support the government off-coal program."


Now, if -- and I'm going to say, if the only purpose of this line, because those lines -- that line of zeros tells me the only purpose of this line is security, then I have to ask whether it makes sense to start out putting it alongside an existing line.  If there's a tornado, it's going to hit the existing line and the new line.  If there's an ice storm, it's going to hit the existing line and the new line.  How does that increase reliability?


So I understand the difficulties and additional concerns about having an entirely new route, but I'm wondering whether there’s any logic at all to this line.  It is extremely expensive.  It is extremely money-losing, and I don't yet see any logic to it.


Now, and that connects directly to my friend's concerns about the timing of the procedures and highlights Pollution Probe's general policy concern about the Ontario Environmental Assessment Act being respected in terms of looking at alternative routes, because what I see here on the paper in front of me, the sworn testimony in front of me, is very little if any logic for this route, and it just highlights the importance of what my friend Mr. Sperduti said about respecting the assessment process and its requirements for an alternative route.


The result is, in conclusion, Madam Chair, that I think that on behalf of Pollution Probe it is worthwhile to adjourn the present steps for the reasons my friends have said and for the larger reasons which connect to them.  Now, perhaps my friends this morning can enlighten me about that line of zeros, and I'm always happy to be enlightened, but subject to that, my respectful submission is that the stay requested -- not the stay, I meant the adjournment requested -- is probably appropriate.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Klippenstein, if you are recommending adjournment, when would you suggest the proceeding start again?


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Well, this connects to the other motion of Pollution Probe in the other proceeding, which is Pollution Probe is requesting an expert to look at precisely this.  So that is part of the answer.  In other words, there should be a sufficient adjournment so that Pollution Probe can retain and, I guess, deliver written testimony from an expert who is experienced and able to enlighten us.


Now, I know some of my friends for some of the organizations have said Pollution Probe doesn't need to have an additional expert, we've already studied this.


MS. NOWINA:  Yeah, and let's take that up later.  So, because the possibilities in listening to your submission, in my mind, were you to adjourn until after the EA or you -- when the alternative routes would be discussed, or your recommendation -- what I hear, then, is your recommendation is adjourn until there is time for development of further evidence in the leave-to-construct application.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Certainly the second part of what you say is our submission.  In other words, an adjournment to allow further evidence.


For the first part, I don't have a specific suggestion with respect to the EA except for this.  When my friend was making submissions this morning, it occurred to me I am not sure that the Board has ever approved a leave-to-construct before the terms of reference have been even produced.  That, in my mind, is at least a preliminary threshold, and my friends, you know, probably, and with some justification, suggest even farther than that.  I don't have a detailed further submission on that.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Thank you, Mr. Klippenstein.


MR. RUPERT:  Mr. Klippenstein, just focussing on the economic issues that you've raised, I’m just trying to understand what we're supposed to do with that at this stage.  This is a very early stage of the process.  There’s been no witness panels, no cross-examination, no exploration of these issues in any kind of a hearing, yet you're using those two to say I want to stop the whole process right now. I’m just wondering what is the –- what is it about those two things that you believe would entitle you to stopping a proceeding.  Presumably there are lots of leave-to-constructs going on all the time where one party or the other may have some difficulty with the project and they don't ask for it typically to stop in its tracks.  What is it about these two things economically that you believe requires and allows the stoppage of this process right now?


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Okay.  Well, first of all, my reference to the economics and my concerns about the heart of the economics are, I suppose you could say, a response to the urgency we hear coming from the proponents and the supporters.  So it's a response to say, I guess, to the Board:  Maybe you don't need to be quite as worried as the message that you're hearing suggests.  In other words, if this project is not actually going to increase the capacity of the transmission system at all, then to the guy on the street or gal on the street, it makes sense to say:  Well, if we're not needing this power through this line in X year, because the capacity is already there, more or less, then I don't see the rush.


If it was the case -- and I think maybe there's been a little bit of a message or impression left, and I'm not sure to what extent that's intended or not -- that we need this line because we'll be without power.  Now, I sort of hear that, but I'm not quite sure where it comes from.  When I read this, I say: Wait a minute.  This isn't going to increase the power supply system at all.  So where's that message coming from?


And I can understand how the Board might in its responsibility to the public say: If we need this line to increase the power supply, we got to take that into account.  That's not alone a reason to rush, but we got --


So I'm saying, I don’t -- sometimes you got to say, you know: Does the emperor have no clothes?


MR. RUPERT:  What are these points that you don't feel it's appropriate for you to get into in an actual hearing on section 92, and have it out at that point?  What is it about these particular points that cause you to say let’s stop it now, as opposed to get into this whole issue and explore it in a full section 92 hearing?


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Well, that's for the Board to decide, and I don’t -– I didn't apply for a stay.  I'm just saying an adjournment seems to make sense.  I mean, not only -- I mean, this is a motion by the landowners, so it's their motion that -- and the merits of their concerns that are before you, not Pollution Probe's general concerns.


So I'm saying, if you have their concerns as individual farmers and landowners -- and I heard some pretty -- you know, some concerns today.  I'm saying, add this into the mix.  And in a way it's a way to say, from our point of view: We don't know the numbers, but given what we have, you can give these folks some breathing room.  And I -- you know, Mr. Sperduti made some good legal arguments, I think, about the relationship between the Act, some technical arguments.  And I may say he may be right, but even to the extent you have some discretion, for the landowners’ sake, you can say: We don't have to rush unless my friends can come up with some explanation of those zeros.


So that's partly why in this particular motion I'm saying that.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Klippenstein.  Anyone else have submissions to make supporting the motions?


All right.  Mr. Nettleton.


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. NETTLETON:


MR. NETTLETON:  Thank you, Madam Chair and Members of the Board.  It's a pleasure to be here this morning, if it's still morning.


MS. NOWINA:  Is your mic on, sir? 


MR. NETTLETON:  My green light is on.  Is that --


MS. NOWINA:  Is it?  It’s just not very loud.


MR. NETTLETON:  I'll speak up.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.


MR. NETTLETON:  Again, it's a pleasure to be here this morning. 


Madam Chair, the submissions of Hydro One will address the section 98 application first, and if my comments overlap with the submissions of my friends on the 92, please take them in that regard.


I think it's perhaps wise for us to step back for a minute and realize what this motion is and why we're here today and what we're here today to discuss and what we're not here today to discuss.


The motion is essentially seeking a denial of the Board to proceed forward with the application that my client has filed; that is to say, the early access application, and, indeed, the leave-to-construct application.  They are seeking to have this -- the Board consider the application, stop.


It's not a motion, in my respectful submission, Madam Chair, for issues relating to the substance of the applications to be considered.  My friend has indicated that the line of zeros is of great concern to him.  It may very well be, but I'm certainly not here to speak to my client's evidence.  That's precisely why we need a hearing and precisely why you need to have that hearing happen sooner, rather than later, so those issues of concern can be addressed by the parties that are sponsoring that evidence.  That's what hearings are for.  That's why we need a public and open process, to allow the exploration of evidence, and in my respectful submission, we don't get there if we don't proceed forward and have a hearing on these matters.


So I don't think it's appropriate for my friend to be suggesting that that is a good reason -- because he has an outstanding query of how the evidence should be interpreted -- to slow down the process.  If for nothing else, quite the contrary is the case; that these questions should be addressed, and the process that the Board should be thinking about is one that will accommodate those types of concerns.


Procedural Order 1, in my respectful submission, respecting the issue of -- let's start with the 92, the issues that my friend has raised -- very much allows for exploration of issues that are appropriate as it concerns the section 92 application.


With respect to the 98 application, the 98(1.1) application, the access-to-land application, what we've heard today is that there is a great deal of interest and concern about things such as the purpose of the early access application, the need to get on to the lands, and also, the types of terms and conditions upon which access should be granted.


Well, those are the very issues, in my respectful submission, Madam Chair, that you have set out in your Procedural Order No. 1, and so there seems to be a joinder of issue to proceed forward on that basis.


In fact, what it seems to be is that what we may be able to accomplish here today is the lack of any need for an Issues Day.  If we're all in agreement as to what the issues are, let's proceed forward and get going on these applications.


And that's a theme that my client is very concerned about.  They have stated as much in the applications, and that is timing.  There is a great deal of concern that Hydro One Networks have with respect to the timing of the application process that's been established for these applications.


My client has indicated in their early access application of the concern relating to data collection and the potential loss of data collection for the year 2007.    If there are ways to improve or make more efficient or expedite the consideration of the early access application, so be it, but we can certainly live with the process that the Board has set down in the Procedural Order No. 1 for the early access application.  It just is an observation that there is -- there seems to be joinder of the types of issues and the issues that the Board has already set down.  And so we can proceed forward, perhaps, without that step.


It's something to consider.


The early access application, Madam Chair, is just that.  It's an application for Hydro One and its agents to obtain access to lands for the purposes related to fixing the site of the work.  That is what section 98(1.1) of the Ontario Energy Board Act states.  It states that that has to be the purpose, and the Act clearly contemplates the timing of which that type of application can be made.  That application can be made only after a leave-to-construct application has been filed.  That, in my submission, is the only prerequisite that governs when an applicant such as Hydro One can make application for that early access.


That condition has been fulfilled.


Now, my friends have discussed the issues that they have respecting the timing of an Environmental Assessment Act proceeding, the timing in terms of reference in respect of the environmental assessment, and indeed the timing of the integrated system plan that Ontario Power Authority is responsible for.


All of those things are of interest, but they have no bearing, in my respectful submission, to the relief that's before you today.  What's before you today is a motion to delay or defer the consideration of the early access application.


In order for those matters to have bearing, they would have to be demonstrated as having some relationship to the legislation, and in particular your governing legislation, and section 98(1.1).  There would have to be clear and express reference to the fact that an early access application would not be allowed if those types of things were outstanding.  And by that I mean outstanding environmental assessment, outstanding terms of reference, and an outstanding system plan, integrated system plan.


But that's clearly not what is contemplated on plain and ordinary reading of the Act.  My friend Mr. Fallis has indicated that perhaps expropriation proceedings should happen before locations are set.  That's not contemplated in the Act.


What's contemplated under section 99 of the Ontario Energy Board Act is that, in order for the expropriation step to first take place, leave actually has to be granted.  That's what the legislation contemplates.  But we're not there.  That's four steps down the road.  We're at the very beginning of the process.  And the simple question right now for you, in my respectful submission, to consider, Madam Chair and Board Members, is, is the early access application complete?  Is it in a form that allows the Board and allows parties to consider the issues that have been set down?


In our respectful submission, it is.


My clients are very happy to proceed forward on an expedited schedule to have these issues considered.  Timing is of significant concern to Hydro One so that the remaining information that can be collected this year can be used for the other purposes that relate to its leave-to-construct application and also the Environmental Assessment that's associated with that application.


Now, my friend Mr. Sperduti has referred you to section 12.2 of the Environmental Assessment Act.  And I thought it was quite curious that he should refer to section 12.2(2).  And you’ll recall that that section, Madam Chair, suggested -- the argument that he suggested was that that section created a bar, if you will, from you approving or, I guess, in these circumstances even considering, an application that's been made pursuant to section 92 without there first being an Environmental Assessment approval.


Well, Madam Chair, we know that's just simply not the case.  That issue has been raised before you and before your Board before, and certainly I can refer you to two decisions where that very issue was raised.  The first is EB-2004-0476, and EB-2000 -- I'm having a technical issue here.  I will get back to you with that other decision.  It's an earlier decision than 2004.  It's a 2006 decision dealing with the Hurontario reinforcement project.


In both cases, Madam Chair, the issue of jurisdiction over consideration of matters relating to the environmental assessment was contemplated and it was determined that the Board has no jurisdiction over Environmental Assessment.  That's not what's contemplated under section 96 of the legislation.  But the Board has dealt with it in a very pragmatic and reasonable way.
 And that is, by imposing a condition to any approval that ensures that leave-to-construct cannot happen before other approval, other required approvals and permits are first obtained.


And that's a very reasonable and pragmatic way of dealing with the issue.  It's reasonable and pragmatic for applicants such as Hydro One to proceed forward with very large projects such as the one that's before you, in a sequenced manner.  There are a lot of moving parts to an application such as this.  It's reasonable and practical that those -- that parties, all parties, respect and understand that there are many different approvals required and that they can't all come at once or in a straight line.


Now, section 12.2 of the Environmental Assessment Act, (1), should be considered for the proposition of whether early access applications are, as my friend suggests, in contrast with this scheme.  I refer you to, in fact, section 12.2(1)(c), where there is express contemplation that before a proponent receives approval to proceed -- and approval here is under the Environmental Assessment Act:

"The person may prepare a feasibility study and engage in research in connection with the undertaking."


Well, that seems reasonable.  That's entirely consistent with what Environmental Assessment is for.  It's intended for a planning purpose.  It's intended to help the development process.  And that's exactly what section 98(1).1 is intended to as well, is to allow an applicant to  get on to lands that are -- have been identified as potentially being affected by a proposed project, and to allow further investigations and work to be conducted to fix the site of the proposed work. So in my respectful submission, Madam Chair, there is no inconsistency with the legislative scheme.  If anything, the Environmental Assessment Act, section 12.2(1)(c) makes it clear that early access is very much within the public interest and public policy of Environmental Assessment.


What my friends have not described to you in their motions, Madam Chair, is anything tangible in the main of the application to suggest that there is some deficiency, that there is some part of the application that hasn't been considered.


My friend Mr. Fallis has suggested that there’s a need for the application to include a much wider corridor, but that's not a requirement for early access.  Ultimately it's up to the applicant to make their case to you.  And the applicant in this case is Hydro One, and the applicant in this case has chosen what they wish to rely upon in order to meet the onus which they have for you to ultimately reach a determination under section 96(2) of whether the leave-to-construct application is in the public interest.


And similarly, with respect to the early access application, my client has also relied on the information that it is seeking to do so for purposes of obtaining orders under section 98(1.1).  There isn't some specification that says Hydro One must apply for a corridor that's 3 kilometres wide when they make an application pursuant to section 98(1.1).  That would be unreasonable, in my respectful submission.


That would put a very heavy onus and very burdensome onus on an applicant when they are carrying out a large linear-disturbance type project, in order for them to frame the application that they intend to make, both to you and to other regulators.


So the process that's contemplated before your -- under your legislation, Madam Chair, is one which allows the applicant to make their case.  The flexibility that's offered pursuant to section 98(1.1) is one which contemplates some level of work that the applicant is required to carry out.  That's why it says that there’s a prerequisite that the applicant has made a leave-to-construct application.


My friends haven't shown that there is some deficiency in the leave-to-construct application filing.  My friends have interest -- have raised significant interest in the substance of that application.  Mr. Fallis has suggested that location is everything.  Well, the location has been a matter that my client has represented and shown in the application that they've filed.  Location in that context is everything, and what the purpose of the early access application is, Madam Chair, is to ensure that additional work and more information about that proposed location is gathered in a timely and efficient manner.


So, as it concerns my submissions generally, there really -- in my respectful submission, there really is nothing before you to suggest that there is merit or weight to the arguments that my friends have made to claim that there is a need for an adjournment or a need for a stay.  The application before you should and can proceed forward, and it should proceed forward in a timely and efficient manner, and given the amount of time and where we are at now, in terms of the year, if there is any way that we can expedite the consideration of the issues that all of the parties that you've heard from today have raised -- namely, purpose and terms and conditions of access. Hydro One urges the Board to see if there are ways to improve on the timeline that exists.


In other words, we're trying to narrow the time, as opposed to broaden it.


My friend Mr. Sperduti had indicated early in his submissions that there was some concern about apprehension of bias, that if you were to proceed forward with the early access application, that that would demonstrate some form of apprehension of bias.  Well, in my respectful submissions, Madam Chair, nothing could be further from the truth.  The legislation contemplates applications coming forward to you, pursuant to section 98(1.1), for purposes related to obtaining access to lands for the purpose of fixing the site of the work.  That does not suggest in any way, shape, or form that access predetermines the section 92 requirements and the application that's before you.  The purpose of access is to carry out further studies to make sure that the siting and the proposed routes and lands and information that has to be gathered for other purposes, including environmental assessment, including land -- property appraisal and surveying work that's being carried out, can be done in an efficient and timely manner.  It doesn't suggest that those purposes cause there to be some apprehension of bias as to whether or not the project should be approved at all.


Now, my friend Mr. Sperduti had indicated that -- made reference to the agreements.  He used the term "agreement" several times in his submission.  And I think there's again a misunderstanding as to the nature of the agreements that Hydro One has filed in respect of its early access application.  And I think that that, too, is something that needs to be discussed, perhaps in the hearing process.  But be clear:  The amendment that was made to the early access application clearly articulated the purpose of that agreement and the purpose of that agreement is not as Mr. Sperduti had represented here to you today.  It is only intended for access to the site locations; it's not in relation to some form of agreement that Hydro One is contemplating obtaining with every landowner.


What we're doing here today, Madam Chair, and what we want to proceed down the path with on this early access application, is an order from the Board that sets out the terms and conditions of access that will be applicable in an open and transparent and uniform manner for all affected landowners where the site of this proposed project is going to be carried out.


What we're suggesting, Madam Chair, in doing it this way, there is openness and transparency in respect of all of the conditions that will govern how Hydro One comes onto parties' lands for that purpose.


Mr. Fallis indicated an interesting new twist on what he saw the process being as it concerns location orders, and it's not my intention, Madam Chair and Members, to repeat our submissions.  They address this point of -- perhaps of creative interpretations of the legislative scheme or perhaps changes that Mr. Fallis believes are appropriate.  But in any event, it's not the process that applies under the legislative scheme that exists here today.


Perhaps to be helpful, what we understand the process to be once early access is granted is that that information gathered is going to facilitate the Environmental Assessment process and the work that is going to be done in respect of that process, both from an environmental and socio-economic perspective.  And so once that process is carried out, once that information is taken into account, there may very well be the need for variations to detailed routing perspectives that arise after that information has been considered and taken into account.  But, again, we're not even there yet.  We're trying to get onto the lands so that we can make those determinations.


Once that information -- and presuming that there may be some sort of detailed route amendment.  There was obviously concern expressed by my friends of:  How would that affect your process?  How would that affect the section 92 process?  And wouldn't there be need for, you know, further reconsiderations and further process before this Board?


And the answer to that question, Madam Chair, is there could very well be, but that's not unreasonable.  What's unreasonable is to set down a route and to set down an Environmental Assessment of a specific line and to come forward and have that etched in stone that cannot be changed.  The Board's process is intended to be flexible.  The section 92 process is intended to be one which considers the best evidence that's before the Board today, and if there are changes down the road with new information, that the Board takes that into account in consideration as that information is known.


That's all the more reason for this Board to consider the application for early access in a timely and effective way.  We need that information.  And if there are slight adjustments that have to be made, the applicant always has the option to make amendments to their application, and they can be assessed at the time.


But it's not appropriate now, today, to suggest the mere potential for some sort of detailed route consideration or change to drive the whole process to a screaming halt and not allow the best evidence that's on the record today from being heard and considered.
My friend Mr. Fallis indicated the need for maps, and my friend Mr. Sperduti made reference to the fact that there had been an absence of public consultation.  Well, that's just not the case, Madam Chair, and public consultation process has been described in the application.  In my respectful submission, if there had been a lack of public consultation, if there had been no public consultation, if there hadn't been Public Information Centres carried out by Hydro One, that may very well be good ground and reason for the Board to say this application is deficient.  This application is deficient because you haven't carried out what we would expect you to carry out before filing an application to us.  But that's just not the case.  Now, Mr. Fallis indicated some concern about the level of detail of maps that were provided and available.  And again, Madam Chair, it strikes me that that type of issue  -- I can't get into it; I'm just a lawyer -- but that type of issue is one that is best considered during a hearing process.  And Mr. Fallis has indicated that that's a concern.  Great.  Let's have a process so that we can get those issues identified and addressed as soon as possible.  But it's not reason to stop the bus.  It’s not reason to stop the process.  It's all the more reason to have the process move forward in a timely and efficient manner.  There was some discussion that -- and the request that's been made of you, that the process is one that should take the form of an oral hearing.  Mr. Fallis indicated, I think in respect of the 92 process, he would also like to see and know in advance who the witnesses are going to be and what areas of expertise that they would be speaking to.  And I -- in my respectful submission, I think that Hydro One's accommodating.  I think if there was an understanding as to what and who the witnesses are in advance, that would be something that we could take into account.  But we're not down the road far enough yet to learn and understand what that process should be.  But I believe it's something that my client can take into account.


But as it relates to the motion that's before you today, of stopping the process because there isn't knowledge of who the witnesses are, and we haven't even got to the intervenor process, intervenor IR process, yet -- in my respectful submission it's just simply not an acceptable or reasonable request.


I think where the other element of the oral hearing was, was in respect of the 98 process.  And, Madam Chair, again, the concern that my client has is to ensure whatever process is developed is one that minimizes the regulatory time requirements for you to come to and reach a decision.  The issue that we have with respect to an oral hearing is whether that's going to cause greater delay, and quite frankly, we cannot allow that to be the outcome.  In our respectful submission, the issues that the parties have raised are ones that can be dealt with through the process that you've established for the section 98(1.1), the interrogatory process.


The issues are essentially going to be, in my respectful submission, as Mr. Sperduti had articulated:  How much notice?  What are your terms and conditions of indemnification?  What about crop loss damages?  What about tile drainage damages?  Those are good questions.  Your process contemplates allowing those good questions to be asked.  If there's a way to facilitate and allow that question-and-answer process to be more expedited and more efficient, Hydro One is all for that.


But the timeline as is, the timeline as is, is one that Hydro One supports and can live with.  But if there's ways to improve it, we're always trying to find better ways and more efficiencies.


There was some discussion about venue and time line.  I won't speak to timetable because I think I've covered that to some degree.  With respect to venue, my experience, Madam Chair, in other forums is that the Internet is a great tool and it can be a great tool.  It's quite common for other regulatory authorities such as the National Energy Board to rely on Internet web broadcasting.  The joint review panel proceedings in the far north that I'm involved in have used Internet web broadcasting as well, in several dialects.  It's a very effective tool.


It's perhaps an observation that I would make that you may wish to consider to facilitate a process that is going to involve linear disturbances in small communities and a way for the public to understand and learn of what the process is about.


My friend with -- representing the Ontario Federation of Agriculture indicated support for the view that the application before you is deficient.  It strikes me that this argument is based upon, again, the belief that there is some requirement that the Environmental Assessment process occur in advance, and in our respectful submission that's just simply not the case.


The concern that my friend also raised was related to the planning process, and whether the planning process that exists under the current legislative scheme is one that could be improved upon.  That strikes me as an issue best considered by the Legislature and the legislators.  It's not one that should influence your decision in respect to the matter that's before you, namely, whether or not this early access application should proceed forward and be considered in a timely way.


My final submissions, Madam Chair, relate to my friends with Pollution Probe, and, again the suggestion that things can slow down; that there is no reason to speed the process up, in fact, lines of zeros suggest that things should slow down, that matters that relate to tornados intercepting existing linear disturbances and hydro lines are not matters which require your timely consideration, that they can slow down, particularly in respect of a new line that's proposed to be adjacent to that corridor.


Those are not what I would respectfully submit to be compelling reasons to slow a project down.  They demonstrate reasonable questions the parties have.  What's required is a forum to allow that type of process and those types of issues to be considered.  Your process as it relates to the 92 and, indeed, the 91 -- the 98(1.1) are processes that will achieve that objective.


The issues that you've set down in Procedural Order 1 for both the 92 and the 98(1.1) are the right issues.  They comport with the limitations found in section 96(2).  They comport with what the requirements are in respect of section 98(1.1).  Thus they do not take into account extraneous considerations, matters that are beyond your jurisdiction.


In summary, Madam Chair, Board Members, Hydro One respectfully requests that the motions be denied as applied for, and that the process move forward in a timely and expedient way so that the early access applications can be heard and considered, and that hopefully there will be time left in the 2007 year for data collection exercises to take place.


Subject to any questions, those are my submissions.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.


[Board Panel confers]


MS. NOWINA:  We don't have any questions.  Is there a preferred order of proceeding for the remainder?  No?  Mr. Moran, I see you moving forward.


MR. MORAN:  I'm happy to go next, Madam Chair.


MS. NOWINA:  All right. We should do that. 

Submissions by Mr. Moran:

MR. MORAN:  Madam Chair and Members of the Panel, APPrO is very concerned about the potential for increased delay, which is going to be the natural result of the relief that's being sought by the moving parties.


Let me say at the outset, from APPrO's perspective, we've looked at both the section 98 application and the section 92, and based on how the statute is set up, I mean, there's obviously a relationship between those two things.  So my submissions are really based on the fact that this is an issue relating to both of them.  I mean, recognizing that the section 98 application is something that is needed -- is seeking relief that's needed before the leave-to-construct -- there's still a relationship in the statute between the two applications.


As I understand the moving parties, they seem to be proposing or suggesting that there's a requirement for two things to happen before the Board can do anything; that there's a requirement for the IPSP process to take place before you can do anything on this -- in these applications, and that there's a requirement for the EA process to occur and be completed before you can do anything with the applications that are before you.  I’d like to start with the IPSP issue first.  I mean, it's clear when you look at the statute under the Electricity Act, there's a requirement for the OPA to produce an Integrated Power System Plan, and it's subject to the requirements set out in a regulation, Ontario Regulation 424/04, which indicates that the OPA is required to file one every three years, but most importantly what it says is that it's required to cover a 20-year period from the date of submission of that plan.


So it's a forward-looking document, and it looks forward from whatever date it ends up getting submitted.


There's absolutely nothing to be found in either the Electricity Act or the Ontario Energy Board Act or the Regulations that would lead you to conclude that there's a requirement that an electricity project has to wait for an IPSP to occur, or, for that matter, for an electricity project to be even included in an IPSP.  I'm sure that the folks at the OPA are capable of identifying every possibility over the next 20 years, but it might be that they may not think of every possible project that might occur over the next 20 years, and it might be quite possible that there's people out there that will come forward with projects that are not going to be identified in the IPSP process.


So having said that, what you have now is applications by Hydro One, but what you don't have is an IPSP.


So on that basis, it's my respectful submission that there's absolutely no basis for suggesting that you have to put these applications on hold pending the filing of an IPSP, and particularly when, as the OPA has pointed out to you, that in any event this project is not one of the projects that they're going to identify as the kinds of projects that need to be pursued, because they've recognized that it needs to be dealt with earlier rather than later and shouldn't be awaiting the outcome of the IPSP process.


The other thing, in my submission, is to keep in mind, Madam Chair, that the purpose of the IPSP, which is really to provide the OPA with the context it needs for its procurement processes.  Again, when you look at the Electricity Act, you will see that in section 25.31 that that's what ultimately the purpose of an IPSP is for.  I'm sure you're going to hear a lot more detailed submissions on that in due course if and when an IPSP actually gets filed, but it's -- at this stage, that's what it's for.


In the meantime, what you have is an application from an applicant, and, you know, the ordinary rules of administrative law suggest that, you know, the Board ought to be proceeding with those applications as diligently and as fairly as possible.  And, as I say, there's absolutely nothing that would say that you can't do that simply because the OPA has a requirement to file an IPSP.


It's clear that a number of agencies have clearly identified the need for this project, and I don't want to get into the merits of whether that need is justified, because that's not necessary or, in fact, perhaps not even appropriate for the purposes of these motions.  The fact of the matter is that you have, in the record before you, a number of documents that clearly set out the need for the project, and in the absence of any competing documentation, it's appropriate for the Board to take those statements for -- reflecting the urgent need for the project as at least prima facie facts, subject to the hearings that have to take place to determine if, in fact, that is the case, in order to be able to proceed with disposing of the motions that are before you.


So you have a number of statements that say: Here's the need.  Nothing has been contradicted in any way whatsoever by the moving parties.  The OPA has clearly identified the need for the project.  I've given you a number of specific references in the written submission that I filed previously.  The IESO has clearly said the same thing.  And, as I indicated, the OPA has said that when it does file its IPSP, it's not going to be seeking anything in its IPSP approval relating to this project.  This project is a pre-IPSP project.


There is a theme that's been running through the moving parties' submissions that's based on the use of the word "prejudice", and to use that word several times.


Again, for the purpose of this motion, it's important to keep in mind that "prejudice" in the context of a proceeding like this is a special concept.  When you have a matter before you, there's a number of competing interests in any matter that's before you, and in any matter that you decide, you're going to balance those competing interests in a way that reflects your view of what's in the public interest.


And there will be people who have interests whose interests may not be as successful as those of others, but that's not what's meant by "prejudice."  The fact that you might not get your way in a proceeding doesn't mean that you're suffering from prejudice, as that concept is known in law.  It's really more a concept of whether you have the opportunity to participate and to bring your issues forward and have the Board understand them.  And what the parties clearly haven't identified to you is anything that really amounts to actual prejudice.  They are seeking an adjournment because they want certain things to happen, but they haven't demonstrated why those things can't happen in the normal course of the proceedings.


And certainly, regardless of any impact that the result might have on anybody who's involved in this proceeding, the fact that that impact is not something that you want to see happen doesn't amount to a reason why the hearing cannot proceed.


"Delay" is going to mean that there will be delay in developing new wind generation in the Bruce area.  Again, that's in the application material.  It's not contradicted in any fashion by the moving parties in their materials.


The OPA has identified with the standing offer program that there are 650 MW of wind generation in the queue, but there's a moratorium.  They're not signing contracts with the generators because it's not clear how that generation is going to be fed into the transmission system without this project.


If this project never gets built, then I guess those generators are out of luck.  If this project gets delayed, then that will be a form of prejudice to the interest of generators.  It's an example of the difference between the potential outcomes and the effect of delay.


Again, it's clear, based on the materials that were filed with the application that you're looking at, that we're looking at a two-year gap between the time that the project is needed and the time it will be actually constructed.  It's needed by 2009.  On the proposed schedule, it won't be in service until 2011.  And that's with a timely approval process, with everything running concurrently, the EA side as well as the OEB side.  So that means that at the earliest, with a perfect process as envisaged -- and it's never going to be perfect; I think we all understand that - there will be at least a two-year gap.


Landowners have legitimate interests in this proceeding, and so do generators.  In fact, the generators and some of the landowners will have concurrent interests because some of that wind generation is going to go on land that will be purchased or subject to an easement, negotiated with those landowners.


So there's not an automatic division in terms of positions here.  It's important to remember that regardless of the landowners who might come forward with respect to the transmission line, they’re not the only ones who have an interest in the outcome of this proceeding.


So the concern that APPrO has is that the two-year gap could turn into a three-year or a four-year gap; that the moratorium on the standing offer program could continue indefinitely; that people who are interested in investing in Ontario to develop the wind generation potential in the Bruce area might decide that there's other places they can go with that; and that it's not made available to Ontario as early as it could be based on a more timely process.


I want to turn now to the relationship of this process and -- of this process to the EA process.


There isn't any authority for the proposition that you've heard from the moving parties that the commencement of your process must await the outcome of the EA process.  The only restriction that you will find in the Environmental Assessment Act that affects what you do is set out in section 12.2 of the Environmental Assessment Act and your attention has already been brought to this. 


You're not allowed to issue, in fact, no regulator in Ontario is allowed to issue -- an effective approval until the EA process has been completed.  And in the context of this proceeding, what that means is that Hydro One has to propose in -- and it's required to do public consultation on this under the Act -- it has to propose to the Minister a terms of reference for its Environmental Assessment, get approval for that and then proceed with its Environmental Assessment in accordance with those terms of reference, and then submit the Environmental Assessment to the Minister for approval.


So, when the Minister decides that an approval of the Environmental Assessment is warranted, at that stage, then, the other agencies in Ontario are permitted to provide effective approvals.


And if you look back at how the Board has dealt with this issue over the last number of years, there's really two approaches, and they’re variations on a theme.


Back when Sithe was seeking leave-to-construct for its transmission line for the Goreway project, during the course of the leave-to-construct proceeding in front of the Ontario Energy Board, it became clear that there was a conflict between the proposed route that Sithe was seeking approval of and the proposed route of a busway that was going to happen on Thorold Highway 407 land.  And as a result of that it became necessary for Sithe to consider moving one of the transmission towers and the route was going to be changed somewhat.  And that meant that under the EA process they had to do some -– a little bit more consultation, they had to prepare an addendum to the report that they had already prepared and then, once that process was finished, when they were in a position to issue a notice of completion.  Because they weren't seeking EA approval, they were seeking to qualify for exemption that exists under the Electricity Projects Act, although nothing turns on that particularly for the Environmental Assessment Act because is it a prohibition which still applies if you’re not exempt until you're exempt.  So the Board waited.  It didn't issue its order.  It indicated orally to the proponent that from the perspective of the Board and its mandate, it was satisfied with what was proposed, but it was not going to issue its final order until they could -- until the Board got evidence that, in fact, the EA process was complete.


And which Sithe did in due course; they filed their notice of completion, and then the Board issued its order.


Subsequently, in some of the leave-to-construct applications that have come along after that, the Board has issued a conditional approval.  So it's not effective unless you have come through the EA process, and in this case that would mean having an EA approval.


So that's what the Board has done in the past, and in my submission, as long as there's no effective approval issued, then the Board is perfectly entitled to proceed with its process, recognizing that it is prohibited under the Environmental Assessment Act from issuing an effective approval.


And that takes me, then, to the suggestion that the section 98 application cannot be processed at all, that you can't issue the approval that's being requested for interim access until the EA process is complete.  In my submission, that submission is completely wrong.  It's not supported by the actual wording of the statute itself, and nor is it supported by the wording of section 98 under the Ontario Energy Board Act.  And it's important to look specifically at what the actual prohibition is in the Environmental Assessment Act, and you've been provided with a copy of section 12.2.


First of all, before I take you to the specific provision, the question is: What is the undertaking?  Well, it's clear, the undertaking is a transmission line project.  That's the undertaking.  And that process has to go through the Environmental Assessment process.


If you look at section 12.2(2), the prohibition is limited to:

"Authorizations that are required at law to proceed with the undertaking."


It's not a general prohibition against any kind of authorization related to the project.  It's what's required to proceed with the undertaking.


So, in that context, what do you have in front of you under section 98?  You have an application for interim access.  That means people are going to go on to land and then they're going to leave it.  Nothing's going to get built.  No undertaking is being proceeded with. It's gathering information, nothing more and nothing less than that.


Therefore, the idea that somehow you're prohibited from issuing a section 98 interim access order for people to gather information is prohibited because, under section 12.2(2) it simply can't stand because it's not going to give Hydro One any authorization to proceed with the undertaking.  They could go in.  They could get all the information they want.  They could leave.  They could come through the EA process, and the OEB process, and not get any approvals.  They still have to get the approvals to actually proceed with the undertaking, which are quite separate from the interim access that's being sought.


And if there was any doubt about that, then you should have regard to what you see in the subsection before that, under 12.2(1), and particularly sub-clause B, which says that one of the things you can do before you receive approval to proceed with an undertaking is acquire property or rights in property in connection with the undertaking.


Now, an authorization from this Board allowing you to go on to somebody's land sounds to me like something that fits exactly within what the Environmental Assessment Act envisages being the kind of thing that is appropriate to proceed with prior to proceeding with the undertaking.


So it’s import -- that gives you some guidance about the difference between proceeding on an undertaking and some other activities.  You can buy land, you can acquire rights in land, you can engage in research, when you look at paragraph C, and you can do a few other things that are set out in that process.


So these are not considered, right on the face of the legislation, as things that constitute proceeding with the undertaking.  Therefore, your authorization to Hydro One to proceed with some of those things cannot be considered to be an authorization to proceed with the undertaking, because clearly, under 12.2(1), those things are not -- are things that are appropriate –- are considered appropriate for a person to proceed with prior to proceeding with the undertaking itself.


One of the things that is evident in the argument that you've heard today of the moving parties is that they want to lump everything together so they take the construction of the project and the interim access and the EA process, and they sort of mash it all together into a single thing, and then make their arguments that there's a whole bunch of things you can't do yet because of the EA process.


And given that, in my submission it's important to tease some of that stuff out and separate it back out again, because the statute is what it is.  It's not open to the moving parties to take a whole bunch of different statutory provisions and then sort of make them all part of the same thing.  That's not how the legislation has been written.


So what does the OEB Act actually say?  It says that if I want to build a transmission line, I have to get leave-to-construct and I have to apply under section 92.  So that's one thing.  So you've got an application for that.


And what's envisaged in such an application?  Well, clearly what the Board looks at in a leave-to-construct application is basically:  Where are you planning to build it and what are the economic implications of building it because you want to put it into rate base once you build it?  I mean, that's really what it comes down to.


So the question is, on the "where" question, does there have to be a precise location proposed for a section 92 application?  Well, clearly not.  I mean, the Board never gets a precise metres and bounds description of where a transmission line is going to go, or a pipeline, for that matter.


And we know that because when you look at section 94, which sets out some of the requirements for a section 92 application, there's a requirement for a map, and what it says is that that map has to show:



"The general location of the proposed work."


And then one of the things, I guess, that happens with that map is you get it attached to the Notice of Application that the Board publishes so that people have, for the purposes of notice and understanding that, somewhere in the general vicinity of where they live, there might or might not be a transmission line that's coming through.


And then we go and look at section 99.  Section 99 says that a person who gets leave-to-construct can apply for expropriation.  Well, at that point, I guess you do have to know precisely what land you want because the Board has to determine whether, in fact, you should be permitted to expropriate that land.


And in fact, if you look at the statute, that's exactly what it says:

"An application for expropriation must include a plan and description of the land required."


So, again, there's a separation in the statute between what you would do for the purposes of expropriation if you're applying, and what you would do for leave-to-construct when you apply to that.


And not only that, but for a section 99 expropriation you have to:

"Provide the names of all the persons having an apparent interest in the land."


Which makes sense.


And then, recognizing that you've got -- first of all, you have to -- you have the leave application, and you can't expropriate unless you have leave, but recognizing that you need very detailed information for the expropriation, we have section 98.  And section 98 allows for "an interim order granting access to land" to get, basically, the kind of information that you would need to provide for an expropriation process.


And again, look at how the statute is set up.  I can't apply under section 98 unless I already have a leave-to-construct application in front of you.  So you have to have the 92 application, and that's really the only statutory threshold or precondition that is required for section 98.


But I can't get expropriation until I get leave.  So somehow those three things have to be dealt with the way they're set up in the statute.  It's not open for the moving parties to say to you: You should rearrange all of those building blocks, because that's now how the statute is written.


Section 92 is where it is.  It's at the front end.  Section 98 is in the middle to allow you to get interim access.  And then expropriation is later on when you get leave to construct, and you have the information that -- from section 98 that you need in order to put together that application.


So that's the structure that the Board has, and therefore that's the structure that, in my submission, the moving parties have no choice but to work with, for the simple reason that the Board has no choice but to work with that structure.


Now, Mr. Fallis took you to the Expropriations Act and pointed to some provisions that suggested that you're supposed to follow some process or somebody has to follow some process under the Expropriations Act that there has to be an inquiry officer, and that inquiry officer has to prepare a report, which, if I understood him correctly, that will be provided to you.


But that submission is based on the assumption, I guess, that that process applies to the Ontario Energy Board.  And, in fact, if you look at the Expropriations Act, it does not.  Section 4(2) of the Expropriations Act expressly exempts the OEB, section 99 expropriation approval process, from the Expropriation Act process.


So there's no conflict.  I mean, he read you all the conflict provisions; the Expropriations Act prevails over all general and special legislation.  In fact, the two pieces of legislation are -- have been written to work together.


So what that means is that -- and the Act, the Expropriations Act makes it clear that you are the approving authority, but the process of inquiry officers and all that, that does not apply, because the Act clearly says it doesn't. 


And the reason for that is very simple:  You have your own process under the Ontario Energy Board Act.  You have your own hearing process, and the applicant has to apply to you and demonstrate the usual things that you have to demonstrate when you want to expropriate somebody's land.


And then when you look at the OEB Act, what it says is the Expropriations Act process applies for compensation purposes.  So that's the interplay.  And that's the only part of the process that -- under the Expropriations Act, that would actually apply.  But that comes later.


First question is in front of the OEB, and it's up to the OEB to decide, first of all, whether leave should be granted; secondly, whether the access for -- interim access should be granted in order to allow the applicant to prepare for expropriation; thirdly, whether expropriation should happen; and then, based on that, if there's an issue with respect to compensation regarding the expropriated land, then that goes back under the Expropriations Act.


So there's no conflict; it works together.


The other point that I want to make with respect to section 98, on the interim access, it's the issue of damage.  And that's expressly dealt with under section 98.  Section 98 says that if there's any damage as a result of the interim access, that has to be sorted out either through agreement or, in the absence of agreement, under the process provided for under section 100 of the Ontario Energy Board Act.


So, again, that process -- those issues are addressed directly in the legislation.


The final point I want to make is that in the context of the arguments, you've heard from the moving parties.  You've heard things like: We don't know when the access is going to happen; there's no requirement for advance notice when access is going to occur; there's no right to information that's gathered as a result of the access; and, as I just mentioned a moment ago, that there's concerns about damage during the course of access.


These are all legitimate concerns.  There's no doubt about it.  I mean, somebody's going to come onto my land.   I want to know when, how, and what.  And that's perfectly understandable.


But having said that, that sound exactly like the kind of issue that ought to be addressed when you come to dealing with the merits of the section 98 application.  And there's no prejudice to the moving parties if they have an opportunity to raise with you in your process that these are the concerns and these are how they want you to address them.  And then you would make the decision that you think is in the public interest at that point.


Concerns about damage, already expressly dealt with in the statute.  You get compensation through agreement or under your section 100 process.


So those are the section 98 concerns.  And then there was some section 99 concerns, which at this point, I would submit, are premature because you don't actually have the expropriation application in front of you, so the concerns about loss of buildings and so on, you know, those would be addressed in due course.


And then we heard Pollution Probe expressing concern about the project economics.  Well, if that isn't an issue that is to be addressed in a section 92 proceeding, then I'm not sure -- you know, what we're all going to gather around here when the section 92 proceeding starts, because every 92 application I've ever been in involved has involved in one way or the other the project economics when it involves a utility who wants to put something into rate base.  That's exactly what a section 92 hearing is about.


And, you know, if Mr. Klippenstein or Pollution Probe want to understand the zeros, they will have an opportunity to understand the zeros.  There's an interrogatory process.  There's an evidentiary portion.  If there's an oral hearing, they'll get to cross-examine, and ultimately they’ll get to make submissions.


So it seems to me that it's not open to a party to say: Well, I'm not sure if I understand one page out of, you know, the whole binder and therefore this hearing shouldn't start.  I mean, that's just not an appropriate way to proceed with an application.  That would mean I -- if I was involved, you could never start an application, because I don't know anything, but -- So ultimately it comes down to, you know, if there are these processes and these are the issues that these processes are intended to address, then that's all the more reason why those processes should get underway.


So APPrO would urge the Board to dismiss the motions as they're proposed and, you know, to do what it always does, which is, you know, to run a fair process that all the parties get to participate in and make their views known and -- so that the Board can then have an appropriate record for making the decision it's supposed to make with respect to these applications, and whether they're in the public interest or not.


Subject to any questions, those are my submissions.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Moran.  We'll break for lunch now and return at 2 o'clock.


--- Luncheon recess taken at 1:00 p.m. 


--- On resuming at 2:06 p.m.


MS. NOWINA:  Is there anyone eager to be next up?    


MR. ZACHER:  I'm not eager, but by virtue --



MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Zacher.


MR. ZACHER:  -- of being next to Mr. Moran, I'd happily proceed.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Go ahead, Mr. Zacher.


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. ZACHER:


MR. ZACHER:  Madam Chair, we filed one submission in both proceedings and I intend to focus my submissions on the two issues that are raised, and that -- which are the two grounds set out in the Powerline Connections’ motions as a basis for a stay, namely that the applications are premature because the IPSP should be first reviewed and approved by this Board; and secondly that the applications are premature because the Bruce-to-Milton project is required to comply with Ontario Regulation 424/04, the IPSP regulation, and that the OPA is trying to circumvent that regulation by seeking to advance this project.


So those are the two matters that I intend to address.  Mr. Moran and Mr. Nettleton have addressed them to some extent so I hope I can be brief.


And because these are grounds in both the section 92 and section 98 motions, I will cover both grounds, and I in all likelihood will not have anything to say on the section 92.


MS. NOWINA:  That's fine, Mr. Zacher.


MR. ZACHER:  So dealing first with the first ground -- that is, that this application is premature because it should await the IPSP -- there's a couple of principal flaws in that position, and my submission firstly is it presupposes that this project, the underlying Bruce-to-Milton transmission project, is a recommended transmission project in the forthcoming Integrated Power System Plan, and it's not.


The evidence that you have before you in the form of Hydro One's pre-filed evidence makes it clear that that project is part of the factual planning matrix in which the OPA is putting together the plan, but it is a project which is not part of the plan, and in fact the letters from the OPA to Hydro One have said it's of such critical importance that it is a project that ought to precede the plan and not be part of it.


It is also, in response to my friend Mr. Sperduti's submission, it's not a project that is properly part of the plan and one in which the OPA is trying to advance it.  The OPA has a statutory mandate to develop and to file an Integrated Power System Plan, but it also has a more general mandate under the objects of -- under its objects in the Electricity Act, which are to ensure adequate, reliable and secure electricity supply and resources in Ontario.


And on that basis, the OPA has urged Hydro One to advance this project before the IPSP.  That's made clear in the OPA's letters to Hydro One, which are part of the evidence filed before you.  And moreover, the impetus, the primary drivers for this project, are not IPSP-related; they're not the supply mix goals set out in the government's supply-mix directive.  Rather, the primary drivers for this are pre-IPSP government directives, those which lie outside of it.  And in particular, government directives which have resulted in the OPA entering into a contract with Bruce Power to return to service two retired or idle Bruce units which will -- are scheduled to come into service in 2009, and as well as approximately 725 MW of wind pursuant to renewable electricity supply contracts, which are, again, pursuant to pre-IPSP government directives.


And on that basis the need for this Bruce-to-Milton transmission line is a non-discretionary need, pursuant to the Board's filing guidelines relating to transmission and distribution projects.


As Mr. Moran and Mr. Nettleton pointed out, a second reason why it's not necessary that the IPSP first be reviewed and approved is that it's not mandated by section 92 or by any other section in the OEB Act.  If it was a necessity, there would be a statutory provision or regulation or rule to that effect.  And in fact, the Board's own guidelines -- both its IPSP filing guidelines and the guidelines relating to distribution and transmission projects -- contemplate that there are transmission projects that will precede the IPSP.


And I'll just refer very briefly to the Board filing guidelines relating to the IPSP, which identify pre-IPSP projects.  This, for your reference, is on pages 9 and 10.  And the guidelines provide that:

"To the extent that the need for and costs associated with a transmission project are examined in to the course of the review of a transmitter's capital budget in a rates proceeding or in the course of a leave-to-construct proceeding that is pending prior to the approval of the IPSP, these issues will not be assessed a second time as part of the IPSP review process, even if the project is included in the IPSP."


And so that just -- that contemplates that you don't have to -- this Board doesn't have to wait for an IPSP to be reviewed or approved in order to consider transmission projects.  And it wouldn't make sense to do that.  As we transition to an integrated planning state, there are going to be projects that are going to have to proceed for need reasons in advance.  And if they do, it's appropriate for the OPA as the provincial system planner and the IESO as the system operator to identify those needs and to get the ball rolling.


Let me just address the second point in the Powerline Connections motion, is that this -- these applications are premature because they need to comply with Ontario Regulation 424/04, which is the IPSP regulation, and that that regulation mandates that the IPSP comply with the Environmental Assessment Act.


Just a point of clarification.  That's not the case.  What O. Reg. 424/04 says is that for projects that are recommended in the IPSP, which in the OPA's opinion will necessitate an individual Environmental Assessment within five years of the plan approval, the IPSP itself requires an assessment of the impact of those projects on the environment.


Again, though, this project is not subject to that regulation because that regulation only applies to transmission projects that are recommended in the IPSP.


And, that being said, just to -- my friend has suggested that there's some prejudice in not having this project subject to reg. 424/04, and again, what the Board has recognized in the IPSP filing guidelines -- and Madam Chair, this is at page 29 of the IPSP filing guidelines -- is that the purpose of that provision in O. Reg. 424/04 is simply to facilitate possible streamlining.  So, in other words, if a project in the IPSP receives an environmental impact assessment pursuant to that provision, then a subsequent proponent may be able to obtain the benefit of streamlining and have a subsequent environmental assessment scoped.


In this case, the Bruce-to-Milton line is not subject to this regulation because it's not part of the IPSP, but in any event, there's no prejudice, because there will be a full EA or there will be an EA.  This Board doesn't have any jurisdiction to scope that EA.  And the landowners can make all of the arguments in that proceeding as to how broad or how narrow the EA process should be.


I just have one final point to make, and this is with respect to the stated urgency of this project vis-a-vis the moving parties' argument that this project is not urgent, and in fact the applications are premature.


The only evidence that this Board has before it of need is the evidence contained in Hydro One's application in pre-filed evidence.  And that evidence is uncontroverted in providing that this project is urgently needed.  There is evidence from the Ontario Power Authority, the system planner, which says that there is a need, starting in 2009, that this line is required to be put into service as soon as possible; that there are some interim measures that can be taken, but those are only stop-gaps and can't be maintained beyond the short duration.  The independent system operator has said in its "Reliability outlook", which is also part of the record, that a new 500 kV line out of Bruce is required as soon as possible, and that without the line, it will be required to operate the system at its margins or at its limits.


And then the evidence of the proponent, Hydro One, which is that the timetable to bring this line into service at the earliest possible in-service date, December 2011, will be jeopardized if there is delay.  And that is the uncontroverted evidence.


And what the moving parties are, in effect, asking is: Put that evidence aside.  And based on their submissions, that this -- these applications should be stayed.


And, Madam Chair, in my respectful submission, what is not premature are the applications, these two applications, because on the evidence before you, those applications have to proceed as soon as possible.  What is premature is to ask this Board pursuant to this summary process, based not on evidence in the moving parties but simply based on submissions, based not on a full record of exchange of interrogatories, examination, cross-examinations, et cetera, to ask at this stage that this Board effectively make a determination that this project is not urgently needed.  That is a very important determination.  It needs to be made.  But it needs to be made not now but after a full hearing on a full record.


Those are my submissions, subject to any questions.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Zacher.  Mr. Stephenson, you're going next?

Submissions by Mr. Stephenson: 


MR. STEPHENSON:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I will be very brief. 


First, I just want to indicate that --


MS. NOWINA:  Is your microphone on? 


Mr. Stephenson, if you can pause for a moment.  I can hear you fine, but apparently our court reporter is having trouble hearing you.


Is your mic on, Mr. Stephenson?



MR. STEPHENSON:  I have a green light.  Is this better?


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Stephenson.


MR. STEPHENSON:  These submissions may not be worth all of that effort.


MS. NOWINA:  I'm sure they are, Mr. Stephenson.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  I support, on behalf the PWU, the submissions made thus far by the opponents of these motions, and I just have a couple of things to add.  The first is this:  In my submission, all of the submissions you have heard this morning by the moving parties, except for perhaps one, are really just submissions either in respect of procedural matters which the Board may wish to take into consideration in terms of the structuring of its hearing regarding either the access-to-lands matter or the leave-to-construct matter.


Insofar as there are any issues regarding procedural fairness, regarding place of hearing, or the timetabling, or so on and so forth, it seems to me that it's entirely open to my friends opposite to make a motion for an adjustment to either the timetable or to some procedural aspect of the Board's intended course of action in terms of hearing either of those two matters.  The Board may choose to accept those submissions or not, but it's not a reason, in my submission, to simply adjourn or stay those proceedings indefinitely.


Certainly with respect to the procedural fairness questions raised by my friends opposite, we all know people that have been involved in Energy Board proceedings that the Board schedules dates and sets out procedures at the outset and does so without typically direct consultation with parties simply because there are very many, many parties, and it is simply impossible to accommodate the various and sundry scheduling and other concerns of each party, and the simple fact of the matter is that parties involved in these proceedings have to adjust their own schedules to accommodate the schedule of the proceeding as it goes forward.  We have all done that in the past, and we will all continue to do that.  It's the only way for these proceedings to carry on.


That said, in my experience, to the extent that a party has a serious procedural concern, whether it is a timing issue of a witness or counsel, I have always found that the Board has been ready, willing, and able to entertain submissions on that and, where it can, to accommodate those concerns.  But as I understand it, there is no specific complaint regarding any of those matters, and it seems to me that if, as, and when those concerns arise, the Board will deal with it, as it always does.


So that is one of the issues, which is the fair procedure question, and it seems to me those are matters that can be dealt with, if, as, and when they arise.


The second category of arguments that you've heard this morning really are matters that address the substance of either the access application or the leave-to-construct application, and you've heard various aspects about issues there.  And obviously, a number of these things may well be issues, as you've heard, that the Board would want to consider, in terms of whether or not and on what terms access is granted and whether or not and on what terms leave is ultimately granted, if leave is to be granted.  But those are not reasons to deny the applicant its day in court, so to speak.  Those are all arguments to be made when the case is heard on its merits.


So in my submission, none of that is any reason for these matters to be adjourned.


On the issue of -- the only argument that I heard this morning which, in my submission, could in theory base any claim for this matter to be adjourned or stayed indefinitely, was the issue raised by my friend on behalf of the Powerlines Group, which is the issue about section 12.2 of the Environmental Assessment Act.  And with respect to my friend, I adopt the submissions brought, both by Mr. Moran and others on this side.  In my submission, those are not valid bases for a stay or an adjournment.


On the issue of the access-to-land application, which is the one you are hearing submissions on at this moment, on the face of it that is not -- the order being sought is not an order granting anybody to proceed with any undertaking.  So the issue about whatever restrictions are contained in that act simply are not applicable in respect of that application; that is, the access-to-land application.  In my mind, you don't even need to concern yourself with it.  And with respect to -- just to make my submission now so I won't have to make it later -- with respect to the leave-to-construct application, I echo and adopt the submissions of my friend Mr. Moran that the Board has figured out a way of dealing with granting leave to construct, in a way which is consistent with that Act.


Ultimately, in my submission, what we're talking about here and the gist of the submissions you've heard from my friends opposite is really about what is the appropriate sequencing of the various kinds of approvals which are needed in order for this project to ultimately proceed.  There are -- it's clear that there are a number of different approvals which are required, and the question then becomes, is there anything which mandates the order or sequence in which those approvals are sought and obtained?  And the short answer is, with some very minor exceptions, the answer to that is, no, there is not, in my submission.  If you look at -- read the Act all together, and in accordance with the practice of this Board in the past, there is no specific obligation for this Board to not hear a leave-to-construct application prior to a completed environmental assessment.  There may well be the need to backtrack and re-hear parts of a leave-to-construct application, for example, if the Environmental Assessment is granted in some fashion which was not contemplated in the original leave-to-construct application.


That is the risk that Hydro One takes, that it may have to come back and reargue this in some amended form later on.  But that is not a reason not to proceed, because, of course, that concern will arise regardless of which sequencing is done.  Either all of the applications will be disposed of in a manner which is consistent, or they won't be.  And to the extent they're not granted in a manner which is consistent, there will always be a need to circle back to one or other of the tribunals to obtain an order which will grant approval of a single project in a consistent fashion.


So, absent a statutory obligation to hear these cases in a particular sequence, it's up to the applicant, in my submission, and there is no efficiency issue which would argue in favour of deferring one process to the other, simply by virtue of the need -- the theoretical need, to come back again and seek an amended or a varied approval, because that is an inevitable risk, regardless of which goes first and which goes second and which goes third.


For those reasons and for the reasons given by my friends which preceded me, in my submission, the motion should be denied.  

And I don't think I need to speak again on the other matter.


You have my submissions.  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Stephenson.


Mr. Rattray.


MR. RATTRAY:  We will only be speaking on the section 92.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Sorry.  We'll leave it to then.


Mr. MacIntosh, are you only speaking on section 92 as well?


MR. MacINTOSH:  That's correct, Madam Chair.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  I think that's everyone other than -- 

oh, and Mr. Millar.


Submissions by Mr. MILLAR:


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, thank you, Madam Chair.  I’ll be very, very brief.


As I stated earlier, Board Staff has submissions only with regard to the request for a stay.  We take no position on any of the other issues raised in these motions.  You have our written submissions and I don't propose to read through them.  I will give you a 30-second precis, and I'm happy to answer any questions you might have.


It is our position that granting the stay would not be appropriate at this time.  In order to grant a stay, you would have to essentially decide that there's a flaw in the application that is so serious that the application can't move forward, or at least it can't move forward at this time.


As you've heard from the other people in the room, the applicant has met all of the statutory requirements for filing a section 98 application and those are very modest.  All they have to do to file a section 98 is to first file a section 92.  And they have done that.


Now, the issues raised by my friends Mr. Sperduti and Fallis may well be important issues at the hearing itself, and there may be a lot of evidence on that, and the Board may ultimately be swayed by those arguments, but in my submission, they are not sufficient justification to stay the application, because these I would submit should be issues for the hearing itself.


I did just have one further comment in response to something that Mr. Sperduti said this morning.  He indicated he had a concern regarding the Board's Procedural Order and the fact that it listed dates following today, following the hearing of the motions.  And he suggested -- I think he was clear that he didn't personally think that there was an issue regarding prejudgment but he said that someone might look at that and fairly believe that the Board had already determined not to grant the relief sought in these motions.


What I would like to point out, however, is that when the Board issued Procedural Order No. 1, it set the dates for filing the motion materials, it set the date for the motions, and then it set some dates after that as well.  At that time the Board did not know what the motions -- first, if any motions at all would be filed, and second, what relief they would seek.  And certainly the Board couldn't know at least for certain that anyone would be seeking a stay.  They might have -- you've seen Mr. Fallis ask for a number of things; he wanted production of certain evidence.  There are issues related to where the hearing will be, if it will be an oral hearing.  All these are matters that can be determined on a ruling from a motion that really have no impact on at least dates that follow and some of the things that were set out in the Procedural Order.


So I think what the Board was attempting to do there was actually to be sympathetic to the views of many of the parties here where we understand that there are an awful lot of parties involved.  It's a complex hearing, and I think the Board was attempting to simply announce the dates for many things as far in advance as possible, so people can schedule their calendars accordingly and make sure that they can be available.


And of course, I imagine, if the Board is inclined to grant the stays that are requested by the moving parties, obviously those dates will be cancelled.  I mean, we change dates from time to time.  In fact, there was a Procedural Order No. 2 just on Thursday that at least altered the scheduling of the events if not the dates themselves.  So if the Board grants the stay, then obviously there will be a new P.O. cancelling, or at least adjourning, the subsequent dates.


So, Madam Chair, members to the panel, that's all I had to say on the motions.  I'm happy to answer any questions you may have.


MS. NOWINA:  I don't think we have any questions, Mr. Millar.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Mr. Sperduti, reply?


Reply Submissions by Mr. Sperduti:


MR. SPERDUTI:  Yes, Madam Chair.  Thank you.  I specifically heard... pardon me, sorry.  Better?


THE REPORTER:  Yes.


MR. SPERDUTI:  I specifically heard submissions from my friends at Hydro One about there being no complaint about alleged deficiencies in the application.  Of course, we disagree and submit that there are clear deficiencies in the application, one of which includes the fact that there are no approved terms of reference yet for the so-called undefined undertaking.  But I also heard Mr. Nettleton say specifically that if there was a lack of public consultation, then maybe the application would be deficient. 


Well, Madam Chair, I extracted a section of the material that has been filed by Hydro One in support of the application, and want to hand over to you a specific page from that, being page 5 of 6 in tab 6, schedule 9.  With your permission, may I do that?


MS. NOWINA:  Yes, you may.  Mr. Millar, can we mark that as an exhibit?


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, Madam Chair.  I think -- I've lost my list but I think we're at KM1.7.  


MS. NOWINA: That’s right.


MR. MILLAR: Or is it 1.6?


MS. NOWINA:  1.7.


MR. MILLAR:  KM1.7.  And Mr. Sperduti, if you could identify the document again when you get back to your mike for the assistance of the court reporter.


MR. SPERDUTI:  Yes.

EXHIBIT NO. KM1.7:  Excerpt from HYDRO ONE evidence, Exhibit B, schedule 9, tab 6, page 5 of 6 

MR. SPERDUTI:  The document is page 5 of 6, Exhibit B, tab 6, schedule 9, of the materials filed by Hydro One.  And the part that I highlighted for the Board's attention is the first sentence in the second-last paragraph on the page, which says:

"At the point of this section 92 filing, no direct consultation/negotiations with private landowners has occurred."


So if Mr. Nettleton's position is that the application is deficient without public consultation, then there can be no clearer evidence of a lack of public consultation than their own admission in the material that they have filed with the Board.  The fact is there hasn't been any public consultation, at least not with the affected landowners in our group.


I also heard Mr. Nettleton refer the Board to a couple of cases which he submitted -- unless I misunderstood his submission -- demonstrate that the Board has authority to issue leave-to-construct in the absence of an EA.  And the one specific case which he did cite and give the number for was case number EB-2004-0476.  Now, I had the good fortune of having somebody come up from King and Bay to give me a copy of this case over the break, and I would like to hand this up to you, if I might, as well.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  All right, that's KM?


MR. MILLAR:  KM1.8, Madam Chair.


EXHIBIT NO. KM1.8:  Case No. EB-2004-0476 [Excerpt]


MR. SPERDUTI:  This was a matter that was before the Energy Board.  The application was by Hydro One, and it was for an order granting leave-to-construct the transmission reinforcement project in the Niagara Peninsula area.


And I wanted to refer the Board to page 5 of that decision, the second paragraph beneath the subheading "Landowner Issues."  And because I didn't have enough copies to hand out in the room, I'll just read out that paragraph, Madam Chair, with your permission.  It says:  

"Many of the concerns raised by the landowners in their June 24, 2005 submission involved issues concerning the environmental effects of the project, which are properly dealt with as part of the Environmental Assessment process.  

“Hydro One has a valid Environmental Assessment approval for the project from the Ministry of the Environment.  The Board does not have jurisdiction over environmental matters in leave-to-construct applications and will not interfere with the results of or duplicate the Environmental Assessment process."


Now, our submission, Madam Chair, is that clearly this case doesn't support any position as described by my friend Mr. Nettleton.  On the other hand, it supports the opposite position, that an Environmental Assessment approval is appropriate.  And in the case before the Board which I've just referred to you, there was such an approval in place.


There may be circumstances, Madam Chair, where a conditional leave-to-construct is appropriate, and if this Board decides to go forward and order a full hearing of the matter, then that's something that will come up for discussion.  But we suggest to you, with respect, Madam Chair, that in the absence of approved terms of reference for an EA, it's premature to hear a question -- or hear an application for leave-to-construct.


Not only do they not have an approved EA, as was the case in the matter that Mr. Nettleton referred you to.  In this circumstance before this Board, there aren't even approved terms of reference.  We don't even know what line the Minister is going to ask Hydro One to consider.  We don't know what the terms of reference are.


So although Hydro One would like to believe that the Minister will approve the proposed terms of reference, which will limit the scope of the investigation to the corridor that it has identified, that is not guaranteed, and yet they asked for leave-to-construct.


And my friends also say: Well, clearly section 98, which deals with access, has nothing to do with the prohibition in the Environmental Assessment Act.  But consider the terms of section 98.  Section 98 requires a section 92 application.  If this Board finds that it's premature to file a section 92 application or that the 92 application ought to be stayed or adjourned -- and I want to emphasize the word "adjourned", because the relief that's being sought is broader than just a stay -- then compliance with section 98(1.1) is questionable and, in our submission, doesn't exist.


So the two matters are clearly related.  One is contingent on the other as a result of the language in the Act.  And if this Board were disposed to find that the application for leave-to-construct is premature or ought to be adjourned, then similarly, there ought to be no order granting interim access.


Section 12.2 of the Environmental Assessment Act talks about undertakings.  And I believe I heard submissions -- I think from Mr. Moran -- about the appropriateness of exercising your jurisdiction in section 98(1.1) to give effect to or to allow the proponent to comply with the requirements in the Environmental Assessment Act.


But, I state again, there's no application to consider any other alternative.  And what is an undertaking in any event?  Without approved terms of reference from the Ministry of the Environment, what is the undertaking?  We can sit here and say: Well, it's an undertaking to construct a powerline or a power transmission line.  That's not clear enough to tell 400 or, in our case, the 75 owners who are part of our group, that they have to surrender possession, even temporarily, of their lands and suffer the consequences.


Another matter that I wanted to respond to, Madam Chair, was the suggestion by Mr. Nettleton that we don't even need an Issues Day.  I think I heard him say twice that maybe an Issues Day isn't even necessary.


I think that that submission in and of itself is completely offensive to the group of landowners.  None of the issues that have been raised in this material are addressed in the materials filed by Hydro One.  And indeed, if this Board were to find that it's appropriate to proceed with the hearing of the construction, the leave-to-construction, then it would also be appropriate to proceed with a hearing of the access issue, because the two are interrelated and the issues keep coming up.  And I think it's far from clear, at this preliminary stage, what all the issues are. 


So not only has Hydro One proposed to apply for leave-to-construct in circumstances where they don't have approved terms of reference from the Minister; they say: We don't even need to define the issues concerning access.  We know what they are.  They're here now.  And let's scope the Procedural Order more and make the process more efficient.


I think that that submission is fundamentally flawed; that the timetable set by the Board already imposes, in some cases, insurmountable difficulties to -- for us to obtain instructions from our group of landowners.  I don't think that we need to scope it further.


I heard submissions, Madam Chair, I think from Mr. Stephenson, about -- if the leave-to-construct is granted now and some subsequent modification is required, well, that's the risk that Hydro One takes.


Well, with respect, it's not just Hydro One's risk.  The group of landowners affected by this do not have the access to resources, the money that Hydro One has.  So to say that it's Hydro One's risk if they want to come back and do this process again completely ignores the fact that it's also the landowners’ risk, which they'll have to bear in large part on their own.  Why don't we have one process and do it after, at least after, the terms of reference have been approved?


Madam Chair, I don't want to labour the next two points.  There were a number of submissions about the IPSP.  From our perspective, Madam Chair, the issue of the IPSP folds in with the other issues that we've submitted about prematurity of this application.  To the extent that these distribution lines are required to implement the power generation plan that is being developed in the IPSP, then clearly it's part of that process. 


Our submission is that you can't just define away this process by saying:  Well, it's not a process that's being recommended under the IPSP.


In fact, the processes that are being recommended under the IPSP rely on the approval of this facility.


So our submission is that the fact that there's no completed IPSP demonstrates that the applications are premature, and, to the extent that the approvals that will be sought under the IPSP rely on this, it's part of the same process.


And with respect to expropriation, we've heard a lot about expropriation, in fact, in reviewing the materials, in preparing for this matter, I noted that there are submissions about expropriation in our material as well.


I deliberately left those submissions out of my original presentation to you, Madam Chair.  I will leave it to Mr. Fallis to deal with the issue of expropriation, but it's not the landowners' position, the Powerline group position, that expropriation is necessary or a necessary precondition to these proceedings.


Thank you.


[Board Panel confers]


MR. RUPERT:  Mr. Sperduti, I don't have an Environmental Assessment Act with me but I know you have at least two there.


How --


MR. SPERDUTI:  One is outdated, apparently, though.


MR. RUPERT:  Is "undertaking" a defined term in the statute?


MR. SPERDUTI:  It is.


MR. RUPERT:  Could you read it for us?


MR. SPERDUTI:  Yes:

"'Undertaking' means” -- and I'm in the definition section of the Act -- "an enterprise activity or a proposal plan or program in respect of an enterprise or activity by or on behalf of Her Majesty and right of Ontario by a public body or public bodies or by a municipality or municipalities.  (b) is a major commercial or business enterprise or activity or a proposal, plan or program in respect of a major commercial or business enterprise or activity or a persons or persons other than a person or persons referred to in clause A that is designated by the regulations; or --"


Take a deep breath now:

"-- an enterprise, activity, or a proposal, plan, or program in respect of enterprise or activity or a person or persons other than a person or persons referred to in clause A if an agreement is entered into under subsection 3.0.1 in respect of the enterprise activity, proposal per annum, or program."


If your question is does it require terms of reference to be approved, the answer is the definition of an undertaking doesn't require terms of reference to be approved.  On the other hand, though, approval of terms of reference is a pre-condition to any submission that will go to the Minister of the Environment, and in fact, the guidelines published by the Ministry of the Environment, which we reproduced in our materials, clearly speak to the importance of approved -- of terms of reference.


And, although I should have put a sticky note on that page, I'm looking at page 7, sir, of our submission concerning the leave-to-construct.


MR. RUPERT:  Yes.  Okay.


MR. SPERDUTI:  And I've reproduced the Ministry of the Environment's code of practice.  And I'll read that to you, sir, just because others in the room won't have it in front of them.  It says:

"The first step in the application for approval to proceed with an undertaking under the Environmental Assessment Act is the approval of a terms of reference by the Minister; the public and other interested persons will have an early opportunity to be involved in the terms of reference process to get information about proposals that may affect them and allow them to decide early on about the level of their concern and their need for continued participation in the planning process."


So my submission to you, sir, is that in this circumstance, without clear terms of reference from the Ministry of the Environment, what level of concern ought the landowners to have?  Is that not a threshold question?  The sections of the Energy Board Act which my friends have referred you to, sections 92 and sections 98, are discretionary.  The Board "may" grant leave-to-construct.  The Board "may" issue an interim access order.  And our submission to you is that it's inappropriate to grant such applications in the absence of -- at a bare minimum -- terms of reference for an EA, if not a full, approved EA at a bare minimum, terms of reference.  So that we understand as the owners what level of concern to have, and how involved in the process they need to be.


It may be that the approved terms of reference require consideration of a completely different route.  And we heard some submissions from others today about what those options are.  But in our respectful submission that should -- this Board should say that that's the threshold.  It's not just:  you make an application under section 92, whether it's premature or whether it's bona fide or whatever, whether it's based on no public consultation, and as long as you make the application under section 92, you get access under section 98.  That's an inappropriate way to read those sections.  There should be limits to the extent of what the proponents are allowed to do in this process.


MR. RUPERT:  Okay.  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  I do have a question for you, Mr. Sperduti, but before I ask it -- Mr. Nettleton, do you have any idea where Hydro One is in getting its terms of reference approved?  Where that process stands right now?


MR. NETTLETON:  If I could have a minute, I'll find that out for you.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.


MR. NETTLETON:  Madam Chair, my understanding is that a draft terms of references have been prepared and are being reviewed, and they're expecting some decision made in the late --  Sorry.  Let me back up.  My understanding is that steps are now being taken to prepare the draft terms of reference.  They're planning on having them submitted to the Minister in the late July time frame.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Thank you.


Mr. Sperduti, if they decided not to grant a stay or an adjournment, do you have specific recommendations regarding the schedule for the section 98 hearing?  We heard -- I think both you and Mr. Fallis ask about an oral proceeding.  But -- so other than that, do you have any specific scheduling issues?


MR. SPERDUTI:  Well, Madam Chair, I don't have a specific date in mind, if you will, for proceeding with the oral hearing of -- if the Board were to grant one, of the access application, other than to say, I think that the access application should necessarily fall out of or follow from the 92 application.


So, if this Board were to determine, for example, that the section 92 application ought to be adjourned because it's premature and ought to await the completion of the Ministry of the Environment's terms of reference, let's say, then our position is that you shouldn't allow an oral hearing of the issue of access until at least we understand that there will be a hearing on the section 92 application and when that will be.


So our position is that the two matters are interconnected, and that if the Board agrees to adjourn the matter under section 92, it ought similarly to adjourn the section 98 application; because the damage, in our respectful view, is done once the access is -- the exercise of the access rights has taken place.


 So -- and why should that be allowed to happen in advance of the hearing of the section 92 matter?


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Thank you.  

Mr. Fallis, your reply.


REPLY SUBMISSIONS BY MR. FALLIS:


MR. RUPERT:  Mr. Fallis, your microphone.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Fallis, your microphone's not on.


MR. FALLIS:  Sorry. 


Madam Chair, the focus of my response will be on the expropriation side or the location side of the comments.  Not too many other than Mr. Moran focussed on that.  Mr. Moran indicated in his evidence -- or in his submissions, excuse me -- that the Expropriations Act does not apply.  I do not agree with that.  I would submit that it is a misreading of the Act to interpret it that way.


The Expropriations Act, as I mentioned this morning, it governs expropriations in the Province of Ontario, and whenever there's a conflict, it should prevail.


The section to which Mr. Moran referred was the section 4(2) of the Act.  I shall read it.  It said:

"Subsection 1" -- and I'll come back and read that -- "does not apply to an authorization by the Ontario Energy Board under the Ontario Energy Board Act in respect to the storage of gas at a gas storage area, or to an expropriation authorized under section 99 of the Act."


What subsection 1 says is:

"An expropriating authority shall not expropriate land without the approval of the approving authority."


What he is, I think, attempting to indicate is that in fact that there is a new regime whereby there's a substituted method of proceeding; that the authorization to expropriate under section 99 substitutes for the expropriation -- normal expropriation under the section -- or under the Expropriations Act, by reference to that section.


I would suggest that that is not the interpretation.  And if it were, the words of the statute would have to be clear on that, and they're not.  And I would ask you to read into the Act section 5, which deals with the approving authority.  It was passed at the very same time as the amendment on the section 4(2).


It says -- and this is part of the Expropriations Act.  It says:

"Where an expropriation is made under the Ontario Energy Board Act, 1998, the approving authority is the Ontario Energy Board."


So if you have been anointed with the power of being an approving authority under the Ontario Energy Board Act, why would the Government anoint you with the power of being an approving authority under that Act if, as Mr. Moran says, you were -- the Act does not apply?  I suggest that it does apply and that it is still very much part of the Act and part of the process that the Board must go through, and I think that the processes of governing expropriation should be -- the policies and the considerations that are there should be kept in place by this Board in its deliberations in due course as to what lands should be taken by the Board -- or by the applicant in its quest for approval of this application.  And so I think that allows this Board to, certainly, deal with locational matters.


And, you know, as I sit here -- and I'm very impressed by the quarters here.  It's not a forum that I've practiced in before or made submissions in.  But, you know, we're sitting in Toronto in a high-rise building with very, very sophisticated electronics. 


The people that are affected don't work in this environment.  They work on the ground.  They have been there for decades, you know, are multi-generational owners of farms and land holdings, and for them it's equally important that it doesn't look like a robotic exercise in high-rise Toronto that affects their lives.  And that's why I think that they -- I agree with what Mr. Cowan indicated from the Ontario Federation of Agriculture, that you must look at these in the lights of what have been placed before us.  The Expropriation Act has worked well in this province.  It's allowed other lines to be built.  And I think the intention of the Act is that it still applies and that it is not displaced by the process.


I think all that -- you know, if that section had not been there, the Minister of Energy would have been the approving authority under the Act.  I think, as much as it really does, it’s really –- change it to say that the approving authority is now the Ontario Energy Board, because all of the processes that I have heard today seem to suggest that location doesn't seem to be of a concern to anybody other than the two applicants who are making the motions today, who represent the landowners; that if this is to proceed, you're going to have a freight train coming at you after the approval is –- the leave is granted for construct, leave is granted for access, and the Environmental Assessment approval is in place.  Then to -- as you must receive an application for expropriation, what possible recourse would anybody then have to argue about that, other than what they made in argument in the Environmental Assessment Board?  So I agree with Mr. Sperduti when he says that there should be a process going forward whereby we can set the terms of reference.  And I think that that's -- and to say "stay" or to say "adjournment", I think we need to work in time frames.  Rather than saying the end hearing is going to be this date, I think we should stage it, much like the courts do.  They will set a date when you achieve at -- you note your pleading’s closed or you have examinations for discovery, your productions are in place, and so forth.  If you stage it, when you get those things completed, you move on to the next stage, so the schedule -- the trial in a civil proceeding isn't usually done until you've got those stages completed. 


And I think we can all work toward early resolution, but I think we must have terms of reference.  We must know from this Board, as a result of the day's hearing, what this Board is going to receive as far as -- or do about locational issues.  Are you going to hear evidence about moving alternate routes or not?  And if you are, then I think we may need a term of reference as to what part of that information should be supplied by the applicant.  You know, if you're going to take over somebody's house, you know, what alternative is there to not going over that person's house or not to take that land?


Those are the kinds of things that have to be dealt with.  And I think that those are parts of the terms of reference that should be dealt with.


So the Expropriations Act is a red herring.  I do not agree with Mr. Moran in his evidence and I -- or his submissions -- and I think that this Board should be mindful that the Act was there for a purpose and that you should move into your leave application to construct the salient provisions of the Expropriations Act and make sure that you pick up those things and deal with them in the way that the courts have said they ought to be dealt with, including looking at alternative routes.  And other than that, those are my submissions.  I adopt the Powerline counsel's comments otherwise.


MS. NOWINA:  Right.  Thank you, Mr. Fallis.  That completes the hearing of the submissions on the access to land application.  The Board will issue a written decision as soon as we possibly can.  

SECTION 92 APPLICATION


MS. NOWINA:  We'll now move to the second application.  Does anyone wish to take a break before we move into that?


All right.  We'll go ahead and proceed.  For the record, I will make a statement about this application.  So we are now sitting in the matter of application EB-2007-0050, pursuant to section 92 of the Ontario Energy Board Act submitted by Hydro One Networks.  This application is for a leave-to-construct a transmission reinforcement project between the Bruce Power Facility and the Milton Switching Station.  And today, this afternoon, we sit to consider the motions filed by Borden Ladner Gervais on behalf of Powerline Connections, Fallis, Fallis, and McMillan on behalf of a number of landowners, and Pollution Probe.  These parties each filed a notice of motion on June 12th, 2007, and it is the same panel that is sitting on EB-2007-0051.


As I said when we were in our previous discussion, you may simply adopt your submissions in the 0051 motions matter, if you wish to do that, rather than repeat everything.


So with that said, Mr. Sperduti.

Submissions by Mr. Sperduti:


MR. SPERDUTI:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


Of course, I do wish to adopt my submissions with respect to the leave-for-access matter that has just been concluded, and import those submissions wholeheartedly into this submission.


I only have one or two additional points to make with respect to the leave-to-construct matter, and they revolve around the Procedural Order that has been issued.  With respect to the leave-to-construct, an oral hearing has been ordered, and our earlier submission to you concerned the proposed location for that hearing.  And I suggested in our earlier submission that it be Georgetown or Orangeville.  Mr. Fallis has suggested somewhere else, Grey --


MR. FALLIS:  Orangeville in the east and somewhere to the west.


MR. SPERDUTI:  Okay.  Our group, Madam Chair, is content to have a hearing that is in the community somewhere along the impacted line so that the owners will have a chance to participate.  An Internet hearing isn't sufficient, Madam Chair, because many of our landowners don't have access to the Internet, and so I don't think that that's a fair way of proceeding.  So, with respect to the hearing that has been ordered, to the extent that this Board -- if this Board decides that it's appropriate to proceed with the hearing notwithstanding our submissions about prematurity, then those are my submissions concerning the actual hearing itself.


With respect to the timetable, Madam Chair, we've raised concerns in our other matter about the difficulty in getting instructions from our clients given the broad-based group that we have, which is growing all the time.  In fact, I was just mentioning on a break that another couple of owners have been added to our landowner list while we were making submissions this morning.  I'm sure it had nothing to do with anything I said, but I'll have to provide the Board with an updated -- further updated list of the owners.


But it is difficult in the circumstances to get instructions.  And if this Board decides that it's not premature to hear the leave-to-construct matter, then our position, Madam Chair, is that the timeline established by the Board ought to be revisited to provide for extended -- more extended periods of time between events that would respect the fact that there are groups of organized owners who are instructing counsel, and provide for an opportunity for counsel to secure instructions before having to comply with the requirements of the order.


I hate to venture a guess as to how much longer would be required.  It is, of course, an alternative position, and it assumes that the Board thinks it's appropriate to go ahead with the hearing of the matter, but I would think that the hearing ought –- the hearing itself ought to be adjourned for a period of an additional six months, and the dates worked back from there to allow everybody the opportunity to be prepared, get instructions, et cetera.


MR. RUPERT:  Mr. Sperduti, just so I'm clear on your timetable, you're saying that if I look at the very last date on the announced timetable, which is an oral hearing commencing October 22nd --


MR. SPERDUTI:  Yes.


MR. RUPERT:  You say in fact I should commence on April 22nd, 2008, or later by six months?


MR. SPERDUTI:  That would be my alternative submission, sir.


MR. RUPERT:  Right.


MR. SPERDUTI:  I think if we take that date and work backward towards the other dates that are set out in the Procedural Order, providing for additional time for things to happen, I think that that would better reflect the fact that the owners need an opportunity to absorb these things, meet with their lawyers, and instruct them, and allow them a chance to catch up.  This is all moving very quickly from their perspective.  In fact, some of them may say that it's being rammed down their throats or something like that.  But that, you know, that's neither here nor there.  Legitimately and substantively, they do need an opportunity to consult with counsel and instruct counsel and absorb the technical information that's being delivered.


And we set out our position, except for the six-month request, in the second-last page of our submissions in this matter.  So paragraph 22 concerns a request that the timeline be withdrawn, and alternatively, we suggest that if the Board is inclined to have a hearing, that the timeline be amended.


And that, along with all of my other submissions from this morning, Madam Chair, are my submissions concerning this matter.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Sperduti.  Mr. Fallis.


REPLY SUBMISSIONS BY MR. FALLIS:


MR. FALLIS:  Madam Chair, I adopt those comments.  With respect to the timeline for the hearing, for the resumption of the hearing if it were granted, I don't know that that much time is needed but I would say that would certainly be an outside time.


The concern that my clients have expressed is that they be given additional information.  I don't know -- it's a lack of information that bothers them.  It’s that they have no -- other than a sketch and a book which is there which doesn't show anything, there's no ground information there -- that the Board order the applicant to provide mapping that's photo-based mapping, which is a scale that allows them to measure -- to do -- they've done it 30 years ago.  Certainly they've got -- goodness, technology like Google and so forth, it's brought it to a level where we can certainly provide it now. There were public meetings that were held after the notices of application went out.  They did a little roadshow in that 10-day period, and there were maps that were there.  They were on the table, people looked at them.  And could you get them?  No.  And they saw them and went away or they saw things but they couldn't relate to what it was, and they needed other people to help them interpret them.  And it's that kind of mapping that's needed.  And I don't see any reason why that can’t be ordered by this Board, as a condition of going forward to be produced.


And I think that isn’t a -- in their response material they've indicated that which would require further research.  Well, we've got a $635 million project, so are they going to say the provision of some maps and substitutions for the illustration -- that’s the only thing that they have -- should be a reasonable substitute and allows them to understand where it is.  And I would suggest that that would have to be produced anyway for Environmental Assessment because, you know, if it crosses part of the Greenock Swamp or crosses a river or crosses whatever, you can't just look at the little -- 200 feet and see what's beside it. 


You would have to know the broader picture.  And I would say in the assessment process they'll have to produce that anyway, so why not get it sooner than later because you're going to need it?  And I would submit that that's a very fair document for the Board to order the applicant to produce to every one of the owners, and with sufficient particularity, and that's why I said widen the envelope a bit, so it gives the latitude to both the applicant and to the owners as to where they can make some changes if they have to bend the line a little bit.  

I mentioned Hanover this morning, which is a significant jog, because the -- there's no electrical reason for going into the town and no electrical reason for stagnating urban growth that the town might otherwise have, but for three power lines going through it which is not needed at all, at least two of them -– the last two aren’t needed with the new one. 


Those are things you should allow everybody to argue and to see and I think if you can physically get maps up that would do it.  So I’ve asked that to be part of the order.


With respect to the -- perhaps that at least a list be prepared of the other people who are in the -- if the envelope is widened that the list of the names of the owners be made available, of the other owners.  

That's one of the things, nobody said -- it's hard to meet when you’re -- somebody's in Bruce, somebody's in North Wellington and they don't know each other.  Mr. Sperduti's group has been very fortunate in being able to organize, and in our situation, a lot of people don't know each other, and so I'm just acting for individuals.


So I think that's helpful, if they had names.  And that isn't -- if they're going to look at it, that should be forthcoming.


The prejudice that was referred to before by him -- and I think the word prejudice is a time prejudice, of not being able to talk to everybody to write the notice of motion.  It was a very short time.  I mean, it's hard to talk with your clients when you have a very short window of time.  

And again, Hydro One, as I say, has all the resources in the world and it didn't meet your deadline, it lost it by a day.  Not that I object, but just for the shortness of time in it for Hydro One to try to shorten that again makes it harder, I think than – 

The process should be one which allows a full ability to participate in the proceedings, and timelines in between the different functions that are going to happen would be helpful; if it was extended out for the six month period you’d at least have longer times in between to be able to prepare for those different events.  

Other than that, I don't know that I have any further comments.  I did indicate that -- in my motion that I did have one, and if it's appropriate to wait to the end of the submissions on the issue of costs so we’ll do that but I could address it now.


MS. NOWINA:  You may address it now.


MR. FALLIS:  With respect to costs, I understand that it is not the practice -- the practice of the Board has indicated it would allow costs to the applicants.  It was expressed in one of the response submissions that that would come at the end.  What the end is we don't know at this point of time.  It's going to be a long process.  


And I'm wondering if the Board would entertain for the benefit of the people before it, through the -- certainly, landowners of -- some interim order at different stages in the process and whether -- what the timing would be, but it would be one that would be helpful, because it makes it easier on the applicants to -- or the respondent intervenors -- to be able to sustain their way through the legal costs so they don't have to build up, pay it all in advance, and then recover at the end and not know whether they're going to recover, and in what amount.  So at least their measured participation can be -- they're allowed to know what they're going to do, if they understand earlier than later what they would be remunerated by and in what amount.


I was going to ask that the court consider interim costs.


MS. NOWINA:  And, Mr. Fallis, you adopt your submissions from the hearing on the motion --


MR. FALLIS:  I do.


MS. NOWINA:  -- for the access to land.  

Thank you.  Mr. Klippenstein.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


I wonder if the Board was planning to take a break, whether this would be a good time.  I want to hand out a few materials, if that is acceptable, or I can proceed.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Why don't we do that?  We'll take a 15-minute break and resume at 25 minutes to 4.


--- Recess taken at 3:18 p.m.


--- Upon resuming at 3:40 p.m.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Klippenstein, before you begin, give me a sense of how long you think you'll be.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I think Mr. Sperduti wanted to make a comment or two, but my estimation of how long I'll be is -- unfortunately it may be three-quarters of an hour or half an hour, with luck.


MS. NOWINA:  Let's say half an hour, Mr. Klippenstein.  Your motion is fairly narrow.  Important but narrow, so perhaps you could keep it to half an hour.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  I will try and do that. It’s been a long day, I realize, and so --


MS. NOWINA:  And we do want to complete today.  I don't want anyone to have to come back tomorrow.  Mr. Sperduti?


MR. SPERDUTI:  Yes, Madam Chair.  Pardon me, I didn't realize that we were going to move on to the submissions about costs, and you'll notice that there's no specific motion from the Powerline group for an order for interim costs.  And just to explain to the Board, the reason for that is because again, as part of our position not to pre-judge the outcome of the Board's consideration of the application for an adjournment or a stay of the hearings, we didn't specifically bring a motion concerning the issue of interim costs.  And I wanted to indicate to the Board that I want to reserve the right to make submissions about that, even if only in writing, after I've heard what others have had to say about it; in particular, what Pollution Probe has to say about the issue of costs.


Mr. Fallis, I think, threw his hat in the ring and said we want an order for costs.  And obviously Powerline will be asking for a similar order for interim payment of costs.  But again, we don't have fulsome submissions on that point, for the reason I described.


MS. NOWINA:  We’re doing the full circuit again, Mr. Sperduti, so we will come back to you for reply at the end.


MR. SPERDUTI:  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  And you can make your submissions at that point. Mr. Klippenstein.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Pollution Probe filed a full motion record, which perhaps you have before you, on an earlier date and I have filed today and I apologize -- I was not able to do it earlier. I initially expected this would be reached tomorrow, but I’ve filed a factum which should be before you, which I will try and condense, but may be useful for reference before you.


MS. NOWINA:  It's not before us yesterday, Mr. Klippenstein.


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, Madam Chair.  I have taken the liberty of marking these already with exhibit numbers, assuming there will be no objections.  I have a factum for Mr. Klippenstein which I've call KM1.9, and I'll ask Ms. Crnojacki to bring that up.  

Mr. Klippenstein, I've also marked the case you gave me.  Would you like that distributed as well?


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Yes, please.


MS. NOWINA:  Do the other parties have the factum, Mr. Klippenstein?


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Yes.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.


MR. MILLAR:  There's also a case, Madam Chair: British Columbia and Okanagan Indian band.  It's been marked as KM1.10.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  And I assure you, Madame, I will refer to only one small paragraph in this long case, if that.


EXHIBIT NO. KM1.9:  POLLUTION PROBE FACTUM
EXHIBIT NO. KM1.10:  CASE OF BRITISH COLUMBIA v. OKANAGAN INDIAN BAND

MS. NOWINA:  Good, Mr. Klippenstein.  I was worried.  Thank you.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  So in the motion record -- and I will try and summarize these submissions, and the motion record and factum are also available for reference if need be.


Pollution Probe is requesting relief on three issues.  Number 1 is an award of costs prior to the completion of the hearing.  In other words, what I've called an interim award of costs, with respect to an expert witness.


Secondly, a Technical Conference.


And thirdly, an extension of dates.


The first of those three is a little more involved than the other two, and I propose to do that first.  


With respect to the issue of the award of costs prior to completion of the hearing for the technical expert, that involves several issues.  One is legal jurisdiction, which I will make very brief comments on later because that has been raised in opposition. 


Then I have also made some suggestions in the factum about, if you will, a test or a five-part guideline about one way to structure the Board's consideration of whether to do that.


And I've provided in the affidavit materials, first of all, comments from the affidavit of Mr. Jack Gibbons, the frequent consultant for Energy Probe on these matters, about the proposed expert, and then a c.v. 


And I would like to start, first of all, with that, if you could, Madam Chair, members of the panel, turn in the motion record to tab B, which contains a c.v. of Mr. David Schlissel of Synapse Energy Economics, Cambridge, Massachusetts.


Now, part of the reason Pollution Probe is asking for this at all is that it believes that the issue of the need and the basis for this transmission line are highly specialized and highly technical, and require an expert of some knowledge in that.  And we'll just quickly note on Mr. Schlissel's c.v., under his professional experience, he cites first of all "electric system reliability."  That is an issue that has been mentioned by the applicant. Secondly, "transmission line siting."  That experience is self-evident.


Turning the page, and I've numbered the pages in the motion record so page 15 at the top.  Included in the headings are “electric industry regulation and markets,” then the heading of “economic analysis,” and then the heading of “expert testimony.”


So these are subjects, just to pick a few, of Mr. Schlissel's expertise.


Turning the page over to page 16, he identified some of the testimony and affidavits and depositions and comments of recent times.  I'll just quickly note the number on that page, 16.  That covers his evidence of the kind he mentioned for the last year, just to pick that, and you will note, going down the list, that he has testified or otherwise provided evidence at the Florida Public Service Commission in March of 2000, the Michigan Public Service Commission, the Minnesota Public Utilities Commission, the North Carolina Utilities Commission, the New Mexico Public Regulatory Commission, the Arizona Corporation Commission, and then a court case, which I'll skip over.  And then the South Dakota Public Utilities Commission.  So in the last year he has a wide variety of fora in which he has made submissions.


If you then continue, there is a long list of his experience all over the United States, which I just put forward as evidence of the breadth and depth of the perspective that he might be able to add.  Specifically on the issue of transmission line siting, very quickly I will just note that if you turn to page 17, top right-hand, page 17, the fourth item down is evidence regarding a 230 kV transmission line in Virginia State.


Turning the next page, the second item from the top on page 18 is the Main Public Utility's Commission evidence on construction of a 345 kV transmission line.  Further down the middle of the page, Minnesota Public Utilities Commission, another transmission line. 


Turning the page to page 19, the second item in Connecticut citing council involves a transmission line.


Page 20 in the Main Public Utilities Commission, another transmission line.  Again on that same page, dropping down two-thirds of the page, there's a Connecticut siting council transmission line.  So Mr. Schlissel has a lot of experience not only generally, but dealing with  transmission line issues.


If one turns to page 28 of the motion record, there's a heading on reports, articles, and presentations of Mr. Schlissel, and you will note that, in my submission, a long list of articles and submissions on a wide variety of power issues, including on the top of page 29, a presentation called: "Determining the need for proposed overhead transmission facilities," and down near the middle of that page, on page 29, a submission called -- a report called "preliminary assessment of the need for the proposed plumb free Norwalk 345 kV transmission line."  So, again, quite a bit of experience broadly in the industry, and specifically with respect to transmission lines.


And finally on page 32 of the motion record, on the last page of his c.v., under his education, you'll note that he obtained his BA from MIT, his Master's in Stanford, then detoured to Stanford law school, and then was a special graduate student in nuclear engineering and project management at MIT.


So in my submission -- and I bring these to your attention -- is that Mr. Schlissel is apparently a well-trained, widely experienced expert in the substance and procedure that we are dealing with in this hearing.  As Mr. Gibbons states in his affidavit, Pollution Probe has spoken with Mr. Schlissel.  He is preliminarily quite interested in testifying.  He is the preferred first choice of Pollution Probe, because Pollution Probe believes he has precisely the kind of expertise that would be useful.


Now, the question is raised by one of the responses to Pollution Probe's motion that the applicant has a large fund or well of experience and expertise internally, both Hydro One Networks and some of the others, like IESO and OPA, and what is the need for an additional expert?


In my submission, this is a matter of very large expenditure of ratepayers' money, $635 million, I think, as I mentioned before and cited earlier this morning in the evidence.  There is a potentially very large issue because of the negative net present value; in other words, it's a big, big money-loser by the evidence before you from the applicant.  And it's a one-time, decades-long decision.  What this Board decides will have these implications for decades.  It is not a case like a rate case, where things can be revisited every year or three years; you know, adjustments can be made.  It's a one-shot, big-time decision.


In that circumstance, in my submission, it is very healthy, prima facie, to have an outside expert, independent, qualified, working with a public interest group with experience, to give an outside perspective, a critical perspective -- if that's appropriate -- depending on what the expertise shows, and information from a different jurisdiction, and an assessment that includes some of those bigger-picture issues.


In my submission, the public of Ontario deserves that additional level of scrutiny.  It may be true that OPA, that Hydro One, have expertise, but it is usually healthy, in my submission, especially with a big project like this, to have some degree of thoroughly professional sober second look.  That's no criticism of any of the other parties involved in the process, but something of this scale, in my submission, deserves nothing less.


Having said that, one of the things I mention in my factum on behalf of Pollution Probe is that it goes beyond that.  In other words, one of the factors that the Board can look at when considering a rather special -- one can even say rare and exceptional -- award of costs prior to the completion of a hearing like this, is whether the opposing intervenor has identified some kind of a prima facie issue that supports that unusual move.  In my submission, Pollution Probe has.  I already referred to it somewhat extensively this morning.  And that is, the evidence -- and I incorporate all of my argument this morning, but the evidence from the-- One moment.  Let me just shuffle my papers here.


The evidence which I provided earlier in the filings from the applicant, at Exhibit B, tab 4, schedule 4, page 1 and 2, what I referred to as the "line of zeros" -- and the significance of those comments for purposes of this motion before you for costs is several-fold.  Number 1, it is the evidence of the applicant.  I'm not sort of putting speculative material before you.  This is the highly knowledgeable, under-oath, specific evidence from the applicant. 


And as I said, the line of zeros and the accompanying text suggests that this very large project adds nothing to the transmission capacity of the system.  That is at first a very surprising proposition.


I put it to you fairly forcefully this morning, and I did so deliberately, and you may recall I specifically said, I hope that some of my friends will enlighten me on this.  Pollution Probe doesn't yet have a conclusion on this, but Pollution Probe is concerned.


You will recall that I used the word such as --possibly a boondoggle, or there may be possibly some disingenuousity in the presentation.


What I found interesting was I was listening very carefully to the submissions in reply from my friends, and I heard nobody specifically address that.  I heard all of them avoid the issue.  Nobody specifically said: Mr. Klippenstein, who made all these scandalous allegations is wrong, Members of the Board.  Here is the explanation for that line of zeros, and I'm shocked hat Mr. Klippenstein would say those things.  I fully expected that, in a way, and I was listening very, very carefully.  I heard complete silence.  And to me that is an indication that Pollution Probe's initial concern is very much a serious prima facie issue that, with respect, deserves careful consideration.


And so that is a specific reason why the normal issue of advance costs or interim costs deserves special consideration in this particular circumstance, in my submission.


There are, in my factum on behalf of Pollution Probe, a number of other considerations which I would put forward to you as justifying an unusual advance or interim costs award in this case.  These are each addressed in more detail in the factum, which I will not go through in detail. 


But, first of all, Pollution Probe is a non-profit, public-interest status organization, and it's one that historically has a record of responsible participation at the Board.  Now, I'm not saying those are prerequisites to an advance award of costs.  I'm saying, in this particular situation, those are part of a package of rare and exceptional circumstances.  When I talk about "historically responsible participation at the Board," Pollution Probe has for more than ten years participated in dozens of hearings and has received dozens of cost awards, which, as you know, usually require that the Board has accepted that the participation was responsible and contributed to the hearing.


So that is an objective -- if you will, track record which the Board, in my submission, can feed into its discretion to say: This is one of those exceptional cases where an award of costs in advance is appropriate.


A second factor is, as I mentioned before, that this is a highly technical and specialized proposed project, which involves a very large one-time expenditure that will be used in a facility for decades.  So that, again, is a little different from many other types of hearings which come before you in which other parties may be tempted to ask for an advance award of costs.  This is a factor which -- rationally, in my submission -- can be looked at and by which Pollution Probe should be granted the requested amount, or the requested award.


Thirdly, I have suggested to you that, as I said, Pollution Probe has identified prima facie areas of concern which appear worthy of further and independent examination.


Fourthly, on page 8 of the factum, you will note that Pollution Probe is requesting interim costs only for its expert.  In other words, not for its legal counsel and its normal consulting expert; and therefore Pollution Probe continues to bear a substantial part of the financial burden or risk, subject to the normal costs-assessment procedure at the end of the case.


In other words, this is not some kind of free ride or lark.  The Pollution Probe party still in its proposal bears a significant burden and financial risk.


And fifthly, there is a lack of prejudice, in my submission, to the other parties, in granting the costs on the interim basis.  And that is because the costs that are requested are requested partly in the normal procedure always used by the Board in costs, in which there is a two-step process in which the Board awards costs but they still remain liable to assessment by the assessment officer for their reasonableness and the necessity of those costs.  And the party potentially paying those costs has the opportunity to file objections, to make argument, and therefore has a significant level of procedural protection.  


And we are not seeking to circumvent those.  We are suggesting those should be part of the procedure.  Thus, Hydro One would have the opportunity to object to the amount of the costs that are requested or billed.


So, in my submission, that is a cluster of factors which suggest that this is a rare and exceptional case in which the Board could and should make an award of interim costs.


Let me now switch very briefly --


MS. NOWINA:  Before you do, Mr. Klippenstein, maybe I can ask a question about that.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Yes, please.


MS. NOWINA:  How specifically do you expect it to work?  You've used the term "interim costs," as opposed to advance costs.  So is this the expectation that the costs would already be incurred when you ask for them to be reimbursed?  And what evidence would the Board have that you had incurred those costs or that there were deliverables from those costs?


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  The answer to your first question is that I anticipate for most, perhaps all of this, the award is requested for work that has not yet been done.  And the reason for that is the expert -- and I should say when I say "expert," I don't know whether he would have one or two other people in his firm assist him with that, so subject to that proviso -- the expert specifically requested about what is the cost procedure.  

And for him, he is not familiar with Ontario, has never testified in Ontario.  That is an advantage to some extent, in my submission, by bringing in outside experienced help, as it were.  But that means he is justifiably a little uncertain about when or if he will get paid, and certainly Pollution Probe knows that payments can sometimes take six months, a year.  


I think I've, you know, gone as long as two and a half years to await a cost award, so that's a significant part of, I think, one of my sons' lives, I think, so -- so the delays can be -- and I'm not blaming anybody, but the delays can be significant just because of busy schedules on the Board's part and so forth.  It is difficult if not impossible to have a highly qualified expert from outside come in under those conditions of uncertainty.


MS. NOWINA:  I understand the uncertainty questions, but that doesn't -- asking for advance payment is only one possible solution to the uncertainty, I would think, but you are asking for costs in advance?


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  I am asking for costs in advance, but I'm not asking for payment to the consultant in advance of the work.  I'm asking for an order that costs for that work will be paid once they have been assessed.


MS. NOWINA:  Oh.  All right.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  So that would mean, for example, that the Board would make an order that the costs would be awarded for the preparation of the report, but they would be subject to the cost-assessment process in the normal way, checking for reasonableness and necessity.


Having said that, that is not a perfect system.  No system is perfect, and I understand that.  But that procedure gives the expert assurance of some substantial costs; but retains, if you will, an incentive and a check and balance at the end of that interim award because the expert knows that his work will be subject to objection from Hydro One.


MS. NOWINA:  So you envision that the Board would now order that those costs be paid -- 


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Yes.


MS. NOWINA:  -- when the work had been completed.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Yes.


MS. NOWINA:  That, for example, the report -- when the report was filed as evidence.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Yes.


MS. NOWINA:  That at that time you would send in your costs --


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Yes.


MS. NOWINA:  -- and they go through the normal prudence review.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Yes.


MS. NOWINA:  And after that normal prudence review, the payments would be made?


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Yes.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Now, the result might be, for example, that the first cost award for the preparation of the report might actually be tested and paid, for example, before he actually testifies.


MS. NOWINA:  Right.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  In the normal process.


MS. NOWINA:  Right, but there would be a report filed so there would be evidence of the work --


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Yes.


MS. NOWINA:  -- done.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  So, and my -- and I haven't worked out all the details because we haven't been able to get into that level of detail with him, but typical structures might include a payment for the delivery of the report and then another -- I shouldn't say a payment -- an award for the delivery of the report, and another award for the preparation up to the commencement of the evidentiary part of the hearing.  Or those two could be combined into one.


In fact, probably they should be because it probably would get, practically speaking, difficult for the expert to categorize those two things separately, and so practically, probably, if there was an order that he be -- he would receive costs up to the beginning of the evidentiary hearing, subject to the process you mentioned.


MS. NOWINA:  And how is that different -- except for the timing of submitting your costs during the proceeding, which I would call an interim situation?  But this order, this initial order saying that the costs would be paid, how is that different than saying Pollution Probe is eligible for the payment of costs?


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  It's similar but quite different.


The eligibility only means that the Board recognizes in a preliminary threshold kind of way that they meet the basic requirements.  It does not go the further step and say:  You will get costs, provided that you meet the final prudence test.


I guess you could say there's three components.  One is the eligibility, then the costs award, then the assessment of the costs, practically speaking.  So we are asking for the first two to be dealt with up front.  And the difference is, the expert, you know, might well know that the eligibility stage has been passed, but that is of very little comfort to him because there is no recognition therein by the Board that he will presumptively receive costs.


MR. RUPERT:  But does that apply that in this arrangement there be some lower level of review and scrutiny by the Board at the end of this process for your consultant than there would otherwise be for anybody else that gets costs?


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  I don't think so.  It works a little bit differently.  The review in the interim award of costs happens at the "reasonable" and "necessary" stage, which is the normal third stage.


Now, that allows Hydro One and other parties and the Board, through its assessment, the officer -- to conclude that much of it was not reasonable or necessary.  Now, having said that, it's true that that is a different kind of assessment in the sense that you don't have the entire picture; you don't have the testimony at the hearing.  You don't have the cross-examination.  You haven't seen it with your own eyes -- or actually, I take that back.  You would have had the opportunity to see the report with your own eyes if the Board was interested in that.


So the scrutiny happens in a different way.  It isn't 100 percent the same.  But I submit that perfection is not my selling point to you.  If you expect perfection from me, I think I've lost.  But the world is imperfect, and even the ordinary costs procedure is imperfect.


I think there is a cluster of protections built in.  They're not quite the same as a normal costs procedure, but I submit that they're there.  When you weigh that over against what you are potentially achieving, in my submission it's worth it.  I mean, the -- you know, the guy or gal on the sidewalk may apply a certain degree of scepticism but say: You know, it's true.  It is worth it to have some serious scrutiny from outside.  There will be financial review of that expert.  It's not a free lunch; it's not a blank cheque; it's not the floodgates.  And it's worth it because this is -- sorry to be repetitive -- $625 million, $635 million spent at a money losing of more than $600 million, and it's going to go for decades.


So the process is not perfect, but in my submission, it's a balance and it's worth it.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Klippenstein, I don't think you need to repeat your submissions, but we are still trying to understand.  Because when you're talking about the three-part process that we normally have -- that is, eligibility, and then some finding that costs will be paid, and then the prudence -- so it's that finding that the Board makes that costs will be paid that --


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Yes.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  And having been through this quite a few times, and I -- not to give evidence here, but there's a big difference between a finding of threshold eligibility and a finding of -- and a Board order for costs.  There's a big difference in certainty, psychologically very large.  It includes not only the certainty, but the timing.  Once there's a Board order, then the process is in motion, and there will be, you know, a somewhat limited general expectation.


So the expert can say, the Board has ordered that my costs will be paid.  I recognize they will be scrutinized and, for all I know, knocked down.  And there will be delay, but it is a finite delay.


MR. RUPERT:  You say your expert can say to himself: My costs will be paid.  Now, you're well aware of the fee schedule at the OEB here.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Yes.


MR. RUPERT:  And it's not necessarily what a US consultant might consider to cover their entire costs, so just so I'm clear, you're talking about an order from the Board that would be funding the work at the normal Board rate --


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Yes.


MR. RUPERT:  -- as opposed to the full freight of whatever he's charging Pollution Probe.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Yes.


MR. RUPERT:  And, secondly, in asking for this award, would you have any ability to say how much might this cost, even within a range?


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  I thought about that.  It's very difficult at this time, partly because the expert has said, because of prior commitments, he hasn't even been able to look at the materials and probably won't for a couple of weeks, until July, he said, because of his prior commitments.


So it's very hard for him to give an estimate.  So the answer is it's very difficult.  And that's one of the things that -- now, and it may be that that's -- as we've put in our motion record, there might be something or all of the things that cannot be decided today that need to be by a written submission later on, and it may be that there needs to be a final submission of a basic budget very shortly; in other words, that there would be an order following this motion of approval with the one condition of a written approval of the actual budget on a staged approach.


MR. RUPERT:  Can I ask one last question, just because I know that some of the other parties have raised this?  And you may be about to address this; I don't know. 


But some of the things that were in your initial submission, motion record, suggested to some of the parties that this expert may go beyond what they believe are the appropriate issues for this kind of a section 92 proceeding.


Would there also be agreement up front, in addition to costs, as to a statement of the scope of the work so that there would be some clarity around exactly what would be in and what won't be, to avoid the problem of a report that some people would charge veered off into territory that was not appropriate for section 92?


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Well, in my submission, the -- I think it's, practically speaking, not workable to have an agreement on that beforehand; just practically speaking.  I suspect the best way to approach it would be to rely on or utilize, if you will, the experience and a track record of responsibility -- I hate saying those words, but -- of the party, in this case Pollution Probe -- to, from its experience, frame the expert report in a way that addresses the substantive issues.


You have some experience of Pollution Probe's track record in the past.  You have seen what we've already done with the evidence today in terms of some of my submissions this morning and the responses or lack thereof.  So that is to some extent what you get, and there's an awareness on our part -- that’s Pollution Probe, me as legal counsel, the expert -- that any of this can be challenged, and probably some of it would be in terms of relevance.  You know, whether he is an expert in this particular area, and that is a risk that we are aware of and we have to deal with.  I don't think that it can be specified beforehand.  You know, if you look at what we have submitted today, I would respectfully suggest that our submissions so far have been fairly focussed, have identified a number of issues, have been grounded very firmly in the evidence.  And my friends may disagree, but that's part of us doing our job, if I may say so.


MS. NOWINA:  I think the issue for the Board, Mr. Klippenstein, would be not so much whether or not your colleagues agreed, but whether or not the Board felt it was of value.  And I hear your point --


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Of course.


MS. NOWINA:  -- that your record does speak to that.  But it would be the issue for us.


All right.  Why don't you go on to your other matters so -- I'd be interested in hearing submissions from other parties on this.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Okay.  It may be of interest in the factum that I was able to identify one other instance in which the Board addressed this.  And I've attached, at page 13 of the factum, the Procedural Order No. 6 in EB-2005-001, excuse me -- in which, in my submission, the Board did make an order of interim costs.  And to summarize, several -- or two intervenors did request in that case, which was a rate case by Enbridge, that there be an order of interim cost.  And the Board agreed making an order that the costs up to the, I believe, the completion of the hearing of the evidence would be paid.  And the subsequent parts, the preparation and submission of the argument, would be dealt with separately.  So I think that here already is an example of the Board having done very much -- something very similar to what we are proposing now.


And the Board noted in that case that that was a lengthy proceeding, and that it created a burden on the parties to have to go to the very end of the proceeding to get that order of costs, and the Board granted relief and set up a procedure to deal with that.  So in my submission, this is a precedent.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. Klippenstein, in that case there was no finding that they would get the costs; it was just procedure was put in place for them to make the claims, and then an order was subsequently issued.


Would your client be content with the same type of possess in this case?  Perhaps not waiting until the end of the evidentiary phase, but in a staged process?


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Yeah.  You’ll note that our proposal from Pollution Probe does not wait this long, and I'm not suggesting that should be the equivalency.


And to answer your question: no, my proposal is somewhat different, and I think the logic is, as I mentioned, that the expert would need to have that somewhat higher level of partial assurance.


One party did mention the Board's alleged lack of jurisdiction to make such an award of interim costs.  I will not go through my suggestions on those legal grounds in detail.  They are included in the factum.  What I would say is that you will note that the Act specifically gives the Board the power to make interim or final orders with respect to costs, and that section, section 30, I believe it is, also talks about the order specifying when those costs are to be paid.  The word "interim", I would suggest to you, is actually quite significant, and the reason I gave you the Okanagan case is that is a case -- and all you need to do is to look at page 7 of 26 -- in which the Supreme Court very concisely says that:

"The appeal concerns the inherent jurisdiction of the courts to grant costs to a litigant in rare and exceptional circumstances prior to the final disposition of a case and in any event of the cause.  I would refer to a cost award of this nature as 'interim costs'."


And I simply refer you to that because that is a case of the court saying that this type of award, which is roughly what we're asking -- namely, it is prior to the final disposition of the case and it is in any event of the cause; in other words, it is a commitment that does not await the final hearing.


So that's what we're asking for, analogously.  And the court refers to that as "interim costs."  So, in my submission, that concept it's quite fair and reasonable to refer to as "interim costs, " and that is, in my submission, what that word "interim" in your statute means.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Klippenstein, and just so others can respond, as well, I think that you're quite right, at least with us there's been precedent of paying interim costs, awarding interim costs.  And at a brief look at this, it appears that that's the same thing.


I think the assurance you're looking for up front is quite different than at some point during the proceeding, say after the report is filed, the Board saying: Yes, we'll make an award of interim costs, and those are final costs for that piece of work. 


And you have assurance that that work that's done has been paid for, even assurance ahead of time saying that we will look at the award -- we will ask for submissions of costs at that point and look towards awarding them at that point, is one thing.


Asking us to make an order initially that we will pay costs is, at least in my consideration, different than what we have done previously for interim costs.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  That is --


MS. NOWINA:  And I'm not aware of us ever doing that before, and I'm not certain that the case you provided is a circumstance of that happening.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  I think that that is a distinction I accept.  I am suggesting that it is -- and you'll notice the court uses the term "rare and exceptional circumstances", and I adopt those.  That is why I suggest to you that in those particular circumstances here, it is within your discretion, within your jurisdiction, that it is wise -- if I may say so -- to do that extra step.


I've tried to be frank about how the -- you know, from the point of view of the expert, it is -- I don't know if we could -- I suspect we couldn't convince him to do a full-scale report of the quality that we would want without that form of order up front.


In my submission, you have the jurisdiction, you have the discretion, and I'm suggesting to you there are factors that make it a good idea.  And when you read the factors I'm suggesting, you will note that those will not apply in all cases, or even in many cases.


I'm not saying those are the factors that should be applied to other applicants.  There may be other forms of rare and exceptional circumstance, but my submission is you have the discretion.  You have the ability to control it and -- but even given those criteria, in my submission, it makes sense in this case.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  With respect to jurisdiction, one final thing.  The statute specifically says in, I think, subsection 5 of section 30, if my memory serves me right, that the Board is not bound in its discretion in decisions on costs by the factors that courts will use.


So I would not suggest that all the discussion of the court in this case, or indeed the one that follows up on Little Sisters, should be imported into your decision.  In fact, I would suggest not, because this is very different.  This is not an adversarial dispute between interested parties the way courts usually are, and these are policy issues.


So that, as the statute says, you don't -- you're not required to follow the same cost rules as courts do, in my submission.  It doesn't make sense to, in my submission.


If I can very quickly turn -- I think those are -- in my submission, and I go through this in the factum, Pollution Probe's position is consistent with the Board's practice direction on cost awards, and I address those points in the factum, in my submission.


Unless, Madam Chair, you have other questions on that part, I will very quickly turn to the other two issues, and the first one is the Technical Conference.  That's the second issue.  Pollution Probe submits that a Technical Conference would be very useful, because it would allow a face-to-face meeting on technical, detailed issues and avoid cycles of correspondence and question-and-answer in a very efficient way.


And I believe Hydro One does not, in principle, object to that.  I'll stand to be corrected if I'm misstating that.  And so, in my submission, that should be inserted into the schedule.


And, thirdly, Pollution Probe suggests that it is appropriate to extend the time schedule.  I support my friend's six-month proposal.  Pollution Probe could live with less, but sees the important logic in my friend's submissions.


In my submission, that extension of time is justified because, despite what I've heard my friends say about -- and whether that's OPA or IESO, about this line being built as soon as possible -- and I say this with great respect to them, I put to them and I suggest to you, the evidence from Hydro One says this transmission line is not going to increase the overall capacity.  I said it this morning.  I said it in many different ways, forcefully, and I invited my friends to specifically respond.  They haven't.


In my submission, that is a matter of great weight before you, and that the urgency is overstated, no doubt in good faith, with good intention, but I didn't put that line of zeros in there.  And there is very little doubt what it means.


So those assertions, from all these very credible good-faith parties, about urgency, in my submission, should be taken with a pail of salt.


Secondly, with respect to urgency, again, my friends have said, for the landowners - and what I've said about the expert witness - says there is a different type of urgency, and that is the urgency of proper and fair evaluation.


I won't go through the numbers again about the stakes of what's at play here, but there is an urgency that that examination be proper.  And for that reason, an extension of time is a very legitimate, indeed, in my submission, an extremely important factor with respect to the Board's consideration.


So those are my submissions, subject to any further questions you may have.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Klippenstein. 


Parties wishing to make a submission supporting the motions or any part of the motions?  

Mr. MacIntosh.


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. MACINTOSH:


MR. MacINTOSH:  David MacIntosh for Energy Probe Research Foundation, Madam Chair.


In the past, Energy Probe saw no particular need for the relief Pollution Probe seeks in the method of payment of its expert.  However, it comes to mind that in complex matters, to fully canvass the issues, non-profit intervenors may require experts that are not from our usual cast of consultants and who are not willing to carry the can, so to speak, for their fees and expenses over extended periods.


This will be the case, in our submission, in the upcoming IPSP hearing, and as Pollution Probe has brought to the Panel's notice, is the case in the present proceeding.


And so Energy Probe supports the relief sought.  We have no particular position in respect of the specific expert, although we noted from reviewing his c.v. that he has provided consultations for a non-profit group that we have been connected with in our environmental initiatives, Robert Kennedy Jr.'s Riverkeeper.  So he does appear to be well-qualified to appear before the Board.


Perhaps the point that needs to be made here is one of fairness and balance.  Utilities regularly bring the experts to hearings that they feel they need and regularly recover those costs.  I'm unable to recall those utility costs being disallowed by the Board.


To balance the scales, while the Board needs to maintain control over its own process and examine the credentials of the experts brought forward by intervenors, it is the submission of Energy Probe that recognized intervenors of record should have the financial ability to produce expertise and bear risk for recovery of those costs to the same degree as is borne by the utility.


Madam Chair, not anticipating your questions to Mr. Klippenstein, I did not review prior OEB cases, but it's my understanding that in the past the Board used to regularly hear costs submissions from intervenors prior to the main hearing and, as part of the awarding of cost eligibility, would also provide an allowance in a dollar amount for costs as an interim finding for the proceeding in question before it started.


The other part of the relief sought by Pollution Probe that we support is we think that a Technical Conference after Issues Day would be of value to the proceeding.


Thank you, Madam Chair.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. MacIntosh.  Mr. Cowan, your mic, please.


MR. COWAN:  As a matter of clarification, this is strictly to costs, is it, at this point?


MS. NOWINA:  No, it's to any of the motions.


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. COWAN:


MR. COWAN:  Okay.  Briefly, with respect to costs, Federation of Agriculture does not claim costs here.  With respect to a Technical Conference and an Issues Day, if we're to proceed to an oral hearing, definitely yes.  With respect to a six-month extension, it is worth noting that a six-month extension would put the start of this past the appearance of the IPSP and quite reasonably could become part of the IPSP with that in mind.


So with respect, then, to the leave-to-construct, I want, first of all, to set out some sense of the circumstances of farmers in this area that we're talking about.


The last ten years have seen frequent negative margins for about half of farmers in that area, often in the range of a 30 percent negative.  For those who are fortunate, 10 percent positive ranges have been enjoyed.  Average net income on farms in Ontario has been in the range of $22,500 per farm the last number of years.


It is the case that this line will turn marginally economic farms, many marginally economic farms, into uneconomic farms.  It will drive them out of business.  They will be forced to cease operations and end generations of effort and ties to the land for those families involved.  This is not a trivial consequence for them.  It is an absolute consequence.  It is not marginal in any sense of the word.  It is a death.


And this is likely to happen without any consideration of whether or not some alternative could meet the needs of Ontario's power consumers or whether those consumers might, in fact, meet their own needs.  Because the transmission system exists primarily for urban customers, the 5 to 10 percent increase in transmission rates that this single line will impose will fall more on rural customers, relative to their reliance on transmission, than on urban.  Both the economic and the physical burden, then, are disproportionately rural.  An approach that shifts the burdens to the GTA via conservation or distributed generation ought to be considered, and could only be considered if this hearing is substantially deferred.  As with the question of early access to land, the leave-to-construct should also be subject to a review of the alternatives, an indication that consumers are sacrificing as well, that it is not a rushed correction of decisions to sign take-or-pay contracts in the recent past.


A review of security, that so far seems to be “all the eggs in one basket," assuming the line is actually needed.  If the line doesn't, in fact, contribute anything to power supply, then it won't be any greater risk to security either.  It will just be expensive.  And a review of whether or not heavier lines are possible on the existing towers, or have we waited too long and can't afford the outages that that might entail?  And should farmers pay the cost of indecision in Toronto?  We don't think that that's an absolute necessity.  Customers, the power authority, the IESO, Hydro One, generators' needs, will one way or another be met.  There is still a time to address this requirement through the IPSP.  We're making that abundantly clear.  Farmers deserve the full protection of the Expropriations Act, however it might be worded and whatever exemptions might be allowed for the Ontario Energy Board.  They deserve the full protection.  That one should lose their farm and their livelihood and generations of effort through the fact that it's an expropriation approved by the Energy Board, rather than a school board or the municipal board, seems to me to be entirely wrong.  They deserve the fullest protection possible, whatever interpretation you might be giving.  And the leave-to-construct and the leave for early access are intimately linked.


The expropriation and request to build looks like business as usual for generators and transmission.  Either the Board brings this process of business as usual to a halt and moves decisions from expropriation to one that is fully considered and planned in the IPSP, or it will never happen.


With that in mind, we ask once again that this decision be deferred; that it become a planned decision, rather than an expropriation decision.  We believe there is time for that, if there is six months’ room to defer this, that and the IPSP will be having birthdays in the same week.


We believe that we can do this.  The Federation of Agriculture is committed to working co-operatively with all the groups involved.  We don't want Hydro to cease delivery to the GTA.  That's not our aim at all.  Our aim is to keep the province going well, but we do not see a need for Ontario’s farmers to pay a disproportionate cost for something that may, in fact, not be a benefit at all, but simply a $620 million negative.


So, with that, we ask again that this decision be deferred and made part of the IPSP, where it belonged for the last three or four years.


Thank you kindly.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Cowan.  Mr. Nettleton. 


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. NETTLETON:


MR. NETTLETON:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  It's been an interesting afternoon.  Maybe I can pass on some observations to start my submissions.


It seems like we have a miscommunication.  There was a famous movie called "Cool Hand Luke" that talked about miscommunications, and it seems like there is a miscommunication here.


The miscommunication seems to be in several places.  One place relates to the fact that Hydro One has not responded to comments such as boondoggles or zero lines found in evidence, because this is not the forum.  This is not the forum to have a discussion about the substance of an application that has been filed before you.  


This is a forum about a motion, and it's important that all parties play by the same rules.  And those rules are, in my respectful submission, that matters that concern submissions about the substance of evidence remain saved for another day.


Now, Mr. Klippenstein may have very strong views about what he considers to be boondoggles.  My clients are willing and very able and wanting desperately to have the opportunity to explore those opportunities of debate and discussion with Mr. Klippenstein.  But, quite frankly, at this stage in the process, it's not appropriate to be characterizing the application pejoratively in the sense of a "boondoggle", as Mr. Klippenstein has.


Mr. Klippenstein has made reference to the fact, early in his submissions, that there is a change in generation profile or mix happening.  He mentioned the fact that there is changes to Ontario's coal generation facilities.  


He's very close.  There's a miscommunication.  There's a generation supply mix change that's happening, and that should be taken into account and will be taken into account when this application comes before you and it's discussed on its merits.


Mr. Klippenstein has indicated in his motion relief in respect of three matters, and I'd like to deal with each of those, if I could.


The first relates to this interesting question of interim costs.  Madam Chair, it's quite appropriate that if we go down the path of discussing funding in advance, we have to distinguish participant funding, the concept of participant funding, from the concept of awards of costs.  They are entirely two different concepts.


This province had introduced legislation called the Intervenor Project Funding -- sorry, Intervenor Funding Project Act, which was introduced in the late nineties.   It was repealed in 1996.  And that legislation allowed for the concept that Mr. Klippenstein is trying to have you agree to here today, and that is funding in advance.  


There were funding panels that were able to consider issues relating to awards of funding for the participation of parties, parties before this very Board and parties before the Environmental Assessment Board.


That legislation was repealed.


Now, the interesting thing is that prior to the Intervenor Funding Project Act, there was a case, and a case that was heard by the Ontario Supreme Court, that dealt with the issue of whether, under the Consolidated Hearings Act, awards of costs could be interpreted or the legislation could be interpreted broadly to include participant funding.   


And that case I will distribute now, if I could, Madam Chair.


MR. MILLAR:  KM1.11, Madam Chair.

EXHIBIT NO. KM1.11:  CASE OF REGIONAL MUNICIPALITY OF HAMILTON-WENTWORTH AND THE HAMILTON-WENTWORTH SAVE THE VALLEY COMMITTEE INC. IN ONTARIO SUPREME COURT UNDER CONSOLIDATED HEARINGS ACT. 


MR. NETTLETON:  Now, I think as I take you through this case, if I could, Madam Chair, it would be probably useful if we have two documents before you.  The first is my friend's factum.  And I believe at page 11 he has included the present legislation and the definition of section 30.


And if I could first take you to page 8 of the Hamilton -- the Regional Municipality of Hamilton-Wentworth and the Hamilton-Wentworth Save The Valley Committee Inc., which is a decision, again, of the Ontario Supreme Court.  It was a 1985 decision of Justice --  Mr. Justice Holland.


I would first like to take you to page 8 of that decision, paragraph 21.  And there you will see, under the Consolidated Hearings Act, the provision that existed there that dealt with the jurisdiction to award costs.


This case was about how to interpret that section and whether that section provided for the ability of parties to have awards of funding in advance of proceedings.


And you can see from that section, Madam Chair, that there are some similarities with the present legislation that is found in the Ontario Energy Board Act, section 30.   


I'm not planning to go through all of the details, but I'll just let you observe that and see, and I will discuss some of the differences, as well.


The question that was before Justice Holland was a question of whether the concepts of costs and intervenor funding are alike, and Mr. Justice Holland indicated that they are not.  And if we turn to page 32 -- or, sorry, paragraph 32, page 9, you can see that Mr. Justice Holland has indicated four very important characteristics that are related to the concept of costs.


And you will see, again, that they all relate to, as my client has stated in our notice of -- our response motion, that the concept of costs is determined after the fact.  It's an after-the-fact determination that considers the usefulness or the appropriateness of parties participating in proceedings and that their level of participation and their value to the proceedings are awarded through awards of costs.


It is indeed about the concept of indemnity.  And indemnity, again, uses the concept of after-the-fact determinations, not prospective determinations.


The finding that Mr. Justice Holland found -- made in this decision, is found at page 17, and it's at page -- it's at paragraph 63.  In that case, again, it sums up nicely, I think, the case that was -- the facts that were before the court, in that:

"The Board in the application that was before Mr. Justice Holland clearly attempted to fund intervention in advance of a hearing and before the Board has had an opportunity to determine the value of the contributions to be made by the intervenor to the issues before it."


And while the Board has broad discretion in its power to award costs, Mr. Justice Holland was satisfied that this Board, the Consolidated Hearings Board, has not awarded costs here, but rather has attempted to compel the applicant to provide intervenor funding, something which the Board has no jurisdiction to do.


So, Madam Chair, this was in 1985.  That was the law then.  Subsequently, we had the Intervenor Project Funding Act come into play.  That was legislation that came into effect that granted a scheme to allow for intervenor funding, and that scheme came to an end in 1996, when that legislation was repealed.


Following that legislation, and what is present before you, is section 30 of the OEB Act.  It's, if you will, back to the future.  We are in many respects back to the way the world was when Mr. Justice Holland made determinations of whether the Consolidated Hearings Act provided that Board the ability to make awards of intervenor funding.  And the answer to that question was “no”.


Now, in fairness, Madam Chair, there are differences with section 30 than what we saw in the Consolidated Hearings Act, and one of those differences is found in section 30(2)(c).  And that relates to:  "When any costs are to be paid."


It's important that the word "when" is found in a new legislation, and that came into effect in 2003.


But the important thing about that part of this section is that it does not in any way detract from the concept of the award being for costs.  The question is:  When?  And what we know, again from the Hamilton-Wentworth decision, is that costs have to be determined and based upon after-the-fact concepts of performance and involvement and usefulness in a proceeding.


Now, Mr. Klippenstein has attempted, with great effort, valiant effort, to try and take the concept that he is seeking of trying to fit a square peg in a round hole.  It just doesn't fit, Madam Chair.  The concept of having you make an award today that is beyond the concept of eligibility to providing some assurance that there is an award of costs coming and that there's liability for that cost to be made or those funds to be provided down in the future, in my respectful submission, breaches or abrogates the concepts that Mr. Justice Holland has clearly articulated.  It would very much be a predetermination of participation and funding.


What Mr. Klippenstein has said is that there is no prospect of his -- as I understand it, no prospect of the consultant being able to do the work without that commitment.  Well, that's not after the fact.  That's the very problem that we face when we talk about the concepts of intervenor funding and making awards of costs.


I want to briefly touch upon the case law that Mr. Klippenstein has referred to.  And for the record, Madam Chair, the factum that Mr. Klippenstein provided and the case that he's relying on was provided just moments before this afternoon's session, so we certainly weren't provided with the factum beforehand.  But I'm not making any bones about that.  It's, just for the record, that's what we were provided.


Now, the British Columbia versus Okanagan Indian band case is a very interesting one.  It's a case, however, that deals with constitutional rights.  It is a case about interim awards of costs and the inherent jurisdiction of the Court to make awards of interim awards of costs.  And indeed, interim on a prospective basis -- which I'm not sure if Mr. Klippenstein really made that point clear with you, but I want to be clear with you, Madam Chair, that it was for prospective awards of costs.  And I'll refer you to that passage where that's found.


But the important thing with this case, Madam Chair, is that this was a constitutional law case.  This was a case about the honour of the Crown and the constitutional rights afforded to a First Nation under section 35(2) of the Constitution Act, and it related to the assertion of aboriginal title in the logging operation that was being carried out by the band in question, and a stop-work order that the Minister of Forestry in British Columbia had placed upon that activity.  And the question in that case was whether or not the impugned band had the resources to challenge the stop-work order.


From the headnote, which is on page 3 of 26, Madam Chair, I think it's important that this description which I provided you is one which comports with the statements here.  And, again, it's the statement that says:

"They filed a notice of constitutional question challenging the Code as conflicting with their constitutionally protected aboriginal rights.”  

And the Minister then applied to have the proceedings remitted to the trial list.


Now, interestingly, this was a 4:3 decision.  This is a very, very narrow case and a decision that was issued in that respect.  But, having said that, what the Court did and the majority did indicate was that the ability to make interim awards of costs are very rare -- happen on very rare and exceptional circumstances.  And let's look at the test that was provided that governs the Court to determine whether the facts fall within that very narrow ambit.  And that's found on page 18 of 26, and it starts at paragraph 40, and it nicely summarizes the types of factors that a party would have to demonstrate to fall within that inherent jurisdiction that the Court has to award interim costs.  I think one of the most important factors that distinguishes that case from this is point 3, Madam Chair:

"The issues raised transcend the individual interests of a particular litigant, are of public importance, and have not been resolved in previous cases."


Well, Mr. Klippenstein has indicated that Pollution Probe has been able to participate before you, before this Board, without making the request that he is seeking here.  These circumstances are not in any way analogous, Madam Chair.


The other point that I would -- the other observation that I would make, Madam Chair, in this regard, is clearly the idea that an independent expert would be beneficial for the process generally.  Now, I'm not sure if that's what Mr. Klippenstein is seeking here.  It strikes me that what he is really seeking is for the recovery of costs on an advance basis, on an intervenor funding basis, for purposes of advancing the positions and interests of Pollution Probe.  That's what I would expect.


But if it's to improve the process generally to have some independent expert, well, your Act contemplates the ability of the Board to have and retain experts if they so choose.  Awards of costs can include the Board's costs.  We're not suggesting that that is the case here.  We don't know what this supposed expert would do.


But I'm just simply putting to you, Madam Chair, for your consideration, that if there was some shortfall that needed to be addressed, there are resources and ways for that type of issue to be brought forward.  But that's not what Mr. Klippenstein, in my respectful submission, is seeking.  Be clear.  He is seeking to have experts to advance the case that Pollution Probe is seeking to bring forward to you.  If it were the alternative, I would submit that there are other options that could be considered in that regard.


So, Madam Chair, we have made submissions in our response that indicate that this Board does not have jurisdiction to make the type of award of costs or funds that Mr. Klippenstein's client is seeking, and we stand by that.  And nothing this morning or this afternoon has persuaded us differently; in fact, quite the opposite.


The case law that Mr. Klippenstein has relied on is just completely distinguishable from the circumstances that are before you.    It was somewhat surprising to hear Mr. Klippenstein at the end try and distinguish his own case authority, because the facts were so different.  Well, again, the reason why it's different is because the facts are completely different, it dealt with a completely different issue, and you should have no regard to that case.


Briefly let me turn to the issue of Technical Conference.  Hydro One has in its motion response indicated that a willingness to participate in a Technical Conference.  The concerns that we have, the reservations that Hydro One has at this time is not knowing the scope of that type of process.  We are concerned by the submissions that Pollution Probe have relied upon in the affidavit that was filed because there was express reference to the view that there could be a broadening of issues.  And be clear, Madam Chair, and Board Members. We believe the Procedural Order No. 1 issues list is the right issues list.  It comports with section 96(2) and 97 of your Act.  What we do not, we submit, think is appropriate is for that list to be broadened to include factors that are beyond this Board's jurisdiction.


And a Technical Conference, in our submission, needs to therefore have specific purposes, have issues identified up front in terms of what is to be discussed, so that parties can be focussed and matters can be addressed in an efficient manner.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. Nettleton?


MR. NETTLETON:  Yes.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Perhaps I was incorrect but it was my impression that the proposal was that the Technical Conference would come after the Issues Day and it would be after the Issues Day that the Board would set down the list of issues.  So would that not address your concern regarding the scope of the Technical Conference?  Would it not be set by that issues list?


MR. NETTLETON:  I think the Issues Day could very much help frame the types of issues that we would be prepared to discuss.  Obviously, if the Board issues the list of issues, that would go a great way to resolve the issues of approaching or going into areas that are beyond the purpose of this application in this proceeding.


So I take your point.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.


MR. NETTLETON:  The concern that we have with respect to the Technical Conference is inordinate delay.  Again, as my comments were this morning, Madam Chair, we are very concerned that this hearing process remain on track.


Now, can there be -- is there opportunity for some slight adjustments to the schedule?  We're definitely trying to be reasonable in that regard, we've indicated a one-, two-month slip in schedule may be able to be allowed.  It would not be adverse, potentially.


But we would need to understand in more detail what and how the Technical Conference is going to be scoped and how it fits into the remainder of the hearing process.


But, generally speaking, we are prepared to look at a way to allow that concept to be added to the schedule, if it means a one- to two-month delay.


Those are also my submissions, Madam Chair, with respect to the third point of extension of dates.  I'd make one other observation, and that is this.


The suggestion by my friend -- Mr. Sperduti has suggested a six-month delay.  A six-month delay, a further six-month delay, which, as I understand it, would put us into the April 2008 time frame.  The section 92 application was filed on March 29th, 2007.  That would mean over one year of time before this application was placed for hearing.  That, in my respectful submission, is inordinate delay.  That is not appropriate and must be guarded against.  This project is needed.  This project has met all of the filing requirements.  This project has parties willing to speak to evidence.  We are prepared to make accommodations, but clearly, having an application remain outstanding for over a year is excessive, in my respectful submission.


There was another issue that was raised between Mr. Fallis and Mr. Sperduti, regarding the issue of consultation.  Mr. Fallis raised the concept of consultation again in context of his submissions in 92, section 92.  He indicated that there were photographs supplied to his clients in a series of meetings, and I believe he was referring to the Public Information Centres that at least Mr. Fallis is aware took place in May of this year.


That apparently is not Mr. Sperduti's understanding, because he keeps referring to the fact that there has been no public consultation.  The reality that explains this miscommunication is that the application that was filed was filed on March 29th, 2007, and it's now July, or close to July, and there has been steps taken by Hydro One in the interim.  This is well known to all parties.  But it's not appropriate or fair or reasonable to suggest that there has not been consultation.  Consultation was addressed in other places of the Hydro One application in terms of what other steps they were planning to take, and indeed now have taken, in respect of this application.


Madam Chair, those are my submissions, subject to any questions that you may have.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Nettleton.


MR. NETTLETON:  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Other parties that want to make submissions in support of Hydro One's position, Mr. Rattray?  Mr. Rattray.


MR. RATTRAY:  Thank you, Madam Chair and Panel Members.


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. RATTRAY:


MR. RATTRAY:  To start off, I thought it would be useful to review why I'm here today with my colleague, and that is the IESO is not here to represent narrow private interests.  We don't own land on the proposed route.  We're not an asset-owner.  We're not an interested generator.  What we are is the independent agency that's charged under the Electricity Act with directing the operation and maintaining the reliability of the grid.  We develop standards.  We establish and enforce reliability standards.  Directed towards the objects of the Electricity Act, which are to ensure that we have a reliable supply of electricity.


Now, this mandate is reflected in a number of the documents that have been filed before you as part of the pre-filed evidence of the applicant Hydro One, and in particular you have before you the Ontario Reliability Outlook, which is found at Exhibit B, tab 6, schedule 4.


You also have the system impact assessment, which is found at Exhibit B, tab 6, schedule 2.  And this is consistent with the practice on previous section 92 applications, in which it's been common practice for applicants and the Board to rely on the IESO, its reports and publications, as evidence on leave-to-construct applications.


And that's what's led to our participation in this proceeding, and our attendance today.  And in relation to the motions on section 92, we think the point is a relatively simple one.  We're here to speak to the public interest.  The public interest and moving forward to ensure that we do, in fact, have an adequate, safe, and reliable supply of electricity.


The public interest must be considered when you undertake your task of balancing the competing needs and interests of the parties before you.


We have to be practical, and I commend Hydro One for what I see as a very pragmatic approach to this application in endeavouring to move it forward.  It's not appropriate to simply allow this proceeding to drag on for an indeterminate period of time.  The evidence has been reviewed with you by various parties, and I'm not going to take you through all of it by any means, but by way of example, in the Ontario Reliability Outlook, the evidence is quite clear, and at various pages you can see how it's summarized.  Page 3:

"A new 500 kV line out of the Bruce area is required as soon as possible."


Same page:

"New transmission facilities, particularly in Southwestern Ontario, remain a priority for the IESO over the next decade.

Without new transmission facilities, the IESO will eventually be forced to operate existing facilities near their maximum capabilities, with little margin for unexpected events, requiring complex arrangements to do routine maintenance on critical facilities."

We're here to speak to that interest, in making your decision as to whether or not to stay the instant applications or to delay the timeline.


Hydro One has acknowledged that it's facing a very tight schedule, that it is prepared to accommodate some of the requests for an extension to the timeline, and the IESO is supportive of Hydro One in that regard.


Turning now to the issue of costs, I'll endeavour to be brief, given the extensive comments of my colleague for Hydro One, but suffice it to say that our position as set out in our submission is that it's premature to assess and pay costs as sought by Pollution Probe. The existing scheme, which is captured in the Board's Practice Direction on Cost Awards, is focussed on an assessment of the value of a party's participation and contribution, which can only be assessed reasonably after the fact.  I believe this is reflected in your questions of Mr. Klippenstein as to when he intended to seek payment of the cost awards.  And there was an exchange, which is not reflected, obviously, in the relief Mr. Klippenstein is claiming, that was to the effect that we would have a report, or perhaps not.  It's not clear to me, based on the materials filed by Mr. Klippenstein, what materials will be available to the parties and to the Board in order to make an assessment of the value of the contribution of that evidence and that work.


Now, in relation to the expert witness that Mr. Klippenstein reviewed his qualifications and intended areas of testimony or work, we note in particular that it's suggested that he may well comment on areas relating to reliability assessments.


Now, given the mandate of the IESO, we question whether it's possible at this point to determine the need for another expert to comment on issues of reliability.  Rather, the normal practice of assessing the value of a party's contribution at the conclusion of the proceeding, or, in exceptional cases -- as in the Enbridge distribution case provided by Mr. Klippenstein -- it might be appropriate to make that determination.


Mr. Klippenstein has objected that he's not seeking a blank cheque, and yet with candour he acknowledges he cannot tell us what he estimates the costs will be; he cannot tell us what the content of the report or testimony will be; he cannot confirm that he will restrict it to the issues that are properly before the Panel on a section 92 application, but he wants a higher standard of certainty, a higher standard of certainty that, in effect, is a presumptive determination that the expert is, in fact, qualified to offer his opinions, that they are properly before the Board, and that they were of value to this panel in rendering its decision.


We support and adopt the comments of Hydro One in this regard, and see no basis for changing the normal practice as set out in the Board's Practice Direction.  The principles are set out, as you know, in section 5, and they require the Board to make an assessment based on the value of the contribution.


Those are my submissions.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Mr. Moran.

Submissions by Mr. Moran: 


MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Just very briefly, from the generators' perspective, the proposal that there be another six months added to the schedule is essentially adding six months to what already is, on a best-case scenario, a two-year gap, and so that is a matter of considerable concern.


Mr. Klippenstein in his submissions indicated that nobody took him up on his offer to debate what the line of zeros was about, but I adopt Mr. Nettleton's submissions on this. 


This is clearly not the time to have that debate and, in fact, I specifically responded to that invitation by saying: That's exactly the kind of question he ought to be raising in the context of the hearing, along with the other question that needs to be addressed; and that is:  Is there going to be additional capacity to free up the additional wind potential that's in the Bruce area?  There's 650 megawatts in the queue.  The OPA is not signing contracts.  And that's because the existing lines have zero capacity.


So we're all interested in different kinds of zeros, and we all want to have a hearing so that all of these get sorted out.  And today is not the day to start debating the evidence. 


And, in fact, if Mr. Klippenstein and his client are serious about the importance of their question, then it seems to me that they should be pushing for a hearing to take place as soon as possible so that their important question can be answered along with all the other important questions that also have to be answered in the course of this process.


With respect to what Mr. Fallis said on the Expropriations Act, I simply say one thing in response to that, and that is: He is right.  If you look at section 4(2) of the Expropriations Act and decide that it has no meaning whatsoever, that's the only way that he can be right.  Otherwise, it's clear that section 4(2) has to have some meaning, and the meaning clearly is that the Expropriations Act does apply; it applies the way it says it applies.  And what it says is that the Ontario Energy Board process is dealt with under the Ontario Energy Board Act, and the compensation process after expropriation has been determined, comes back under the Expropriations Act.


I did not say at any time that the Expropriations Act does not apply; in fact, it clearly does, and it’s very explicit on it.  It says that the OEB will deal with the question of whether land needs to be expropriated and the processes under the Expropriations Act will apply directly to compensation issues.


And those are my submissions.  I adopt all the other submissions I made for the purposes of –- of the section 98 for the purposes of the section 92 motion.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Moran.  Other parties wish to make a submission?  Mr. Zacher? 


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. ZACHER:


MR. ZACHER:  Madam Chair, I just rely and adopt my earlier submissions and would just reiterate that with respect to a suggestion that there be further delay, that notwithstanding my friend's submissions about the evidence, the only evidence you have before you of need is that this is a project that is urgently needed and the place to make a determination as to whether that is, in fact, the case is in a fulsome hearing.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Reply?  Mr. Sperduti?


MR. SPERDUTI:  Yes, Madam Chair.  Just very briefly.  I think if we were to take something away from the --


MS. NOWINA:  I'm sorry, I've forgotten Mr. Millar again. 


Mr. Millar, did you have any more submissions?


MR. MILLAR:  Nothing more from me.  Thank you, Madam Chair.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Mr. Sperduti.


Reply submissions by Mr. Sperduti:


MR. SPERDUTI:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


I think that what's important to bear in mind concerning the issue of the application of the Expropriation Act or non-application of it is that what is clear is that if the Expropriations Act is read fairly, then the opportunity for the owners to address the issues that are typically addressed in a hearing of necessity setting within the Expropriations Act -- the fair, sound, and reasonably necessary test that Mr. Fallis went through -- all of that discussion would fall to be heard by this Board at the section 99 application.


So I concur with Mr. Fallis' position, I suppose, that if we're going to have a meaningful consideration of the same types of issues that are considered in the expropriations context within the context of the section 92 matter, that there ought to be some explanation or further detail about what alternatives are available.  And to the extent that it assists everybody in understanding what those alternatives are, by having an EA process completed or at least starting, I say that that's appropriate in the circumstances.


So the issue of hearing the section 92 matter, to some extent, requires us to consider alternatives, and I'll leave it at that.  I don't want to labour that point any more than that.


Mr. Nettleton mentioned issues about consultation.  Of course I'm addressing the issue of consultation in terms of access, and our submission this morning, which I don't need to go over again, is that a full oral hearing on the issue of access is appropriate in the circumstances because of -- partly because of the lack of consultation to this point and the significant concerns that the owners have about the issues raised by access.


So that is the context within which I was making that submission.


I wanted to reiterate to the Board that it's sort of being taken as Powerline's position that a six-month adjournment ought to be granted on the section 92 matter.  I just want to remind that Board, that's our alternative position.  Our primary position is that the whole thing ought to be adjourned until at least terms of reference for the EA have been completed.


And so if it results in more than a six-month delay while we wait for the terms of reference to be completed, then so be it.  I don't think that the issue of the applicants' urgency or need ought to trump the requirements of the Environmental Assessment Act or of this Board's approval.


So that is my submission on that point.


With respect to the issue of costs, Madam Chair, as I mentioned, I think that we have by letter indicated to the Board that we're interested in an eligibility determination.  But we’ve reserved on the issue of costs, and in particular on Mr. Klippenstein's submissions, because, in our view, it's premature to address who ought to be entitled to costs until you know whether or not it's appropriate to have the hearing to begin with.


So to the extent that I'm required to say something about the issue of cost, if I don't get the opportunity again, of course it's our position that at a bare minimum, Powerline Connections is entitled to be eligible for costs, and we may have something further to say about the other submissions about interim costs at a later date, after the Board makes its determination about the substantive merits of the motions today.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.


MR. SPERDUTI:  And with that, Madam Chair, those are my submissions.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Sperduti.  Mr. Fallis.


REPLY SUBMISSIONS BY MR. FALLIS:


MS. NOWINA: Your mic sir.  Is your mic on, sir?  


MR. FALLIS:  Sorry, Mr. Moran and I are having interpretation differences on the meaning of the Expropriations Act.  Mr. Moran has indicated that if I'm correct in my interpretation, then it can only be right if section 2 or 4(2) of the Act has no meaning whatsoever, or doesn't apply whatsoever.  To use his words, I would say that that applies exactly for section 5(1)(5) of the Act, where if we’re assuming he's correct in his position, then section 5(1)(5) would have to have exactly the same meaning, where an expropriation is made under the Energy Board Act, the approving authority is the Ontario Energy Board. 


Section 26 of the Act, which deals with compensation, makes no reference to the approving authority whatsoever; it only makes reference to the statutory authority, which is the -- which would be Hydro One.  And so, bottom line is, I submit, that the approving authority is preserved as the Ontario Energy Board by section 5(5) of the statute.  The rules, regardless of whether or not I'm right or Mr. Moran's right, I suggest that the considerations that the Board must consider are the same regardless.  It can't be two standards of how you expropriate.  I think the same rules apply for whether it's the OEB or whether it's the -- under the formality of the Expropriations Act, if you conclude that it isn't there.  The rules should be the same; shouldn't be two standards in the province.
 And that this Board should follow the rules that it goes through to look at what it must consider for expropriations.  Why should it be any different?


And if that's the case, then I think this Board must make a comment in its -- in delivery of its reasons on these applications, as to the role of the Board in terms of receiving evidence on alternate routes, because that is very much what everyone in terms of the landowners requires to be able to make comments on that, and to be foreclosed from doing so would render this hearing meaningless and would allow the authority to trump the landowners' interests strictly by just the process of just directing a line straight through their property without any way of diverting the train that's coming at them with the approval authority, being the Ontario Energy Board, managing the decision.


I think it's -- there has to be an element of fairness and an element of respect, respect of the landowners' rights, that this Board must not be unmindful of when it deals with this application.


So I would urge that whatever report -- that you do address that so we all may know where we are going forward from here, because I think that's critical.


And I think if it's stated, stated well and properly by you, it can accelerate the hearing process.  I don't think there's an object to stop it.  I think it's an object to know where we're going, how we're going forward is what it's more about.  So it's pausing to get those determinations down so we know how to move forward.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Fallis, may I ask you a question on that?  If the expropriations hearing by the Board, the section 99, is held after the EA is complete, and the EA certainly has the jurisdiction to look at alternative routes, would not the concerns that landowners have been dealt with and then it would be clear what route is going forward once we –- when we get to the expropriations hearing?


MR. FALLIS:  I would suggest no, because EA doesn't focus on land and property rights, it focuses on the rights that are in that Act, and really, it's the flora, the fauna, the little critters, and habitat and those are the things that you’re looking at, there maybe be a socio-economic issue, but the land rights of owners are independent of EA concerns.  And that's why I think there should be some marriage of looking at both at the same time.  But that would -- to me it would compress time frames significantly if it could be done, because I 

think -- and I don't think the EA could look at a 200-foot swathe and say what's going to happen.  It's got to look at a broader river, and say, cross a river, to cross a swamp or a major ecological terrain, is -- you can't just look at it in terms of a little narrow-blinder view, you have to look at it in a broader view.


So I think that it would be helpful to have the marriage of both considerations done in concert with each other.  I don't think that -- I think it would save a lot of time, and I think that's what the object of Hydro One is.  And I would submit that that's a -- what they want is not unfair, but what we want is -- as far as landowners -- are just to make sure that our rights are looked at as well in terms of on the ground.  And I think that anything you can do to assist in your decision would be very welcomed by all the parties.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.


MR. RUPERT:  Mr. Fallis, just further to that, because I must have been having some trouble with fitting these pieces together.  Section 96(2) of the OEB Act is the section that directs the Board -- or limits the Board on what it should consider in and whether to approve or not an application for leave-to-construct.  That's the one that says:

"The Board shall only consider the interests of consumers with respect to prices and the reliability and quality of electricity service when, under(1), it considers whether..." 

-- blah-blah-blah –- 

"...is in the public interest."


So I'm just trying to fit your approach which you've just described with that section.  How do you marry those up?  How does your approach fit within section 96(2)?


MR. FALLIS:  Because of the fact that you have another layer that's added to it, you don't know where this is going to be.  And the where-ness is the location.  And you step three sections down to section 99, where you've got to also come in and determine where this line is going to be, and if you make all these decisions under section 92, and your considerations are restricted to 96, then we say let's go have a hearing on where it's going to be now, if you've already made those decisions which the owners don't have the rights.  I mean, it's --


MR. RUPERT:  I'm not trying to get into the question of what you should do or what might be logical, in your view, but just the particular words in section 96(2) are “shall only consider.”  I'm just trying to understand your view as to how you fit additional things into a process that the statute directs to us as “shall only consider.”


MR. FALLIS:  Well, I don't -- I've looked at that section before, and I've discussed it with other counsel, and I –- I just -- I can't rationalize that with the fact that you've got this other function to perform and you can't split it and do the function, because you need the land to go with it.  And bottom line, all of the people along the way are  -- they're consumers too.  I mean, everybody you're taking from is a consumer.  So, you know, you've got to -- you know, this is why if you have the hearing in, you know, in Orangeville or Durham or Hanover, wherever you happen to have it, those will be the people sitting in front of you.  You tell them that.  I think that's a very hard sell, to try and say: We can only look at the consumers of Ontario, when, you know, the power can be purchased elsewhere.  I mean, it's a big grid.


So bottom line is, you know, if you want to come across my property and I've been an electrical soldier for the past two times and you're asking me to -- drafting me again to put a third line across my property, I think you’ve got a problem.  I’m just saying, I'm only going to look out of the blinders of the prices for the consumers across the province.


Location is a factor, and I think location is part of that whole exercise.  I think you've got to expand it.  I mean, you -- it's got to fit in there.  Somehow you've got to work that wording in there.  And I leave it to you to do that, to try to figure that out.  But it's logical.  That's all.


MR. RUPERT:  Okay.  Thanks.


MS. NOWINA:  Does that complete your submissions, Mr. Fallis?


MR. FALLIS:  It does.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Mr. Klippenstein.

Submissions by Mr. Klippenstein:


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I will try and be as brief as I possibly can.


A number of my friends have, in response to what I've called “the line of zeros,” suggested that this is not the time to deal with that.  And I agree.  And that's not why I raised it, and I think it's clear that that’s not why I raised it today.  I simply said there appears to be a prima facie issue.  My friends have referred to “the line of zeros,” if you will, as a reasonable question, and my suggestion is:  It is a reasonable question.  It is an important question.  It is an unanswered question.  It is even a question that has no hint of an answer.  And those show -- and my friends suggest that shows the importance of getting on with it and doing the process.


I would agree, except I don't agree with the next step, which says, as Mr. Moran said, it's important to get on with it as soon as possible.  It is important to get on with that particular issue but to do it right, because it's so important.  So it doesn't follow just because it's important to have that properly heard in the procedure that it also follows to do it quickly.


And my submissions about retaining an expert and time extensions agree that this issue must be dealt with, but properly, with the proper expert.


My friend put forward the Hamilton-Wentworth Save a Valley Case, which I remember well, because I was an articling student in the court at the time for Selye, represented by Ian Scott, who subsequently became Attorney General, so I remember it well.


Partly the point, in my submission, of the Okanagan case was to refer to that case, which it does at page 12 of 26, but then to qualify it. 


And at the first sentence in paragraph 22 of the case, it says:

"These background principles” - as described in Hamilton-Wentworth – “continue to govern the law of costs in cases where there are no special factors that would warrant a departure from them."


And then the Court proceeds to describe how to depart from this case.  And paragraph 23, the first sentence says that the indemnification principle, which my friend Mr. Nettleton specified, was referred to as outdated in the case of Fellowes and McNeil.  And similarly, paragraph 24 says:

"Similarly, in Skidmore and Blackmore, the British Columbia Court of Appeal said the view that costs are awarded solely to indemnify the successful litigant for legal fees and disbursements incurred is now outdated.”


Paragraph 25, the Court says:


"As the Fellows and Skidmore cases illustrate, modern costs rule to accomplish various purposes in addition to the traditional objective of indemnification.”


So part of the whole point of the subsequent discussion of the Supreme Court is to say that we've moved beyond Hamilton-Wentworth.


In summary on that, I would -- just to refer you to page 17 of 26 in a heading called “Interim Cost in Public Interest Litigation.”


Paragraph 38, nine lines down, in the line beginning "Public law cases,” the Court says:

"Public law cases as a class can be distinguished from ordinary civil disputes.  They may be viewed as a subcategory where the special circumstances that must be present to justify an award of interim costs are related to the public importance of the questions at issue in the case.

“It is for the trial court to determine in each instance where a particular case which might be classified as special by its very nature as a public interest case is special enough to rise to the level where the unusual measure of awarding costs would be appropriate.”


In my submission, that's where we are.

And on the next page, on page 18, Mr. Nettleton specifically referred to that and suggested that's the essence of the case, and that I've tried to avoid that.  I suggest the opposite.  I think that Pollution Probe, in fact, fits within those criteria.  Pollution Probe in number 1 cannot afford to pay for the expert.  With respect to number 2, I’ve tried to suggest that the case is -- our case is prima facie meritorious.  And with respect to number 3, I’ve tried to suggest that these are public interest issues.  So I don't want to suggest that those are not good guidelines for this case, bearing in mind that the set statute is clear that you are not bound by this, that you have your own discretion to modify or adapt similar principles.


My friend Mr. Rattray talked about the IESO and its materials, referring to this line "being needed as soon as possible."  Again, I say the evidence that the transmission line doesn't actually include -- that the transmission line doesn't actually increase transmission capacity, is an important question that should be dealt with on its merits, with proper expert evidence.  And Mr. Rattray himself didn't address the question that I put to you repeatedly; so, with respect, somebody should.


And Mr. Moran suggested that there is a problem with prospective wind power, and again Mr. Moran hasn't said how that squares with the evidence of the applicant that this transmission line doesn't increase transmission capacity.  So exactly how is this line a solution to the problem of capacity squeeze?


In summary, in my submission, this is the kind of case of prima facie meritorious issues which should be addressed in the hearing, and that's why we've asked for an expert, assistance, a Technical Conference, and some extension of the timelines.  


And I thank you very much, Madam Chair and members of the panel, for your hearing and listening to me.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Klippenstein.  Mr. Cowan, you wanted to make a comment? 


MR. COWAN:  If I might.  Am I audible?


MS. NOWINA:  You are. 


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. COWAN:

MR. COWAN:  Thank you.  In respect of Mr. Rupert's question re section 96(2), suggesting that the Board may only consider the lowest cost, which is -- I presume -- true, such a consideration is only possible in the context of reasonable options.  You cannot consider the lowest cost of one thing.  There is only one thing.  It will always be the lowest cost.


So you must have options if section 96(2) is to be of any consequence in your consideration.  With respect to the costs re question by Pollution Probe, it does seem to me that without jeopardizing the rates or ratepayers, you might advance one-half or two-thirds of some reasonable estimate of final costs, and that they are likely to fall within the amount that you would advance anyhow and remain free to ask for a claw-back on costs if you didn't think it was worth half of what you were expected to pay.  I think you're free to do that, as well.


And on that basis, you could likely advance some funds to Pollution Probe in the expectation that you would either tax it back or advance the other half when it was proven to be worth what you had expected it to be.


Thank you, again.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Cowan.  You get the last word.


That is the closing of this proceeding.  We will get decisions to you as quickly as we can.  


Thank you, everyone.  It's been a long day.  


Thank you to the court reporter.


--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 5:41 p.m.



















PAGE  

